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GRI 102-14 During the first semester, our labor 
engagement study revealed, we obtained the highest 
score of our industry. This result was confirmed 
throughout the year demonstrating that we possess the 
best team of professionals that always seeks to provide 
the best service for our customers, who are the center 
of everything what we do, to reach their full satisfaction.

2017 allowed us, thanks to a cautious management 
and a great capacity or our team to respond, to face the 
longest illegal cessation of activities of a minority labor 
union of pilots in the history of world aviation, and at the 
same time, achieve positive financial results, meeting 
the expectations of our shareholders.

We introduced our Avianca Citizen strategy that frames 
our conduct towards our stakeholders, through the 
pillars Avianca Humana, Avianca Ambiental and Avianca 
Solidaria (Human Avianca, Environmental Avianca and 
Solidary Avianca). We have celebrated our first year of 
adherence with the United Nations Global Compact, 
with a determined strategic and tactical approach 
towards the construction of “better citizens in our Latin 
America”. We have engaged into an agreement with 
the United Nations Children’s Fund UNICEF, resulting 
us to be the first Latin American airline allied with this 
organization. This allow us, along with our customers, 

This year, by reviewing our results as of 2017, we would like to say to 
all of you: Thank you! Despite the turbulence we have experienced, 
we faced our challenges as one united team.

to contribute in collecting social investments for the 
education of our children and teenagers in the Latin 
American region. We also compensate more than one 
million tons of carbon emissions through bonds that 
support projects with high environmental and social 
impact in Colombia and Latin America. Together with 
our customers, suppliers, employees and their families, 
we planted 32.200 trees in Colombia as part of the 
Siembratón (“Plant a tree”) journey that we carried out 
together with the Fundación Mas Verde Mas Vida (More 
Green More Life Foundation).

In our first year of participation, we were included in 
the Dow Jones Sustainability Index MILA (Integrated 
Latin American Market) 2017, as an acknowledgement 
of the sustainability management of Avianca and the 
generation of financial, social, and environmental value 
of our Holding.

2017 also allowed us to be the airline that transported 
Pope Francis during his visit to Colombia, which 
was truly perceived as the journey of hope. We have 
incorporated six new aircraft, with the best technology 
and eco-efficiency, two Airbus 320 NEO (New Engine 
Option), two Airbus 321 NEO and 2 Boeing 787-8 that 
were included to our fleet, accounting for a total of 183 
aircraft.

Hernán Rincón 
CEO of Avianca

Letter from the Chief 
Executive Officer               

We have received multiple awards, among other we 
have been acknowledged by Skytrax and TripAdvisor as 
the best airline in South America and we received the 
Effie award for the effectiveness of our communications.

Our suppliers, Airbus and Boeing, granted Avianca the 
award for the best operating performance of the A320 
aircraft in the Americas and as the third operator with 
the highest technical reliability for the 787 fleet. In 
addition, our renewed digital application was awarded 
by Smarties.

In 2017, we also coped with a 51 days of the illegal 
cessation of activities initiated by a minority labor union 
of pilots. This resulted in 20.899 flight cancellations 
that affected 1.087.559 passengers, the suspension of 
our social programs Banco de Millas, Niños por América 
and Avianca Solidaria, hindering us from transporting 
children who require medical attention and staff who 
annually support these programs. This significantly 
affected our crews that could not fly, the hotel and 
service sector, our suppliers, businesses and citizens. 
After the cessation and accepting the decisions of 
the Colombian Justice system, at the end of 2017 we 
managed to stabilize more than 95% of our operations.

In 2017, Avianca was also chosen in the La Carrera 
de los Sueños survey as the fifth Colombian youth’s 
dreams company and respectively the first place in El 
Salvador. We implemented our teleworking program for 
our administrative staff, and incorporated, through our 
Work2gether project, the Office 365 tool throughout 
the organization, maximizing productivity, working in 
teams and the ability to work remotely.

This report reflects our first communication regarding 
the progress of the adoption of the United Nations 
Global Compact principles, followed by the guidelines 
of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards, which 
complies with the requirements of the New York and 
Bogotá stock exchanges, and included in our Corporate 
Governance report.

At Avianca we are convinced that “Together we fly 
better”, and in that sense we will continue our digital 
transformation and our human effective leadership 
route towards our Flight 2020. With the best people and 
the best technology for an exceptional experience, we 
will be the preferred Latin American airline in the world.

ANNUAL REPORT
2017
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About our Annual Report
Labor Rights, Environment and 
Anticorruption2. 

GRI 102-45 We will disclose 
information about Avianca 
Holdings S.A. (hereinafter the 
Holding, the Company or Avianca) 
and the companies that integrate3 
it particularly in the description 
of practices and programs that 
encompass the controlling and 
investing Company as well as 
the operating companies of the 
Holdings’ business lines. The financial 
information included in this report is 
presented following the guidelines of 
the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), and includes the 
consolidated and separate financial 
statements, which have been 
audited by the External Auditor 
Ernst & Young. Non-financial data 
and general information proceeds 
from the primary and secondary 
sources of information that lie in the 
documentary records of the areas 
and processes of the Company, where 
some of them are supervised under 
our management systems, which 
are subject to periodic internal and 
external audits during the year. 

GRI 102-48; 102-49 In case of a 
modification in the formula or basis 
of calculation of a certain indicator 
against data reported in previous 
reports, particularities in the coverage 
or in the scope, we have included the 
corresponding explanation in each 
section. When presenting actions 
carried out by one (1) or several 
companies that make up the Holding, 
the Company that developed such 
action shall be specifically mentioned.

1 (GRI 102-51) The latest annual report following the essential GRI G4 guidelines was for 2016.
2 The Communication on Progress will be represented throughout the report with the symbol COP.
3 (GRI 102-45) To see companies that integrate Avianca Holdings, go to the report of financial statements attached.

GRI 102-46; 102-52; 102-50 The 
Board of Directors, the President and 
his administration, present our Annual 
Avianca Holdings S.A. Report. It is the 
fifth report following the guidelines 
of “The Global Reporting Initiative” 
(GRI) to announce our economic, 
social, environmental and corporate 
governance performance, during the 
period from January 1 to December 
31, 20171. Through this report, you 
will be able to know the challenges 
we faced during the year 2017, how 
we have prepared for 2018 and how 
we are managing risks, impacts, and 
opportunities in the triple bottom line 
perspective, according to the result 
of identification and prioritization 
exercises of relevant issues that we 
carried out during this year.

Our business vision is oriented 
to generate value in society 
and we are committed with the 
sustainable management operation 
of the companies integrated under 
Avianca Holdings S.A. With the 
purpose of communicating this in 
a comprehensive manner, in this 
document we have consolidated 
the Management and Sustainability 
Report and, the Annual Corporate 
Governance Report, complying 
with the standards, regulations, and 
applicable initiatives in corporate 
reporting and responding to the 
information expectations of our 
stakeholders. According to the 
commitments acquired by Avianca 
with the United Nations Global 
Compact in March 2017, in this report 
we present our Communication 
on Progress (COP) regarding the 
principles relative to Human Rights, 
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GRI 102-1; 102-2 We are a Holding that integrates service 
companies and airlines. We operate an extensive network 
of routes from our operations centers in Colombia, Peru, 
and El Salvador (plus the focal markets of Costa Rica and 
Ecuador). We offer passenger and cargo services through 
797 direct flights per day (on average) to more than 106 
destinations in 26 countries around the world. Our shared-code 
partnerships, along with our Star Alliance membership, provide 
our customers with access to a global network of more than 
1.300 destinations. 
In our portfolio, we provide other products and services that 
complement our passenger and cargo businesses and diversify 
our sources of income, including activities related to: tourism, 
engineering, maintenance and specialized maintenance 
services.
The customer shapes the beginning, center and end of our 
strategy. We have lead Avianca’s service to a higher level, 
seeking profitable and sustainable growth opportunities in the 
Latin American aviation market, expanding our network and 
diversifying our portfolio.
Every step we gave in 2017 was defined by the route of change 
and transformation and leads us to this goal:

About Avianca Holdings S.A.

Our Flight 2020:
We have started a new stage in our projection as the preferred Latin American airline by travelers of the world. Our 
commitment to always giving more constitutes the basis to reach each one of the objectives that we have projected in 
our Strategic North 2020.
Our customer, the center of everything we do: 

Mission

We connect the world to Latin America, 
always striving to do more.

Vision 2020

With the best people and the best technology for an 
exceptional experience, we will be the preferred Latin 
American airline in the world.

GRI 102-54 

We have developed this Report in accordance with the GRI standards (Global 
Reporting Initiative), under the essential compliance option1.

External assessment from PricewaterhouseCoopers AG.-PwC.

GRI 102-56  

Independent external verification: Deloitte & Touche, following the international 
standard ISAE3000, in line with our commitment to ensure traceability and 
reliability of information. See Independent Revision Report.

GRI 102-53

For additional information, concerns or suggestions, contact the Corporate 
Citizenship Directorate, through the e-mail ciudadania.corporativa@avianca.com

• We are a team of more than 19.000 
employees in 27 countries,  

who with their commitment, attitude, 
experience and capacities, give life to our 
Company. 

• More than 29,4 million passengers in 
2017 enjoyed the warmth and kindness 
that characterizes the integrated 
passenger airlines under Avianca 
Holdings S.A.

• Our LifeMiles loyalty program has close 
to  8 million members, which enjoy 
multiple options to win and redeem their 
miles in our wide network of commercial 
allies around the world.

1 We will reference the indicators in red color throughout the Report.

Customer

Strategic objectives 2020

Exceptional, 
consistent and 
personalized 
experience.

Diversification of value 
sources: profitability and 

sustainability.

Alliances 
with strategic 

partners.

Consolidation of HUBs 
and route network.

Operational excellence: 
security, punctuality and 

efficiency.

     
World class talent

      Best technology available
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The best people  

The delivery of an 
exceptional travel 
experience is the natural 
consequence of a human 
talent who lives the 
culture of service and 
change transmitting it to 
customers; that is why 
we attract, develop and 
engage the best people in 
the region and the world.

Technology

It is the backbone 
of our business. Its 
incorporation leads us 
to carry out processes 
in an efficient way, 
being more productive 
and generating a closer 
and personalized 
relationship with 
customers.

Exceptional 
experience

It is our differentiator 
in the industry. 
We want to be an 
airline recognized 
for a warm, safe and 
personalized service. 
These goals will be 
achieved thanks to 
the best people and 
the best available 
technology.

Preferred Latin 
American Airline 
in the world

We are a 
customer-centric 
service Company 
that seeks to be a 
global benchmark 
for efficiency of 
its processes and 
always be the 
first choice for 
customers.

Our Strategic North is aimed at connecting the world with Latin America always striving to do more. This is how we have 
started a new stage of transformation, focusing on the Human Being, our customer, as the center of everything we do, 
to become the Latin American airline preferred by travelers in the world.
We will achieve our business vision by 2020 through: 

1 2 3 54PEOPLE

Attract, develop, 
and engage world-
class talent.

TECHNOLOGY

Improve the 
customer 
experience and 
the productivity 
of our people, with 
the best available 
technology.

INTERNAL 
PROCESSES

Elevate 
operational 
excellence 
with safety, 
punctuality and 
efficiency.

FINANCIAL

Promote the 
diversification 
of value sources 
ensuring a 
profitable and 
sustainable 
business in the 
long term.

CUSTOMERS AND 
MARKETS

•Provide a consistent, 
personalized and 
exceptional experience.

•Strengthen HUBs and 
optimize route network.

•Develop long-term 
alliances with our strategic 
partners.

Values

Our strategic objectives

GRI 102-16 Our strategic objectives focus on 5 fronts:

Security is our 
Priority
• We protect customers 

and value their trust in 
us.

• We take care of 
ourselves and fulfill the 
processes for a safe job.

We work as one and 
we enjoy what we do
• We move forward 

together and in harmony 
to achieve results.

• It makes us happy to build 
together, complement 
each other and recognize 
each other.

We serve with 
passion and integrity
• We like to serve with 

integrity, kindness, 
empathy, practicality 
and proactivity.

• We choose to be here 
because it is the purpose 
that moves our life.

We innovate with 
sustainable impact
• With our conscious ideas 

and actions, we generate 
value for stakeholders.

• We experiment and 
implement initiatives to 
make things better.



12 13Annual Report 2017 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

Passenger transportation 
GRI 102-2; 102-6 Our business lines

We provide national and international passenger transportation, in the national markets of Colombia, Ecuador, Costa 
Rica, Nicaragua and Peru, and the international routes of North, Central and South America, Europe and the Caribbean. 
We serve 106 destinations in 26 countries, mobilizing more than 29 million passengers during 2017. In addition, we are 
members of the Star Alliance since 2012, which provides customers with access to the Star Alliance Network’s routes, 
destinations and services. Between January and December 2017, the airlines attached to the Holding carried a total of 
29.459.435 passengers. Capacity, measured in ASKs (available seat kilometers)  increased by 2,7%, and passenger traffic 
measured in RPKs (revenue passenger kilometers) increased by 5,3%.

Cargo Transportation 
GRI 102-2; 102-6 Our business lines

We are committed to providing efficient and innovative 
solutions according to our customer’s needs, we work to 
send and receive documents, packages and merchandise 
with the best delivery times of the market.

Cargo air transportation constitutes another of Avianca 
Holdings’ important investment lines. On this front, we 
mobilize packages and merchandise, on cargo aircraft 
and/or using the capacity available in passenger aircraft 
bellies.

Passenger traffic measured 
in RPKs (revenue passenger 

kilometers) increased 

5,3% 

Capacity measured in ASKs 
(available seat kilometers) 

increased by 

2,7 %

Total number of passengers

29.459.435
Load factor

83,1%

We integrate several airline companies with domestic and international operations:

• Avianca Ecuador S.A.
• Aerovías del Continente Americano S.A. Avianca 
• Aviateca S.A.
• Avianca Costa Rica S.A.
• Taca International Airlines S.A.
• Trans American Airlines S.A.
• Isleña de Inversiones S.A. of C.V.
• Aerotaxis La Costeña S.A.
• Servicios Aéreos Nacionales S.A. SANSA

In 2017 the airlines that make up the Hol-
ding transported a total of 565.628 tons 
of cargo. The capacity, measured in ATKs 
(Available ton kilometers) increased by 6%, 
and the volumes of cargo transported by 
the airlines’ measured in RTK (revenue ton 
kilometers) grew by 10%.

Total number of tons  

565.628 

Load factor  

57%

Cargo volume 
measured in RTKs1 

grew by  

10%

Capacity measured in 
ATKs (Available ton 
kilometers) grew by  

6%

* Ecuador doesn’t include information about domestic flights
1 Revenue ton kilometers

Avianca Tours
It is a business unit within Aerovías del Continente 
Americano S.A. Avianca, through which we provide 
organization and marketing services for travel packages 
and tourism services that aren’t air transportation. We wish 
that our customers in Colombia could plan their vacations 
in South America, North America, Central America, 
the Caribbean and Europe. They could build packages 
within our entire network of routes and find an array 
of tourism services such as accommodation, car rental, 
tours, excursions, activities, tickets to parks and events in 
additional destinations to those of our air operation.
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Our strategic business units 
Group of companies and/or business units integrated to Avianca Holdings that offer services and products different 
from passengers, including ground assistance services, maintenance, cargo and courier transport, Contact Center, loyalty, 
among others. To create added value for our shareholders we work to promote diversification through the generation 
of new sources of income, profitable and sustainable growth of the existing companies, guaranteeing, the fidelity of our 
customers and employees and the delivery of world-class products and services.

Avianca Cargo
Under the Avianca Cargo Brand, the cargo transportation airline Tampa Cargo S.A.S. 
provides support in the areas of logistics and cargo transportation on air. It has a 
fleet of cargo aircraft and bellies suitable for carrying different types of merchandise 
according to the needs of our customers, always keeping them in optimal conditions. 
It offers the possibility to carry loads to more than 100 destinations thanks to our 
extensive network of routes and the agreements that we have with different airlines 
around the world. 

Highlights 2017:
• During 2017 the stations of Barranquilla, Sao Paulo and Buenos Aires were 

certified for the management of CoolCare (elements with special treatment of 
temperature) and PharmaCare (medicines).

• Avianca Cargo entered a new business line to constitute Tampa Cargo S.A.S. as 
GSA (General Sales Agent) and GHA (Ground Handling Agent) of the airline EL 
AL in Miami.

Awards: 

Deprisa
Through the business unit Deprisa, we provide logistics solutions for storage, 
reception, transportation and delivery of documents, packages and merchandise 
at national and international levels.

Relevant figures
• +2 million shipping in retail sector.
• + 4.000 national and international corporate customers.
• 15% capacity increase in the Bogotá HUB. 
• + 300 sales points in Colombia.
• 1.200 domestic destinations.
• 219 international destinations through alliance with UPS.
• 300 trucks and 360 motorcycles hired in Colombia.

Highlights 2017: 
• The company dabbled in a 3PL model, which means they became a supplier 

of solutions within the logistic chain (picking, packing, storage, dispatch, 
transportation and distribution) with the project of administration and 
delivery of the endowments of the airline to employees of the stations where 
it operates. The centralized operation in Colombia focuses on the collection, 
storage and administration of inventories.

• Digital transformation process, allowing monitoring of the operation (times, 
parts) with real-time information with a high level of reliability,  competitive 
rate scanner and prediction models.

Most representative sectors in our sales

Logistics FinancialHealth and 
pharmaceutical

Relevant figures
• ATK 2.311 million 
• RTK 1.381 million 
• Load factor 59,7%

Cargo

Asociación Salvadoreña de 
Agencias de Carga,  ASAC - 

Best Exportation Airline 
Salvador

Miami Dade Aviation 
Department (MDAD) - 

Cargo Airline of the Year 
Miami for the second 

consecutive year.
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LifeMiles
The Loyalty Program is operated by LifeMiles Ltd, including the frequent flyer 
program, for the airlines. It is designed to promote and increase loyalty by offering 
incentives to passengers travelling on participating airlines to continue their 
preference. Under the LifeMiles program, customers earn miles by traveling with our 
air partners, including Star Alliance and using the services of our non-air partners 
such as credit cards, hotels, car rental and others. The earned miles can be exchanged 
for flights or services and partners’ products. Customers can redeem their rewards 
through Star Alliance airline members, which provide access to the alliance’s 
routes, destinations and services. LifeMiles has partners in different parts of the 
world, considering our main markets: Colombia, El Salvador, Costa Rica, Guatemala, 
Honduras, Nicaragua, Peru and Ecuador.

Relevant figures LM

• Freddie Awards:  
Up and Coming Program 
of the year.

OneLink Getcom
The Contact Center and Business Process Outsourcing services are operated by the 
Getcom International Investment S.L.’s subsidiaries, which provides innovative and tailor-
made solutions for each customer. It operates in El Salvador and Colombia, and has a 
multidisciplinary team that is committed to the design of specialized services that add 
value to customer interactions. 

Relevant figures 
• +1.900 agents in Colombia and El Salvador.
• +10 million answered calls.
• 3,5% rotation.

Highlights 2017
Implementation of:

• Automatic process that consults and confirms quotas for oversold and/or closed 
flights in ARD (4K managed Over Booking segments).

• Automatic process of notification of flights, cancellations, rearrangements and 
delays (8.000 daily emails sent).

• Increase in service capacity by 314% in Colombia (planned vs actual) to face the 
contingency of hurricane Irma/José and ACDAC’s illegal cessation of activities.

• Commencement of operations for Avianca Brazil, through the reservation and sales 
services for international lines and the English and Spanish line.

• Attendance of Diamond segment’s most influential customer portfolio in a 
personalized way.

• Accounting support service and payroll management for the new SAI business unit.

Acknowledgements:

1 It refers to the coalition of LifeMiles allies who are commercial entities where you can accumulate and redeem miles by submitting the LifeMiles partner card. See more details https://www.aliadoslifemiles.com/
2 Co-branded cards refers to credit cards issued by banks allied to LifeMiles that accumulate miles for each transaction. See more details: https://www.lifemiles.com/esp/cob/cobgeneral.aspx

Acknowledgments 

LifeMiles Coalition1: 

New outlets were opened in Colombia, El Salvador and Peru 
and the coalition was launched in Guatemala and Costa Rica. 

1 Alliance with Terpel: Alliance launched with 
Colombia’s largest fuel distribution company, allowing 
members to accumulate and eventually redeem miles 
in Terpel’s service stations and Altoque stores.

2 Cardless transactions: The possibility of accumulating/
redeeming miles in the coalition without showing the 
membership card was launched in Colombia. 

3 New Coalitions: soft-launched coalition programs in 
Costa Rica and Guatemala, starting with over 65 points 
of sale across various categories. 

Sale of qualifying miles for Avianca flights (Qualimiles): 

With the launch of this new product our partners are able to 
choose if they want to accumulate miles to elite status in their 
redemption process.

Placement of co-branded cards2 (card that represents an 
alliance between two or more companies):

1 Website and App: The section about co-branded cards 
was redesigned, allowing our partners to apply directly 
from our website and application.

2 AV Channels: Allocating cards on board Avianca flights 
and VIP rooms.

Highlights 2017 

1 Amadeus Software employing consultants for their daily tasks. This contains information regarding flights, reservations, seats, schedules, dates, etc.

• The 2017 Global Outsourcing 100: Qualification of “Rising star” in Size & Growth and 
Customer References.

• Qualified in the Great Place to Work ranking for CAM and the Caribbean.
• LATAM AWARD: GOLD in “Best Administration of Human Resource” and BRONZE in 

“Best Contact Center”.
• National Award for Industry Excellence in Customer Interactions: GOLD in “Best 

Contact Center and Call Center Operation” and SILVER in “Best Customer Service 
Strategy”.

• Freddie Awards:  
Best Promotion in the 
Americas.

•  Global Traveler Award: 
Best Frequent- Flyer Award 
Redemption.

• Members affiliated to the program: 7.8 million
• Commercial partners: 335
• Active co-branded credit cards: 657.000
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Relevant figures
• 103 Graduates (fifth and sixth promotion) of the Flight Attendants and airport 

program.
• 24 persons graduated from the first promotion of the aircraft line Technicians 

program.
• 2.454 hours of flight simulators of the ATR and A320 fleets were marketed, and 

376 hours of FTD (Flight Training Devices)1.
• 26.000 executed maintenances.

Relevant figures 

1 Currently, SAI caters for more than 23 customers, offering ramp and passenger 
care services. In November and December 2017 they attended 17.107 flights.

2 SAI is present in the airports of Bogotá, Medellín and Cartagena.

3 Its main customers are: Avianca, Avior, Spirit, JetBlue, Interjet, Aeroméxico, Satena 
and Delta, among others.

Avianca Services
Business unit specialized in the delivery and marketing of airport services, engineering 
& maintenance and training. It has been in the market for more than 15 years and its 
main operation is in Colombia. It is in the process of expansion towards South, Central 
and North America. Their business lines are maintenance and training.

Highlights 2017
• Continued service of major maintenance of the Colombian Air Force aircraft: 

Presidency II and Avianca Holdings’ aircraft.
• In the academy segment, simulator hour sales increased due to the incorporation 

of the customers Bahamas Air, Interjet, Passaredo, Viva Colombia, SKY Airlines 
and Easy Fly.

• Formal filing with the Secretary of Education, to obtain the operating license and 
qualified registration of Academy Programs.

Servicios Aeroportuarios 
Integrados (SAI)
At the end of 2017, the Holding acquired the majority shareholding of this 
company, through which we provide assistance services in land and airports for 
Avianca Holding’s airlines and third parties, defining the commercial strategy and 
improvement of the efficiency in airport services.

Éxito, viajes y Turismo (Éxito, trips and 
tourism)
Viajes Éxito began its operations in 2007 in sales points operated by Avianca, becoming 
Colombia’s leading package deal travel agency. Through the company Éxito Viajes y 
Turismo S.A.S., where Avianca Holdings S.A. indirectly has a minor share participation, 
customers are offered different alternatives for their business or personal trips. 

Currently there’s a network of 41 sales points in Colombia: Bogotá, Cali, Medellín and 
its metropolitan area, Manizales, Pereira, Cali, Pasto, Popayán, Bucaramanga, Cúcuta, 
Barranquilla, Cartagena, Ibagué, Neiva and Villavicencio.

Relevant figures
• +140.000 yearly customers / 

+20.500 new customers in 2017.
• +300.000 air segments.
• +95.000 National hotel nights / 

+32.000 International hotel nights. 

1 Static simulator

Highlights 2017 
• Opening of the corporate segment’s 

operation, attending Grupo Éxito 
and its subsidiaries’ accounts.

• 35% growth of the online channel 
between 2016 and 2017.
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GRI 102-4; 102-6; 102-7; In 2017, the growth of our route network continued, improving the competitive position of the 
airlines’ strategic markets, ending the year with 106 destinations in 26 countries in Latin America and Europe. We have 2 
new destinations in North America: Boston and Newark, we also increased our weekly frequencies in more than 9 routes 
that will allow the improvement of our service pattern from the 3 connection centers from Bogotá, San Salvador and 
Lima.

Bogotá, Colombia

From the Connections Center 
of the Colombian capital we 
carried out, on average, 3.061 
flights per week to  23 cities 
in Colombia and 23 countries, 
operating directly to 7 cities 
in North America, 11 in South 
America, 12 in Mexico, Central 
America and the Caribbean 
and 3 destinations in Europe: 
Madrid, Barcelona and London.

San Salvador, El Salvador

From the Connections Center in 
San Salvador more than 628 
flights were operated weekly 
in 13 countries, offering direct 
operation in 10 cities in North 
America, 11 in Mexico, Central 
America and the Caribbean and 
6 in South America.

Lima, Peru

Through the operations center 
located in the capital of Peru, 
an average of 480 flights 
per week were attended to 6 
destinations within the Inca 
country and 14 countries, 
reaching 14 destinations in 
South America, 6 in Mexico, 
Central America and the 
Caribbean and 1 in North 
America.

Destinations, network routes and alliances

Passengers transported by country of origin

Number of flights per country of origin

Cargo by country of origin (ton)

Dutch Antilles
Virgin Islands

253.248

30.433

During 2017 we had new 
services implemented through 
passenger airlines.

Bogotá BOGOTA / MONTEVIDEO 7F 
 BOSTON / BOGOTA 4F

San Salvador NEWWARK / SAN SALVADOR 5F

Weekly frequency increase

Bogotá BOGOTA / LOS ANGELES increased 3F / 7F 
 BOGOTA / SAN JOSE increased 7F / 21F 
 BOGOTA / ARUBA increased 4F / 11F 
 BOGOTA / CUZCO increased 4F / 7F 
 BOGOTA / SÃO PAULO increased 7F / 21F

San Salvador SAN SALVADOR / SAN FRANCISCO 
 increased 2F / 12F

Lima LIMA / CANCUN increased 4F / 7F 
 LIMA / PUNTA CANA increased 1F / 6F 
 LIMA / LA HAVANA increased 1F / 6F

New direct routes and weekly frequencies

29% of Colombia’s cargo corresponds to domestic flights. 9% of Peru’s cargo corresponds to domestic flights. Information about domestic flights is 
not included in Ecuador.

11.722

1.086

8.600

5.421
5.563

13.979

Spain

England

Brazil

United States of America

Latin America

Caribean

Central America

Dominican 
Republic
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Connecting dreams through alliances

In Avianca we want our customers anywhere 
in the world to feel a unique and different 
connection with us; an easy, practical and, 
above all, emotional experience that always 
leads them to choose us to connect them from 
one place to another, to connect their dreams 
and close business deals. For this reason, during 
2017 we continued to strengthen our network 
of destinations through the establishment of 
direct flights regarding the HUBs where we 
are operating.

Thanks to our alliances with Star Alliance with 
“Shared Codes” and interline and intermodal 
agreements, we have been able to offer our 
travelers the opportunity to connect with their 
dreams in the five continents.

Benefits for our customers
• Easy access to a global network of 28 airlines.
• Class promotions at any alliance member airline 

through Miles under the Star Alliance Upgrade 
Awards – SAUA.

• Simplicity in the travel experience, as they have 
the possibility to check the luggage to their 
destination and use a single ticket for the entire 
journey.

• Acknowledgement along the Star Alliance route 
network. If the customer is a member of the 
LifeMiles program or any frequent flyer program 
of a Star Alliance airline, it can accumulate and 
redeem miles by flying with the airlines of this 
alliance.

• Access to exclusive alliance products such as: 
Round the World, through which our customers 
can tour the world using the Star Alliance Airlines, 
with special rates and adding up to 15 stops at 
the network destinations, and Corporate Plus, 
to benefit the companies that fly with the airline 
member of the alliance.

• For frequent travelers of the elite Gold and 
Diamond levels: priority in the boarding and 
delivery of their baggage, entrance to the 
exclusive VIP rooms owned by Star Alliance 
and the VIP rooms of the different allies at the 
airports of the world.

Benefits for our people
• Be part of an airline with projection and 

global presence.
• Shared learning of best practices.
• World class service orientation and 

attitude.

Shared Codes 
In 2017, through our subsidiary airlines, we continued to 
offer services operated under shared codes with 14 airlines, 
thus ensuring that our passengers have the possibility to 
connect with other Latin American countries by means of 
Copa Airlines and Avianca Brazil; to North America with 
United Airlines, Air Canada and Silver Airways; to Mexico, 
with Aeroméxico; to Europe, through Spain and London 
connect through Iberia, Lufthansa and Turkish Airlines 
and the Asian continent with All Nippon Airways, Eva Air, 
Singapore Airlines, Air China and Etihad Airways. 

Thanks to these shared code agreements, we can offer 
more than 140 destinations and 185 additional routes that 
complement the network operated directly by Avianca.

 

We maintain more than 80 interline 
agreements with airlines from the 
five continents and three intermodal 
agreements with the Renfe train 
company in Spain, the Great Western 
Railway and the intercity bus 
companies National Express in Great 
Britain.

Additionally, the agreements for the 
exchange of benefits with the frequent 
flyer programs in Iberia Plus and Club 
Premier of Aeroméxico.

Informe Anual 2017 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

Star Alliance  
Since 2012 we are part of the most 
important alliance in the world 
in terms of number of associated 
airline companies, daily flights, 
routes, destinations, products and 
services, which has strengthened 
our services and has allowed the 
possibility for our customers to 
enjoy more benefits. 

28 1.300 18.400 4.600
Star Alliance in figures

member airlines destinations in 191 
countries

flights aircraft

Daily operation of Fleet of more than 
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The Holding Structure: Ethical and Integer Avianca  
GRI 102-16;102-17 

Ethical Business 
Conduct

The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct 
guides the actions of the Organization 

and its collaborators in their relationship 
with clients.

The Anti-Corruption Policy educates our 
collaborators, clients and suppliers on 
the ethics, legal and corporate norms.

The Policy to Prevent Money 
Laundering and Terrorist Financing 

avoids poor practices in our processes.

Zero tolerance for 
corruption

Anti-Money laundering 
and Anti-Terrorism

The information related to the ethics and compliance program is in the following link: 
https://www.avianca.com/co/en/our-company/corporate-information/ethics-and-compliance

Besides, we encourage an open environment where honest and direct communications are the expectation, 
not the exception. Therefore, we have an outsourced line of ethics that operates twenty-four hours a day, seven 
days a week, so that employees and third parties can report unethical conduct and seek advice from the Ethics 

Committee. See link: http://aviancaholdings.ethicspoint.com

1 2 3 4
Security is 
our priority

We serve with Passion 
and Integrity

We work as One and we 
enjoy what we do

We innovate with 
sustainable impact

What guides our day to day, our principles and values

COP. In Avianca Holdings S.A. we are governed 
by values of responsibility and integrity, carrying 
out business with the highest ethical standards. 

We have an ethics and compliance program, 
which seeks to promote a culture of respect and 
compliance with ethical, legal and corporate 
norms. To achieve this objective, the program 
prescribes prevention, detection, monitoring 
and remediation actions, and develops through 
several internal policies such as:

Code of Ethics and 
Business Conduct.

Anti-corruption 
Policy.

Policy of Money 
Laundering and 

Terrorism Financing 
Risk System 

(SIPLAFT acronym in 
Spanish) 

Policy for Conflicts 
of Interest for 
Management of 
Avianca Holdings 
S.A. and Avianca 
S.A. and Company 
Directors.

Getcom International 
Investments S.L.

Spain

LifeMiles Ltd.
(Bermuda)

Grupo Taca
Holdings 
Limited 

(Bahamas)

70% 5,02%

Aerovías del Continente 
Americano S.A. Avianca

(Colombia)

Aircraft Ownership
Entities

Avianca Costa Rica S.A.
(Costa Rica)

Services
Companies

Taca International 
Airlines S.A.

(El Salvador)

Tampa Cargo S.A.S.
(Colombia)

Trans American 
Airlines S.A.

(Peru)

94,96%

Others
0,02%

71,66%
Others 

28,34%

Taca S.A.
(Panama)

Service 
Companies

Others 
3,17%

Others 
7,58%

Avianca 
Ecuador S.A.
(Ecuador)

Aircraft Ownership
Entities

AVIANCA
HOLDINGS S.A.
(Panama)

Getcom 
Colombia S.A.S.

Colombia

Getcom Servicios 
S.A.S

Colombia

Getcom 
International S.A. 

de C.V.
El Salvador

Getcom S.A.
de C.V.

El Salvador

Others 
50%

100%

100%

100%

Airline Company 

Investment Vehicle Company 

Service Company

100%

Servicios 
Aeroportuarios 

Integrales SAI S.A.S.
(Colombia)

90%99,62%100%100%

Others
30%

Latin Airways 
Corp 

(Panama)

100%

50%
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• In our first year of participation, we were included in the 
Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI), Integrated Latin 
American Market version (MILA) Pacific Alliance 2017. 
The DJSI highlights companies seeking to innovate 
and have consolidated practices in the generation of 
economic, social and environmental value, providing 
investors with an objective reference point for the 
management of a sustainability investment portfolio for 
the region.

• We engaged with the United Nations Global Compact, 
the world’s most important initiative in the field of 
Corporate Citizenship.

• We aligned our management with the commitments 
of the United Nations International Human Rights 
Agenda (UN), the Global Decent Work Agenda of the 
International Labor Organization (ILO), transparency 
and environmental protection.

• We committed to report the positive impacts that our 
management can generate in the achievement of the 
United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

We seek to generate the best alternatives of social and environmental investment in the Latin 
American region: 

• We maintain a permanent dialogue with UNICEF with whom we engaged in an agreement 
that will allow our customers to invest in education projects for children and teenagers in Latin 
America. 

• We are committed to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) in carbon neutrality strategies and 
sustainable and inclusive purchases. 

GRI 102- 12 Initiatives of an economic, environmental and social nature
We are committed to excellence as Corporate Citizens. For this reason, we are linked to the 
most important global initiatives that contribute to the generation of social, environmental 
and economic value in our region.

HIGHLIGHTS
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Guilds and Associations where we collaborate    
to generate impact 
GRI 102-13
At an international and regional level, we are a part of organizations and initiatives that share our same principles and 
values in the pursuit of our goals. Such as the following. Among them we can highlight:

Association of Companies 
International Air Transport  (AETAI) 

36.539

Contribution of Associations in 20171

Star Alliance International Air Transport 
Association (IATA) 

551.600
Air Transport Association in 

Colombia (ATAC) 

87.877
Latin American Association Of 

Air Transport (ALTA) 

64.000

1.157.971

1Figures in USD

MEXICO 
• Asociación Mexicana  de Internet (AMIPCI)
• Cámara Nacional de Aerotransporte (CANAERO)

GUATEMALA 
• “Asociación Guatemalteca de Líneas Aéreas de 

Guatemala (AGLA)
• Comité Visit USA Guatemala

EL SALVADOR 
• Asociación de Líneas Aéreas de El Salvador (ASLA)
• “Corporación Salvadoreña  de Turismo (CORSATUR)

HONDURAS 
• Cámara Nacional de Turismo de Honduras  

(CANATURH)
• Asociación Hondureña de Líneas Aéreas (AHLA)

NICARAGUA 
• Asociación de  Líneas Aéreas  (ALA)
• Cámara Nacional de Turismo de Nicaragua (CANATUR)

COSTA RICA
• Asociación de Líneas Aéreas (ALA)

PANAMA
• Asociación de  Líneas Aéreas en Panamá (ALAP)
• Cámara de Comercio  de Panamá

ARUBA 
• Cámara de Comercio
• Asociación de Turismo 

de Aruba

CUBA
• Camara de Comercio

CURACAO
• Curacao Tourism Board
• Curacao Cámara de 

Comercio e Industria

COLOMBIA 
• Asociación Nacional de Empresarios de Colombia  (ANDI) 
• Asociación del Transporte Aéreo Colombiano (ATAC)
• IATA-International  Air Transport Association
• STAR ALLIANCE
• Asociación de Líneas Aéreas  Internacionales en Colombia ALAICO
• Sustainable Aviation Fuel Users Group SAFUG

PERU 
• Asociación de Empresas de Transporte Aéreo Internacional AETAI

ECUADOR 
• ARLAE (Asociación de representantes de aerolíneas internacionales en 

el Ecuador)
• Cámara de Comercio Colombo Ecuatoriana CAMECOL)

BRAZIL
• IATA ( International Air Transport Association)
• JURCAIB (Junta dos Representantes das Companhias Aéreas 

Internacionais do Brasil)
• CSC - Country Steering Committee - Star Alliance

PARAGUAY
• VISIT USA

URUGUAY
• Camara Aeronautica

BOLIVIA
• Asociacion de Líneas Aéreas - Ala Bolivia
• Camara de Comercio Americana - Amcham

ARGENTINA
• Camara de Compañias Aereas en Argentina (JURCA)
• Helicentro
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Our processes:

Our Supply Chain
GRI 102-9; 102-10 

Supply planning

Logistics and foreign 
trade management

Manage relationship 
with the supplier

Our suppliers in the 
world:

Administer 
contract and 
manage the 

purchase

Evaluation and 
selection of 

suppliers

Supply strategy 
in search of cost 
optimization and 
innovative ideas

We centralize the integer 
management of suppliers 
hiring process through 
an interdisciplinary team, 
ensuring its efficient 
execution within the 
current legal framework 
of the countries where we 
operate.

We ensure that 100% 
of our suppliers are 
subject to pre-bond risk 
assessments, in order to 
ensure transparency in face 
of money-laundering and/
or financing of terrorism. 
In addition, they are 
exposed to financial 
evaluations measuring 
their responsiveness to the 
contracted service.

We attract suppliers with 
which we develop strategic 
and sustainable alliances 
that allow us to connect 
Latin America with the 
world.

Our acquisition of goods 
and services is executed 
through the model of 
purchases of specialized 
categories, providing a wide 
knowledge at the time of 
negotiation.

We ensure that business 
relationships with our 
suppliers are aligned with 
our Code of Ethics.

53%
SOUTH AMERICA

41%
NORTH AMERICA

5%
EUROPE

ASIA

AFRICA

OCEANIA Total Suppliers

10.200

Distribution of expense of our suppliers:

0,7%

0,2%

0,1%
Fuels

Airport services

IT

Aeronautical components

Customer experience

Other

 During 2017:
• We created the Administrative and Supply Vice 

Presidency centralizing Avianca Holdings’ acquisition 
of goods and services.

• The Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Tourism of 
Colombia (Mincomex) accepted the increase in the 
quota of the Vallejo Plan allowing Avianca Holdings 
to attend more than 5 aircraft at the same time in our 
MRO (Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul).

• We updated the purchasing and process optimization 
policy with expert areas.

• We advanced in the model of centralized and 
specialized negotiations by category (aeronautical 

components, transport, service on board, infrastructure, 
hotels, among others) for greater operational efficiency. 

• We generated relationships and alliances with world-
class strategic suppliers to provide an exceptional 
experience for our customers as well as leveraging our 
Company’s strategy. 

• We advanced in the model of Foreign Trade Service 
(COMEX) and management of suppliers making it was 
transversal for Avianca.

• We achieved a 24/7 service thanks to the presence of 
our coordinators of COMEX for Miami and international 
bases.
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20/09/17
Zero Hour
Activation of 

contingency plan.

27/09/17
Mediation by the 

Ministry of Labor is 
exhausted.

25/09/17
Demand for illegality 

of the cessation of 
activities.

28/09/17
Call for Court of 

Arbitration.

06/10/17
High Court declares illegality 
of the cessation of activities. 
ACDAC appeals the decision 

and requests a second 
instance.

18/10/17
Supreme Court of Justice 

returns decision of 
illegality due to technical  

errors. Reconstruction 
is reprogrammed for 
November 2, 2017.

13/11/17
Pilots reinstated. 

ACDAC signs 
minutes with the 

Ombudsman Office.
29/11/17

Confirmation of illegality of 
cessation by the Labor Hall 

of the Supreme Court of 
Justice.

06/12/17
ACDAC files on 

resources of 
clarification, addition 

and nullity.

11/12/17
Avianca is notified of 
the Arbitral Decision.

14/12/17
Avianca files extraordinary 

appeal for annulment against 
the decision.

Impact of the illegal 
cessation of activities 
and contingency plan
During the 20 days determined to be the direct 
arrangement stage, within Colombia’s collective 
negotiation process, Avianca S.A. presented more 
than 20 proposals to ACDAC that allowed the im-
provement of the pilots’ quality of life in Colombia. 
However, ACDAC did not agree to build together a 
proposal within a sustainable long-term project.

At the end of the 20 days of the direct negotiation 
stage, ACDAC decided unilaterally to initiate a 
cessation of activities. Despite ACDAC’s decision 
to initiate the cessation of activities, the Ministry of 
Labor interceded to continue the negotiations and 
Avianca S.A. attended the invitation of the Ministry 
of Labor, with the same will and commitment to 
reach an agreement with ACDAC. 

However, after 8 days of additional conversations 
in the Ministry of Labor, ACDAC did not accept 
the definitive offer presented by Avianca S.A. at 
the negotiating table with the Minister of Labor. 
Avianca S.A.’s proposal included increased salaries, 
extended maternity and paternity leave, increase 
in extra-legal vacation days, offer of technology 
and transportation plans, among others. 

Therefore, ACDAC maintained its decision and 
initiated the activities illegal cessation on Sep-
tember 20, 2017, which remained until November 
13, 2017.

In light of the interruption of the negotiations 
by both ACDAC and Avianca S.A., the Ministry of 
Labor formed a Mandatory Arbitration Board to 
settle the collective dispute between the parties 
by issuing an arbitral decision with the economic 
conditions that should govern the parties. On 
December 11, 2017 the Arbitration Board issued 
the decision that went into review by the Supreme 
Court of Justice as a result of the filing of an ex-
traordinary appeal for annulment by Avianca S.A.

Avianca initiated the judicial proceedings for the 
declaration of illegality. On October 6, 2017, the 
High Court of Bogotá, in first instance, declared 
the illegality of the activities cessation; Decision 
that was ratified by the Supreme Court of Justi-
ce-Labor Hall-on November 29, 2017.
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During the cessation of activities period, 20.899 
cancellations were presented affecting 1.087.559 
passengers directly, who had reservations on those 
flights. Although the cessation period took place 
from September 20 to November 13, cancellations 
continued to be presented.

• We made calls, along with the human talent team, 
to seek support from staff from the different 
bases where Avianca operates and special calls in 
Avianca Services. 

• Different areas provided support with staff 
knowledgeable in transfers, re-expeditions, 
technology and data (IT, compensations and 
revenue). 

• Because the operation needed specific handling of 
different tools, we conducted several training days.

• 24/7 coverage in the management of rearranging 
cancelled flights to optimize communication times 
and quality of information to customers.

• We carried out constant revisions of the 
occupations report after the handling of 
cancellations, to level oversold seats in the 
executive and economic cabin.

• We continued to ensure the differentiated 
management of elite passengers, special services, 
groups, connections and endorsements, achieving 
a special treatment of our customers, who shape 
the beginning and end of our service strategy.

• We made agreements with other airlines to 
provide timely solutions to our travelers.

Tools

• We implemented Compensation Management in bases, which allowed us to expedite and facilitate the 
delivery of compensations and services to the affected passengers. 

• We delivered reports directly to the civil aeronautics to let them know of the state of contingency.
• We implemented Disruption Transfer, which is a tool to re-expedite and automatically revalidate through 

Amadeus CM*, to minimize handling times improving the customer experience against an irregularity.
• We worked with the call center with affected Pax and launched AACC, a tool that sends automatic e-mail 

notification messages with its new itinerary to customers affected by an operational change.
• Implementation of Enhance, which is a tool to re-expedite and revalidate through Inventory.
• IRA tests, tool for automatic rearrangement against an operational change that affects connections to 

give the best possible rearranging alternative for the customer, optimizing execution times at an internal 
level. 

• AFS parameterization rules in the Company’s inventory system, to rearrange customers affected by 
cancellations automatically, considering service criteria to minimize the impact of rearranging our 
travelers.

On Time Performance (OTP), Schedule 
Completion and Zero Minute Output
On Time Performance (OTP) corresponds to the percentage 
of flights whose delay on arrival was less than 15 minutes. 
On the other hand, the Schedule Completion measures the 
percentage of flights operated against what is published in 
the itineraries. Compliance to zero-minute output measures 
the percentage of operated flights that depart before or 
that meet their roaming time of departure.

The annual result of OTP for Avianca Holdings in 2017 was 
74,47%, the Schedule Completion was 95,17% and 
Zero-minute output was 51,28%.

Short-haul flights (less than 3h) with 
more than 15 minutes late arrival

26,47%

We gave our extra mile to mitigate the impacts    
of the illegal cessation of activities

With the support of all of the Company’s 
areas, we generated methodologies and 

actions that managed to optimize the 
processes and mitigate the operational and 

service impact caused by the cessation.

#YONOPARO 

Completed flights 
(OTP)-long haul

78,34%
Long distance flights with more 

than 15 minutes late arrival

21,66%

Completed flights 
(OTP)-Short travel

73,53%

We were affected by:
• Illegal cessation of activities.
• Variations in the climate, particularly by the tail winds at El Dorado Airport in Bogotá. 
• Air Traffic Control and airport restrictions also affected mainly in Bogota and Jorge Chavez Airport in Lima 

(Peru).
• Political situation experienced by Honduras from November 30 to December 20 generated affectations 

especially to the completion of itineraries due to the cancellation of 102 flights.

Mitigation Plan

1Amadeus Customer Management, tool to transfer and manage the reservations of our passengers.

Own indicator 
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We manage our fleet with the best technology, 
efficiency and service
For 2020 we have the purpose of being a more 
competitive Company, at the level of the best standards 
of the industry and that manages to generate greater 
efficiencies. That is why we work to have the best talent, 
a fleet designed to provide more space and comfort and 
processes in which technology and innovation allow us 
to provide timely and quality service.

Our mission is to identify, negotiate, incorporate, 
administer and withdraw the fleet in the most efficient 
way for the airline’s operation. We continue with the 
process of renovation, simplification and modernization 
of our fleet of aircraft, to provide our customers with a 
better experience with technological innovation and the 
highest safety standards.
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Our purpose is to fulfill the requirements of the Fleet Plan, through the optimal planning and execution of the aircraft 
movements that generate reductions in operating costs of our Company, conforming to our purchase and lease contracts.

Our fleet management of passenger and 
cargo transport in 2017 

In 2017 we incorporated 6 new aircraft:

• Two (2) Airbus 321 NEO.
• Two (2) Airbus 320 NEO.
• Two (2) Boeing 787-8.

Goal 2018:
Fleet integration with Ocean Air. 
Incorporation of 10 aircraft:
• One (1) Boeing 787-8.
• Two (2) Airbus 330-300.
• Two (2) Airbus 321.
• Five (5) Airbus 320 NEO - (1) AVA and (4) 

TACA.

We measure the performance and profitability of the holding fleet 
through developed models, and generate alerts and guidelines to 
the operational, accounting and financing areas, with the purpose 
of maximizing the return of the fleet investment.

Our goal in 2018 is to optimize the Embraer and ATR 72 fleets.

We analyze, propose and negotiate the withdrawal options of the 
aircraft of the Holding, complying with the fleet requirements of 
the long-term business plan, seeking to generate savings or cash 
and P&L revenues, through the sale, return, lease to third parties, 
extension and/or renegotiation of aircraft contracts.

Fleet
withdrawal

Fleet
incorporation

Fleet
performance 

and operation

We started the implementation of the system offered by the Lease Works 
company, for the systematization of fleet management processes.

Goal 2018:
• Include inputs required by the fleet management system.
• Standardize the fleet management process so that additional airlines can be included 

in the future. 
• Complete the deployment of the fleet management system.

• We lead the order modification of three Boeing 787-8 to Boeing 787-9.
• We started the freighter operation in Peru through the interchangeability 

of the Fleet Airbus 330 – 200 freighters.
• We acquired an additional B787-8.
• We acquired 2 additional used A321 and 2 A330-300.

Our goal at 2018 is to renegotiate contracts with current manufacturers 
with the requirements of the business plan.

Wet leases: 
•  We hired the services of three (3) wet lease operators, 

negotiated short term leases where the landlords 
provided an aircraft including their crew, maintenance 
and insurance (ACMI).

•  With this modality, we operated the routes Cali-Madrid; 
Medellin – Madrid; and Bogotá – New York and we carried 
it out until all the crews returned to their operations. 

Early returns:
• We made an early return of an A330-200 to its landlord 

(5 months before its expiration date) hence achieving 
savings on rent and maintenance.

We renegotiated and extended leases for 11 aircraft, with a monthly rent reduction of USD 1,3 million. 

We recovered USD 47,4 million of maintenance reserves against a target of USD 36,1 million1.

Fleet analysis
and selection

Fleet
negotiation

Aircraft
financing

Fleet
planning

Aircraft
life cycle

Impact of the illegal cessation of 
activities and contingency plan

1Maintenance reserves are cash deposits retained by tenants of certain aircraft under operational leasing to cover certain maintenance events. Once the specific maintenances have been carried out, 
we engage in the process for the return, by the lessor, of these maintenance reserves.

ANNUAL REPORT
2017
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With the incorporation of this aircraft, we continued to consolidate ourselves as the airline with one of the youngest 
fleets on the continent.    

Our Airbus A321 NEO      
(New Engine Option) 

Wings

Its wings have sharklets (aerodynamic devices in the 
tip of the wing) that allow the aircraft to optimize 
its fuel consumption up to 4% in the longest routes. 

Engines, the great innovation
It has CFM Leap X1A engines. Because they have 
more light materials and the thermal process in 
the combustion chamber is more advanced, they 
are more efficient and allow significant savings of 
up to 20% of fuel. 

In addition, they reduce the emission of gases to 
the atmosphere and noise is lower.

In real time it incorporates a control and monitoring software called FADEC 
(Full Authority Digital Electronic Control) that comprises two computers — 
for each engine — known as the Electronic Engine Control (EEC), which are 
responsible for transmitting the motor behavior to the cabin crew and ground 
maintenance stations through sensors that monitor all flight phases.

With this incorporation, we remain at the forefront 
in service technology, being the first airline in 
Latin America to operate this aircraft of the 
latest generation, which positions us as leaders in 
innovation and development.

Performance
In its highest power range it provides 32.900 pounds of 
thrust that offer an additional 5.000 kg on average of weight 
for takeoff from Bogotá and an increase in its autonomy of 
up to 50 minutes compared to its predecessor the A321 
CEO (Current Engine Option).

Maintenance
The engine is designed and built to reduce main-
tenance costs by 20%, given its upgrades ensure 
more time in operation minimizing shutdowns.

In NOx emissions 
(nitrogen oxides)

In noise 
footprint

Operational benefits
• Increased reliability and optimization of 

maintenance costs.
• Operational efficiency, which increases passenger 

capacity. 
• Routes with greater range.

Saving

15%            30%            50%
In fuel 

consumption
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• It allows greater efficiency in the flight, for less fuel 
consumption and higher speed.

Configuration:
• Cruising speed: Mach 0,85. 
• Range: 14.500 kilometers. 
• Seats: 250 passengers, 28 in Executive Class and 222 

in Economy Class.

Advanced wing design:
• It allows smooth flights, even in turbulent conditions. 

Total comfort 
• Executive class chairs can be reclined to a horizontal 

position.

• Ideal for long flights. 
• Cruising speed: 880 kilometers per hour. 
• Maximum height: 12.500 meters. 
• Capacity: 47.000 kg. 
• 30 chairs in Executive Class and 222 chairs in 

Economy Class. 

Fly more comfortably 
• Fully reclining chairs in Executive Class for more 

comfort when sleeping. 
• 8 lighting scenarios that adapt to every moment of 

the flight.

• It generates the least amount of emissions, noise and 
fuel consumption. 

• Rated load capacity: 5.188 kg. 
• Cruising speed: 846 kilometers per hour. 
• Maximum height: 12.100 meters. 
• Capacity: 24.200 kg. 
• 12 Executive Class chairs and 182 Economy Class 

chairs.

Boeing 787-8 Aircraft12 Airbus A330 Aircraft101 Airbus A321 Aircraft13

Our fleet

• Efficient, quiet and ecological equipment; it has a 
runway exit prevention system.

• Load capacity of 6.300 kilograms, with a takeoff at 
sea level. 

• Cruising speed: 828 kilometers per hour. 
• Maximum height: 12.131 meters. 
• Capacity: 17.600 kg. 
• 12 Executive Class chairs and 138 Economy Class 

chairs.

• It has an estimated load capacity of 4.700 kilograms, 
with a takeoff at sea-level. 

• Cruising speed: 828 kilometers per hour. 
• Maximum height: 12.131 meters. 
• Capacity: 15.300 kg. 
• 12 Executive Class chairs and 108 Economy Class 

chairs. 

• It is the smallest version of the 320 family. 
• Estimated load capacity: 4.550 kg. 
• Cruising speed: 828 kilometers per hour. 
• Maximum height: 12.131 meters. 
• Capacity: 13.600 kg. 
• 12 Executive Class chairs and 88 Economy Class 

chairs.

• It is the most efficient aircraft in the segment from 98 
to 114 passengers, with an estimated load capacity of 
1.892 kilograms. 

• Cruising speed: 846 kilometers per hour. 
• Maximum height: 12.400 meters. 
• Capacity: 4.440 kg 
• 8 Chairs in Executive Class and 88 chairs in Economy 

Class.

Airbus A320 Aircraft64 Airbus A319 Aircraft26 Airbus A318 Aircraft10 Embraer 190  Aircraft8

Passenger 
transportation

Cargo 
transportation

1 (2) A330 and (1) B767 are wet lease aircraft.
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ATR - 72  Aircraft  15
• Regional aircraft propelled by two tabulators. Its 

estimated load capacity varies between 350 and 550 
kilograms. 

• Cruising speed: 556 kilometers per hour. 
• Maximum height: 7.600 meters. 
• Capacity: 5.400 kilograms. 
• 48 chairs. 

Our fleet

• Aircraft with a maximum capacity of 74 seats for 
regional and short-term trips. 

• Cruising speed: 440 km/h 
• Maximum height: 7.620 meters. 
• Capacity: 7.100 kilograms. 
• 68 Chairs in Economy Class.

• Regional turboprop short-range aircraft with a 
maximum capacity of 14 passengers. 

• 12 chairs.

We have three (3) passenger HUBs located in Bogotá, 
San Salvador and Lima, which allow us to ensure agile 
connections between domestic and international flights. 

We have three operation centers (Miami, Bogotá and El 
Salvador).

• Cargo fleet. 
• Maximum load: 70 tones. 
• Maximum speed: 913 km/h 
• Total capacity: 467,70 m³

• Cargo fleet.
• Wingspan: 44,8m
• Length: 58,08m
• Maximum takeoff weight: 165.000 kg
• Maximum Payload: 43.500kg

• Cargo fleet
• Wingspan: 47,6m
• Length:48,5m
• Maximum takeoff weight: 159.210 kg
• Maximum Payload: 44.000kg

Our business model describes how we operate as an organization, differentiating 
us by our service and operating under multiple COAs (Air Carrier Certificate), 

countries and connection centers (HUBs).

ATR - 42  Aircraft   2 CESSNA-208  Aircraft  13

A330F  Aircraft   5 A300F  Aircraft   5 B767F Aircraft   2
Sub leased fleet

Avianca leases to Fleet N. of aircraft 
Aeroméxico E90 2

 319 2
 330 1
Ocean Air
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Our materiality analysis 
GRI102-47; GRI 102-46 In 2017, we conducted a materiality analysis with the purpose of identifying the issues relevant 
to our business vision that generate value to our stakeholders in the short, medium and long term. We contemplate 
the issues they find important, our consideration of those that are fundamental in management-because they reflect 
the social, environmental and economic impacts of the Company-, the context of sustainability and the principle of 
exhaustiveness.

We consulted primary and secondary sources of information 
and identified a universe of topics through the analysis of 
relevant sources in terms of sustainability, related to the 
aeronautical sector. These documents are of external and 
internal origin: 

Validation 
• We validated the 10 material issues 

prioritized in the surveys with the 
Company’s Executives, the Vice-Presidency 
of Strategic Relations and the Corporate 
Citizenship Directorate. We also included 
3 environmental issues relevant to the 
Company.

• Prioritization of relevant topics
• These 25 relevant aspects were prioritized by 

our internal stakeholders through: 
•  Surveys to 67 representatives of our 

stakeholders: employees, customers, 
suppliers, communities and NGO’s.

•  16 surveys to Avianca’s Vice Presidents 
and Directors.

• As a result of this prioritization, 10 material 
issues were identified.

External
• The Sustainability Yearbook 2017 from the 

Dow Jones Sustainability Index.
• The Annual Report of the International Air 

Transport Association (IATA).
• The GRI G4 sectoral guide. Sectoral 

supplement for airport operators.
• The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
• The three leaders of the airline sector 

according to the Dow Jones Sustinability 
Index.

Internal
• Results of Avianca’s Reputation Study made 

by NewLink. 
• Main news analysis of 2017.
• Relationship matrix with stakeholders. 
• Results of Avianca’s Engagement Study . 
• DJSI Questionnaire and each Vice-

Presidency’s identification of gaps. 
As a result of this consultation, we analyzed the 
common and most relevant elements, identifying 
25 relevant aspects.

Identification of   
relevant issues

100

100

Economic

100 0 100

Environmental

Social

Medium
Relevance

High
Relevance

Low
Relevance

Influence on 
Stakeholders 

assessments and 
decisions

Influence on 
Stakeholders 
assessments and 
decisions

Talent 
attraction and 
retention

Corporate 
citizenship

Satisfaction and 
relationship
with customers

Safety and protection on 
land and air

Safe and healthy 
environment for our 
employees

Sustainable 
employment

Importance of environmental, social 
and economic impacts of the Company

Training and development 
of employees

Commitment to 
Human Rights

Respect to 
freedom of 

association and 
fulfilling our 

commitments with 
our employees

Role of the Company 
during post-conflict

Solid Waste 
management

Noise 
mitigation

Support of 
commerce 

and tourism
Responsible 

management of the 
supply chain

Risk and crisis 
management

Management of the 
existing fleet

Economic 
performance

Corporate 
governance

Corruption and 
bribery Prevention

Compliance with 
laws and 

regulations

Reduction of water 
consumption during 

the operation 
(efficient use of water)

Reduction of energy 
consumption

Environmental management 
system development

Mitigation and adaptation
to climate change

Efficient management
of fuel by transported 
passengers and cargo.

Importance of environmental, social 
and economic impacts of the Company

Our materiality analysis 

• Compliance with laws and regulations.
 - Chapter: We live a culture of security, ethics, risk   
 management and compliance.
• Economic performance.
 - Chapter: Value generated to our stakeholders.
• Corporate Governance.
 - Chapter: Corporate Governance.
• Training and development of employees.
 - Chapter: Responsible management of our    
 employees.
• Sustainable Employment.
 - Chapter: Responsible management of our    
 employees.
• Safe and healthy environment for our employees. 
 - Chapter: Committed to the health and safety of our  
 employees.

• Safety and protection on land and air.
 - Chapter: Security and protection in land and air.
• Talent attraction and retention.
 - Chapter: Responsible management of our    
 employees.
• Satisfaction and relationship with customers.
 - Chapter: Our customer, beginning and end of our   
 service strategy.
• Corporate Citizenship.
 - Chapter: We are all Avianca Citizens.
• Environmental management system development.
 - Chapter: Connected with the environment.
• Climate change: Mitigation and adaptation.
 - Chapter: Connected with the environment.
• Eco-efficiency.
 - Chapter: Connected with the environment.

For this Report’s content, we considered the issues of high relevance to stakeholders and the Company: 
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Stakeholder relationship model 

In Avianca, we understand that it is fundamental to build 
relationships strategically with each of the stakeholders 
that are part of our supply chain. When aligning our 
stakeholder’s expectations with our strategic goals, we 
build long-term relationships of mutual collaboration.

Regulators

Communities

Suppliers and
contractors

Customers

Employees

Third sector

In Avianca we rely on the Strategic Relations Senior Vice 
Presidency as a fundamental structure to interact with 
our stakeholders, integrating technology, knowledge and 
human quality, oriented to the fulfillment of our strategic 
objectives.

In order to continue advancing in the strengthening of 
our relationship capacities, in 2017 we built a relational 
matrix, to understand what, who and how of this process 
with each one of our stakeholders in the countries where 
we operate. Governments, media, NGOs and guilds were 
part of this first phase.

GRI 102 – 40; 102 – 42; 102 – 43; 102-21; 102-44

Avianca must be a positive transformation agent for all of the countries where it 
operates, by leading valuable proposals that contribute to the economic, social and 
environmental development of each country.

Reputation study
During 2017, a reputation study was carried out with 
the objective of getting to know the perception of 
several stakeholders (government, media, associations, 
NGOs, trade unions and employees) regarding Avianca’s 
corporate behavior, in terms of the following 7 dimensions: 

workplace, innovation, leadership, performance, service, 
citizenship and governability. As a result, it was identified 
that stakeholders have a positive outlook on Avianca with 
a reputation rating of 8 over 10.

Our customers, the media, governments, authorities 
and, in general, the public, private and civil society 
organizations with which we interact are our main concern 
and they allow us to fulfil our purpose.
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Stakeholders Subgroup Relationship mechanisms 
(Communication channels) Relevant topics

Customers * Business customers
* Tourism customers

* NPS (Net Promoter Score) survey 
(quarterly)
* Website (permanent)
* E-mail (eventually)
* Social networks (permanent)
* Call center (permanent)
* Sales points and airports (permanent)
* Avianca App (permanent)

*  Service quality
* Flight status
* Itinerary modifications
* Provision of additional services
* Ticket sales
* Refunds 
* Complaint management

Shareholders * Institutional Investors
* Significant Shareholders
* Minority shareholders 
* Bond holders 
* Shareholders of preferred 
shares 
* Market analysts

* E-mail (eventually) 
* Investor’s Conference (quarterly)
* Annual report
* 20 F Report
* Shareholders’ meeting (annually) 
* Website (permanent) 
* Contact point: Investor Relations Office 
(when applicable)

* Profitability of investments 
* Maintenance of high corporate 
governance standards (transparency) 
* Financial Results (quarterly)
* Operational Results (monthly)

Employees * Direct
* Student interns
* Third parties

* Intranet, digital billboards (screens), 
E-mail (permanent) 
* Ethical Line (permanent) 
* WhatsApp groups and Facebook pages 
for operational areas 
* Official Internal Website for pilots and 
crew members (permanent)

* Opportunities for growth and 
development 
* Wellness activities 
* Organizational changes and 
structure 
* Transformation to a digital culture

Suppliers and 
Contractors

* Fuel 
* Aeronautical Components 
* Customer Experience 
* Administration
* Information Technology 
* Airport Services 
* Aircraft Rental 

* Avianca Website (permanent) * Supply agreements 
* Payment terms and credit capacity

Communities * Dialogue 
* E-mail from the Corporate Citizenship 
Directorate (permanent)

* Avianca Social Programs 
* Corporate Citizenship Strategy

Regulators *  International Regulatory 
Organisms 
* Sectoral regulators
* Market regulators
* National and/
or Supranational 
Administration
* Local Administration

* Annual report (annually) 
* Avianca Website (permanent) 
* Periodic reports
* Financial Superintendence Webpage

* Compliance with the standard
* Request for periodic financial, fiscal and 
sustainability information

Third Sector * Allied NGOs * Relationship exercises with 
NGOs 
* E-mail from the Corporate Citizenship 
Directorate (permanent) 

* Strategic relations
* Avianca’s social programs
* Corporate Citizenship Strategy

Our presence in the media 
In 2017, Avianca registered an important presence in traditional Latin American media, consolidating its position as 
one of the region’s leading airlines. 117 corporate messages were published, 7 press conferences took place and 2 
meetings with journalists were held. Thanks to the effective dissemination of the news and facts relevant to public 
opinion, Avianca managed to publish 28.000 publications on the media in Colombia and other regions where Avianca 
operates. There are more than 80 opinion columns and editorials in Colombian media, most of them were published 
during the ACDAC’s illegal cessation of activities.

Journalists’ Workshop
Avianca, within our constant educational work towards journalists, carried out training workshops that were looking to 
bring them closer to the reality of the aeronautical sector and its environment. Through illustrative talks, journalists 
learned how an aircraft is flown, why it is safe to fly and how an airline prepares for the departure of a flight, as well as 
the legal process that took place during the illegal cessation of activities that ACDAC’s pilots participated in. 

Our social networks
In 2017, we ensured an effective management of the Avianca’s social networks, interacting in positively and constantly 
with our main stakeholders: guilds, government entities, the media, employees, digital communities and users in 
general were connected with our content, which was significantly reflected in the main informational and service 
milestones of the Company.

General 2017

Interactions 18.216.648
Scope 155.923.946
Engagement 11,60%

Pope Francis’ 
visit

Interactions 398.110
Scope 17.100.185
Engagement 2,30%

Venezuela

Interactions 587.328
Scope 49.564.351
Engagement 1,18%

Illegal cessation 
of activities

Interactions  125.315
Scope 11.335.893
Engagement 1,10%

Our relationship channels
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• •

•

•

• •

•
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Material issues aligned to the Sustainable   
Development Goals (SDGs) 
All of the activities and initiatives that we develop in the framework of the generation of economic, social and 
environmental value in our region, are oriented to contribute to the progress of the Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs). We have used the Global Compact’s guide “An Analysis of Goals and Targets”, the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
and Pricewaterhouse Coopers (PwC) to reveal how our management aligns to our commitment to SDGs.

SDG
We are all 

Avianca 
Citizens

We live a 
culture of 
security, 
ethics, 

risks and 
compliance 

Corporate 
Governance

Security 
and 

protection 
in land and 

air

Responsible 
management 

of our 
employees

Decent 
work and 

social 
dialogue

Committed to 
the health and 
safety of our 

people

Value 
generated to 

our stake-
holders

Technology 
and 

innovation

Connected 
with the 

environment
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Launch 

Flight 2020 fulfilled its itinerary on 2017

Tripadvisor recognition: 
Best airline in Latin 

America

Third operator of the 
world with best technical 

reliability in the Boeing 787 
fleet

Effie recognition: 
Effectiveness in 
communications

Smarties: 
Recognition to Avianca’s 

mobile App

#AviancaOnMessenger

Launching of our Avianca 
Citizen strategy

#CiudadanoAvianca

Launching of the corporate 
intranet, achieving 1.633 

average visits per day

Implementation
 Home office

Office 365 implementation 
across the Company

1 Learn more about what we do in the chapter ‘We live a culture of security, ethics, risk management and compliance’.

We were Pope Francis’ 
official airline during his 

visit in Colombia

#ViajeDeEsperanza 

Incorporation of our first 
NEO aircrafts and two 

Boeing 787

#AlasPorElPlaneta

Airbus Award for the best 
operating performance of 
A320 aircraft in America

Skytrax Award as Best 
airline in South America

Fifth place in the 
Colombian Survey La 

Carrera de los Sueños de 
los Jóvenes 2017 and first 

place in El Salvador

Federal agency recognition 
to Avianca in the United 

States of America1

EVENTS
Memorable

Sky level 
acknowledgement

Best airline in Latin America

Best airline in South America 

Second best airline in 
the world
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We are all Avianca Citizens
Why is it important and how do we manage it?

For us, the human being is the 
center of everything we do. That 
human being is represented by 
our customers, our employees, the 
media, governments, authorities, 
public, private and civil society 
organizations. To simplify, all of the 
stakeholders with whom we interact.

We are aware that companies 
affect people’s lives positively 
or negatively. For this reason, 
as corporate citizens, we must 
pursue a conduct of excellence 
with all human beings. Our main 
purpose is to contribute from our 
management to the development 
of a better Latin American citizen. 
The consequence of doing so is the 
sustainable generation of economic, 
social and environmental value for 
our Company and our stakeholders.

Therefore, in addition to our Flight 
2020, we aligned our purpose with 

the 1976 Multinational Enterprises 
Statement of the Organization 
for Economic Cooperation and 
Development (OECD), which refers 
to need for corporations to behave 
like excellent citizens towards society.

Ending the year 2016, we created the 
Corporate Citizenship Directorate 
with the purpose of developing 
a Corporate Citizenship Strategy, 
aligned to our Flight 2020. In this 
journey we have undertaken, not 
only do we seek to connect and 
build ties with our stakeholders, 
but also to improve our internal 
practices through participation in 
the most important initiatives at an 
international level, which guide us in 
the construction of new challenges 
and drive us to re-think every day to 
be excellent corporate citizens.

“With the best human talent and the best technology, 
in our Flight 2020 we will be recognized as an excellent 
corporate citizen, connecting our stakeholders with the 

best alternatives for generating social, environmental and 
humanitarian value for Latin America, leaving a mark, being 

the Avianca Citizen”.

3.4 By 2030, reduce by one 
third premature mortality 
from non-communicable 
diseases through prevention 
and treatment and promote 
mental health and well-
being.

3.8 Achieve universal health 
coverage, including financial 
risk protection, access to 
quality essential health-
care services and access 
to safe, effective, quality 
and affordable essential 
medicines and vaccines for 
all.

13.3 Improve education, 
awareness-raising and 
human and institutional 
capacity on climate change 
mitigation, adaptation, 
impact reduction and early 
warning.

17.16 Enhance the 
global partnership for 
sustainable development, 
complemented by multi-
stakeholder partnerships 
that mobilize and share 
knowledge, expertise, 
technology and financial 
resources, to support 
the achievement of the 
sustainable development 
goals in all countries, in 
particular developing 
countries.

4.4 By 2030, substantially 
increase the number of youth 
and adults who have relevant 
skills, including technical 
and vocational skills, for 
employment, decent jobs and 
entrepreneurship.
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Own indicator: Entailment and participation in essential 
Corporate Citizenship scenarios

#CiudadanoAvianca in 
social media

Total range: 
1.624.260

Interactions: 
13.192

I leave a mark, I am an 
Avianca Citizen,

Doing our best in 
what we do every 

day, to connect 
with a better 
future for all

A world where 
we all contribute 
from our diversity

Believing that 
everything can 

be improved 
and working 

to make it 
possible

Being a 
transformation 

agent for the 
societies in which 

we serve

Understanding the real 
meaning of a child’s smile 
and helping save his/her 

life

Taking care of 
our planet and 

understanding that 
we are not the only 
ones who live in it

and you?

• We created the Social Committee to engage 
in dialogue with Civil Society Organizations and 
participate in the most important initiatives and 
Corporate Citizenship scenarios in each region 
where we operate. In this Committee, we have the 
participation of Colombia, El Salvador, Peru and 
Ecuador.

• We adhered to the United Nations Global Compact 
initiative.

• We supported the ILO’s decent work and green jobs 
agenda.

• We committed to report the positive impacts that our 
management can generate in achieving the United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Highlights 2017
• We signed an agreement with UNICEF to support 

education programs in Latin America, allowing our 
customers to invest in them. 

• We made the first purchase of neutral carbon 
bonds that offset emissions from fuel consumption 
operations in Colombia, transforming them in high 
impact social and environmental investment in Latin 
American projects. 

• We are committed to the Carbon Disclosure Project 
(CDP) in carbon neutrality strategies and sustainable 
and inclusive purchases. 

• We planted 32.200 trees in 10 days in different 
Avianca destinations. 

• We made 4 dialogue exercises with the Third Sector in 
Colombia, Salvador, Peru and Ecuador. 

Being a citizen 
of the world

Being a volunteer 
without expecting 
anything in return

Main Forums and Scenarios: 

• Sustainability 
Forum and 
SDG Food 
Bank. 

• Latin America 
Green Awards 
2017.

• Fenalco 
Solidario’s 
7th Congress 
on Social 
Responsibility. 

• Sustainable 
Aeronautics 
Forum.

• Event on 
Responsible 
and Sustainable 
Investment - 
Launch DJSI MILA.

• We participated in 
the OPAIN and Civil 
Aeronautics’ Social 
Committee.

• We carried out 
Avianca Citizen 
workshops in Bogotá 
and El Salvador with 
the Human Talent 
team to align our 
culture, values and 
skills to the Avianca 
Citizen profile. 

• We received a visit 
from 15 Fenalco 
entrepreneurs in 
our Operational 
Excellence Center 
(CEO acronym in 
Spanish).  

• We invited 19 
communal action board 
representatives close 
to El Dorado Airport to 
know our CEO facilities 
and had the opportunity 
to share. We had a 
construction space 
around our Avianca 
Citizen Strategy.

Other activities: 

• Asobancaria’s 
first 
sustainability 
forum. 

Forum Awards Congress Forum Event Forum

What is it like to be an Avianca Citizen?
ANNUAL REPORT

2017
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We connect Social Value through our corporate behavior, our 
programs, alliances and the best social value building products 

in the region.

Miles Bank: We connect the most vul-
nerable children in Latin America with 
medical treatments and specialized 
surgeries. The invested miles, both by 
Avianca and by the LifeMiles partners, 
are used to provide round trips to low-in-
come children who require travel to re-
ceive specialized medical assistance from 
cities, destinations and routes operated 
by Avianca.

During 2017 we granted 250 places, 
transporting children and their families 
through the redemption of 6 million 
miles.

Number of miles 
donated by 

partners

Number of miles 
granted by Avianca

Number of miles 
redeemed1 

2’913.092 2’485.484 6’334.000

We manage our strategic pillars: 

We acquired the first 
portfolio of neutral 

carbon projects certified 
in Colombia and Latin 

America, compensating 
the effects of more than 
1 million tons of carbon. 

For more information, see 
chapter “Connected with 

the environment” 

We connect environmental value, through our responsible 
environmental management, alliances and connection with 

products and certified environmental value initiatives.

Children for America: This program provides 
children (minors), in economic conditions 
that do not allow them to access a ticket, the 
possibility of being part of a unique flight ex-
perience with the airline, with the opportunity 
to know one of our Avianca destinations.

This program considers children 1) with chro-
nic illnesses 2) that have been highlighted for 
their academic performance.

If you want to know any of these cases, visit 
Avianca in Magazine:

Alina Santander: 
https://www.aviancaenrevista.com/
revista/avianca_cumple_sueno_
alina/

Dana Valentina: 
https://www.aviancaenrevista.com/

revista/ciudadano-av-ballet/

“Siembratón”: Along with our strategic ally, Fundación 

+ Verde + Vida, we are advancing in the purpose of 

planting more than a million trees in our destinations 

in Latin America. We are carrying out the initiative 

with members of the Avianca team, suppliers and 

communities, relatives and friends who participated 

in the workshops that took place in Sabaneta, Cúcuta, 

Bucaramanga, Santa Marta, Barranquilla, Manizales, 

Cali, Cartagena and Armenia.

Miles collected 2017

54% 46%
Donated miles 

by partners
Avianca miles 

granted

In 2018 we will continue pursuing our purpose 
of planting more than one million trees in our 
destinations in Latin America. In this way, we 
strengthen our commitment to take care of the 
planet, understanding that we are not the only ones 
living in it.

In 2017 we gave 40 tickets for 
children and their companions, which 
represents an economic value of 
11.200 USD2.

1 The calculation is made based on the commercial value per block of 1.000 miles. To miles donated by members and granted by Avianca remnants of miles are added from previous years.

Approximate valuation of tickets:
209.000 USD

2  Tickets subject to availability of seats.
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Avianca Solidaria: Transfers of humanitarian aid to victims of natural disasters that occur on routes where Avianca 
operates. (i) Transportation of people: medical personnel, rescue workers, volunteers and victims (ii) Transportation of 
cargo: goods, medicines, necessities and non-perishable foods.

Corporate Volunteering: Donation of time, knowledge, in-kind 
or money by our volunteer employees. These voluntary actions 
are directed to foundations and organizations that are part of 
our strategic partner portfolio and comply with the guidelines 
established by the Corporate Citizenship Directorate.

During 2017, we joined the support networks through the Avianca Solidaria program, to 
attend emergencies that were presented in our areas of influence in:

Peru: In coordination with 
the Peruvian Air Force, we 
mobilized more than 540 
people on three huma-
nitarian aid flights to Piu-
ra and Trujillo (round trip). 
We supported the Peru-
vian State and various cha-
ritable entities in the ship-
ping-free-of-charge dona-
tions to Trujillo and Piura. 
This way, we managed to 
transport about 42 tons of 
cargo meant for the affected 
communities.

We manage our strategic pillars:

Strategic Alliances: We are linked 
to leading institutions in high social 
value projects aimed at improving 
quality of life and building 
citizenship in communities of the 
influence areas of our destinations.

We connect our stakeholders through our volunteering, our 
partnerships and the Avianca Solidaria (Solidary Avianca) program with 

the most transparent and effective options to support communities 
that have suffered a natural disaster or a social emergency.

During 2017, we performed 4 
relationship exercises between the 
Corporate Citizenship Directorate 
and Civil Society Organizations of 
Central America (El Salvador) and 
South America (Colombia, Ecuador 
and Peru).

We are UNICEF’s first 

allied airline for the Latin 

American region and the 

first to offer its customers the option to invest in 

UNICEF’s Children and Teenagers education programs 

in Latin America through the Amadeus platform.

Avianca provided UNICEF with a donation engine called 

“Click for Change” through the Amadeus platform, 

which will allow monetary donations in the process of 

buying online trips. The collection of these funds will 

directly benefit UNICEF’s Regional education program 

in Latin America. 

This is our commitment with children and teenagers in 

Latin America!

Other humanitarian aids:

• After the emergency caused by 
Hurricane Maria in Puerto Rico, many 
needs arose, including the scarcity 
of drinking water. To guarantee this 
supply, Avianca transported a supply 
of 11 million purification tablets 
(chlorine tablets), weighing 3.150 
kg provided by PYAM laboratory in 
Argentina.

• 1,5 tons of cargo were transported for 
donation to the Colombian Red Cross 
in our new NEO A321 aircraft.

Mocoa: Along with the Colombian 
Red Cross and with the support of 
Civil Aeronautics, Satena, Fundación 
Éxito, Asociación de Bancos de Ali-
mentos and volunteer teams from 
Colombia and other countries, we 
managed to mobilize 5.200 kg of 
cargo including goods, bottles of 
water, milk bags, wheelchairs, various 
staple foods and rescue equipment. 
Two charter flights arrived in Puerto 
Asís, carrying about 105 people (in 
two flights) that included Colombian 
Red Cross members, affected people 
and two search canines. 

We carried out Christmas 
volunteer activities in 

4 bases 
in América Latina

Hubs

Organizations

Dates

Focus

27

21
July August

24

10

11

8

25

• Children, education and health

• Volunteering with communities

• Innovation applied to the solution of 
social problems

• Best entrepreneurial practices in 
sustainable development

• Attention to emergencies

Cities #Volunteers Beneficiary Founda-
tion

#Collected 
gifts Developed activities Place of activity

Quito 25 Aldeas Infantiles SOS 
with 25 children 66

We gave them mochilas (thread bags) made 
of recycled materials. The volunteer program 
was executed along with some of the players 
in the Quito University Sports League (LDUQ 
acronym in Spanish).

Rodrigo
Paz Delgado 
Stadium in Quito 
City.

El 
Salvador 22

Hogar San Vicente de 
Paul, Beneficiary of 
the Glasswing NGO 
with 100 children

165
3 crew members visited each group and talked 
about what they do as well as giving them Gefes 
Kits (crew member or captain hat).

Hogar San 
Vicente de Paul

Lima 23

ANIQUEM 
(Association of Help to 
the Burnt Child) with 

50 children

-

We made primary needs donations, such 
as a wheel chair and a foosball table. Two 
volunteers from the Operations and Security 
Area donated their time as clowns.

ANIQUEM 
(Association of 
Help to the Burnt 
Child)

Bogotá 36
Casa Indigena de la 
Candelaria with 100 

children.
280

The kids from the house shared a moment of 
joy and union, along with Avianca’s volunteers 
and the Red Cross’ volunteers.

Casa Indígena
de la Candelaria
(Indigenous 
House of la 
Candelaria)

7

August August
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• Management of our sustainability gaps from the 
Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI) stand point. 

• Construction of the Corporate Citizenship 
policy, including guidelines on Human Rights, 
sustainability, social programs, environmental 
strategy and social and environmental investment 
platforms for our customers.

• Implementation of the Sustainability Committee, 
and social and environmental investment 
platforms for our customers.

• Development and implementation of the 
multistakeholder social dialogue platform (Avianca 
Citizen Dialogue)

• Positioning of Avianca’s Corporate Citizenship 
agenda towards our stakeholders in the different 
regions of our operation.

• Strengthening our relationship with the Third 
Sector. 

• Implementation of a campaign and prevention 
sessions against human trafficking along with 
the UNODC (United Nations Office on Drugs and 
Crime) and the Local Authorities.

Our challenges 2018

At Avianca, we seek to strengthen our channels and spaces 
for social dialogue in a framework of respect and best 
relationship practices, strengthening our social investment 
and environmental and humanitarian aid programs. All 
with a single purpose “To be and help build a better Latin 
American citizen, the Avianca Citizen”.

During the cessation of activities, we had the support from 
a team of volunteers and members of the Colombian Red 
Cross, which aimed to provide psychosocial support activities 
and basic first aid for our customers and employees who 
were affected by the situation at El Dorado International 
Airport.

During this period, we found ourselves in the need to 
suspend the delivery of class N1 tickets in our social 
programs framework: Bank of Miles, Children for America 
and Avianca Solidaria. Despite this situation, we managed 
to transport 4 children from Fundación CardioInfantil that 
required to be moved urgently to different destinations for 
specialized treatments or surgeries.

• Avianca was recognized by the Foundation “Amigos 
de la Donación de Organos y Tejidos”, for being 
the airline that has transported the most organs 
(more than 30 organs) by air among the different 
Colombian regions in the year 2017, saving hundreds 
of lives. 

Run Tour 
Throughout the last 5 years, we have conducted the Run Tour, 
a race that aims to provide well-being and a second chance 
in the lives of children of Fundación CardioInfantil. Thanks to 
the contribution of our athletes, sponsors and the community 
during the last 5 years, we have delivered COP$899 million 
meant for the endowment of the Neonatal Intensive Care 
Unit and the new building and adaptation of the Pediatric 
Cardiovascular Intensive Care Unit of the foundation.

This yearly meeting, contributes to the health of thousands 
of children in our region, who are taken care of for free at 
Fundación CardioInfantil through its social program “Regale 
una Vida” (Give a life).

• We were included in the Dow Jones Sustainability 
Index (DJSI) a Latin American Integrated market 
version (MILA) Pacific Alliance 2017, in our first year 
of participation.

Acknowledgments
2017

We thank the Avianca team for its commitment, because 
we proved to be one family during this period. Together 

we leave a mark. The Avianca Citizen mark.

Impact of the illegal cessation of 
activities and contingency plan 

Espacio para foto

1 Tickets subject to availability of quota. 



66 67Annual Report 2017 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

In our Flight 2020 we seek to 
connect Latin America with the 
world, always giving more. Since 
its launch in 2016, we have taken 
important steps in the security, risk 
and compliance fronts contributing 
to our purpose to be recognized as 
the preferred Latin American airline 
by all travelers in the world.

One of our steps has been the 
advancement in the implementation 
of our comprehensive risk 
management system that 
articulates the management of 
integral security, risks, ethics and 
compliance as a primary component 
for our management. It is based 
on our values and principles and is 
developed through policies, norms, 
procedures, actions, behaviors and 
compliance with regulation.

The Integral Risk Management 
System is aimed to maintaining 
a safe and compliant operation, 
ensuring that the risks, to which we 
are exposed during the development 

“To achieve true security, we actively participate by taking 
responsibility for the processes and raising our hand to 

report any risks”.

We live a culture of security, ethics, 
risk management and compliance 
Why is it important and how do we manage it?

of activities, are contemplated in our 
strategy and managed from each 
area.

GRI 102-10 In 2017, the Senior 
Vice Presidency of Security, Ethics 
and Compliance became the 
General Directorate of Integral 
Security, Risks and Compliance, 
whose mission is to lead, develop 
and maintain the Integral Security 
Management Strategy, risks, ethics 
and compliance. It consists of the 
following:

Internal Evaluation Directorate. 
Operational Safety Directorate. 
Control and Compliance Directo-
rate. 
Corporate Security and Civil Avia-
tion Directorate. 
Industrial Safety, Occupational 
Health and Environment Directo-
rate. 
Risk and Information Security 
Compliance Directorate. 

Corporate Risk and Business Conti-
nuity Management.

Our strategy is based on the three-line defense model to strengthen risk 
and control management, aligning roles and responsibilities:

The first defense line is formed by 
process leaders, who are responsible 
for ensuring that the organizational 
processes defined to execute the 
Company’s activities are safe, follow 
regulatory and industry requirements, 
and risks affecting the process are 
identified, managed and monitored.

The second line, composed by the Ge-
neral Directorate of Integral Security, 
Risks and Compliance, is independent 
from the first line and reports directly 
to the CEO of the Company. It oversees 
establishing the risk management model 
in the Company, monitoring the design 
and creation of the first line controls, 
organizational compliance and assessing 
risk management.

The third line independently verifies 
the effectiveness of controls and risk 
management to the administration 
through the internal audit area of the 
Company.

In 2017, the board adopted the new Policy of the 
Integral Risk Management System, which seeks 
to define the guidelines and framework of action 
for the management of different risks to which 
we are exposed, through the implementation 
of the Integral Risk Management System. We 
also adopted the new policy for interest conflict 
management of the Company’s managers and its 
directors. Further, we kept the following policies in 
place: 

• Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Norms.

• Integral System of Prevention and Laundering Risk 
Control of Assets and Financing of Terrorism Policy 
(SIPLAFT). 

• Anti-corruption Policy. 

• Integral Security Policy. 

• General Information Security Policy. 

• Environmental Management Policy.

• Privacy Policies. 

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE, CULTURE, SECURITY, 
RISKS AND COMPLIENCE

HIGH MANAGEMENT TONE
Example and consistency in safe, ethical and 

compliance behaviors.

Control and Compliance.
Corporate Security and Civil Aviation.

Operational safety.
Industrial safety, Occupational health and 

Environment.
Risks, security and information fulfillment.

Risks and business continuity.
Internal evaluation. 

Human factors.

Process 
owners, 

business units 
and Avianca 

Holdings 
Company

Internal 
Audit

EXTERNAL AUDIT AND 
REGULATORY ENTITIES

SECOND DEFENCE
LINE

FIRST DEFENSE 
LINE

(General Directorate of Security, Risks 
and Compliance)

THIRD DEFENSE 
LINE

3.5 Strengthen the 
prevention and treatment of 
substance abuse, including 
narcotic drug abuse and 
harmful use of alcohol.

3.8 Achieve universal health 
coverage, including financial 
risk protection, access to 
quality essential health-
care services and access 
to safe, effective, quality 
and affordable essential 
medicines and vaccines for 
all.

16.4 By 2030, significantly 
reduce illicit financial and 
arms flows, strengthen the 
recovery and return of stolen 
assets and combat all forms 
of organized crime.

16.5 Substantially reduce 
corruption and bribery in all 
their forms.

16.6 Develop effective, 
accountable and transparent 
institutions at all levels.

ANNUAL REPORT
2017
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IEP - Internal 
Evaluation Program

OCP - Operational 
Compliance Program

Committed with integral 
security

Ethics and Compliance

As part of the Integrated Management System, we have defined the 
concept of Integral Security, which seeks to establish a unified management 
concept of the different types of securities that exist in the Company, in 
order to facilitate the approach and management of the existing security 
deficiencies classified by process owners under the same standard 
methodology. The securities that compose the system are shown below:

In order to promote an ethical culture 
within the Company, we establish actions 
of prevention, detection, monitoring and 
remediation against unethical behaviors.

We have an Ethics Committee, which 
guarantees the fulfillment, proper 
interpretation and sanction of the conducts 
established in the Code of Ethics and 
Business Conduct Norms and in the current 
policies of the Company. In addition, we 
have the ethics and compliance program 
that was built according to the guidelines 
established by the U.S. Department 
of Justice in the United States Federal 
Sentencing Guidelines and aligned with the 
COSO international standard.

1 Operational Safety:  
Focuses on the management 
of risks that can generate 
incidents and/or operational 
accidents in the Company.

3 Industrial Safety:                                   
Focuses on the management of risks 
that can lead to injuries or illnesses 
to the Company’s people and 
their customers, generated by the 
execution of the Company’s activities. 

2 Aviation and Corporate Safety: 
Focuses on the management of risks 
that can lead to illicit interference 
acts such as kidnappings, drug 
transportation and Company and 
customer asset theft.

4 Information Security:               
Focuses on the management of risks that can 
lead to loss or misuse of information from the 
Company and its customers.

Committed to the protection of personal data, we contribute to keep the Integral System of 
Personal Data Management (SIGDP) up to date. Within our system, we have privacy policies 
for our stakeholders:

• Travelers, Customers and Users Privacy Policy
• Shareholder and Investor Privacy Policy 
• Suppliers Privacy Policy 
• Human Talent Processes Privacy Policy

For more information, please see: https://www.avianca.com/ni/en/privacy-policy 

Ethics Committee
The Ethics Committee conducts periodic reports to the Audit Committee 
on allegations and consultations related to non-compliance, illicit acts, fraud 
and conflicts of interest. The queries and complaints are received through the 
ethical line, which is outsourced and available 24/7 in the following link: http://
aviancaholdings.ethicspoint.com

In order to have the highest standards of 
ethics and compliance, we have adhered 
to different national and international 
initiatives such as:

1. The Global Compact network that 
seeks to fulfil the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs): 
human rights, labor standards, the 
environment and anti-corruption.

2. Initiative towards integrity, United 
Nations Office on Drugs and 
Crime UNODC which promotes 
the construction between the 
public and private sectors against 
corruption. 

It seeks to ensure that orga-
nizational processes are de-
signed under the following 
process attributes: responsibil-
ity, authority, interfaces, proce-
dures, controls, performance 
measurement, and resources. 
They should be documented 
and implemented according 
to regulations, better industry 
practices and with appropriate 
risk controls before they are 
executed in the Company.

Once the processes are 
executed daily, OCP validates 
through the execution of 
scheduled and unscheduled 
audits, that the execution 
of the processes, are 
carried out according to the 
documentation developed by 
the first line and validated by 
IEP.

Risk management framework: Framework developed:

The top 15 corporate risks are in the following 8 categories:

A new model for risk management

Our Integral Risk Management System is based on four 
objectives:
1. Facilitate the fulfillment of our strategic objectives, 
trying to avoid or mitigate the impact of those situations 
that may make it difficult.
2. Strengthen the trust of our customers and 
shareholders, being a Company prepared to manage 
risks.

Our policies, processes and 
procedures

The model is composed of new policies, processes 
and procedures that have been designed based 
on international standards such as ISO 31000 and 
COSO1, which allow an adequate identification, 
analysis, treatment, monitoring and aggregation of 
risks to both the strategic and operational levels.

Risk management is developed in 3 levels depending on 
their level of prioritization. The 3 are interrelated with a 
top-down and bottom-up approach: 

Corporate Risks: seeks to identify, analyze, treat, 
monitor and include risks that do not allow the 
fulfilment of Avianca Holdings S.A.’s goals.

Process-level Risks: Allows a risk management directed 
towards the Company’s processes, where all different 
types of risks are identified, valued and treated, such 
as operational security, corporate security, fraud, 
laundering and financing of terrorism. 

Project Risks: Along with the Strategic Projects 
Directorate, we developed risk management in the 
different projects of our Company.

Company risks: 
1. Funding sources. 
2. Changes in consumer      

 preferences. 
3. Labor relations.

Environmental hazards:
1. Cyber incidents. 
2. Changes in the 

political environment 
and macroeconomic 
variables.

3. Changes in legislation 
and increased 
regulation. 

    Risks related to the   
    aeronautical industry:

1. Limitations in the airport 
infrastructure of the 
HUBs.

2. Highly competitive 
air industry and major 
advances in innovation 
and new technologies.

Sarbanes Oxley 
Law (SOX)

Since 2013 we quoted our 
shares on the New York 
Stock Exchange; that is why 
we acquired a number of 
responsibilities, including 
compliance with the SOX Act 
of 2002. For this reason, we 
are responsible for designing, 
implementing, maintaining 
and evaluating the internal 
control system on the financial 
report.

3. Risk is inherent to any business, so it is important to 
accompany the strategic and tactical decision-making 
process with an adequate analysis and vision of risks, in 
order to respond effectively and anticipate changes in 
the environment.
4. Integrate Integral Risk Management, its different 
frameworks and management methodologies into a 
single system to which the Company must comply.

In the second semester of 2017, we implemented the Compliance Monitoring Program 
(CMP), which consists of two programs: Internal Assessment Program (IEP) and 
Operational Compliance Program (OCP) and aims to ensure that the Company has safe 
and compliant processes.

SIPLAFT: 
We created the Prevention of Money Laundering and Financing of Terrorism 
System, which seeks to prevent that the processes that we engage in are used 
to launder, to finance terrorism or to proliferate weapons of mass destruction. 
For this reason, we implemented data analysis procedures for the detection of 
suspicious operations, cash transactions, multiple load operations and warning 
signals in the processes of air transport of passengers, cargo and courier.

To strengthen our system, we created the program “Know Your Customer” in 
order to get to know our customers, employees, suppliers and people exposed 
public or politically (PEPs), to strengthen internal controls and prevent the risks 
associated with these crimes.20

17

Trained personnel: We implement trainings in:

Code of Ethics and 
Business Conduct Information 

Security 
Protecting Personal 

Data
Anticorruption 

Policy
SIPLAFT SOX

19.305 17.019 15.461 3.904 3.950300

Learn more about our ethics management on the “Ethical and integer Avianca section.” 
1 Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Own indicator. 

Risks, ethics and compliance culture
In order to continue consolidating a culture of security, risks and fulfillment within our Company, we have conducted 
communication campaigns, e-learning and in-person trainings to our stakeholders.
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• We designed the new Risk Management Model, 
reducing the required dedication time for managers and 
area leaders.

• New Governance Policy and Model for risk management 
at Avianca Holding and SBUs.

• We started the implementation of the new Risk Model 
in 12 Vice-presidencies, 4 processes, Deprisa and Avianca 
Cargo.

• We closed our operation in Venezuela and managed to 
handle the political crisis in Honduras.

• We developed the Crash Plan for technological 
contingency plans in 7 critical applications and 
started the first phase of the Business Contingency 
Management Project.

• We prevented potential frauds worth 2 million USD, 
due to the management of reports in the ethical line.

• We included the Security, Risk and 
Compliance requirements in 117 
contracts, 39 Requests for Purchase 
(RFPs) and 13 Requests for 
Quotation (RFQs).

• We enhanced the Prevention of 
Money Laundering and Financing of 
Terrorism System SIPLAFT.

• We launched and positioned the 
three-line defense model.

Risks

Compliance

• We trained 19.000 employees in terms of 
the Code of Ethics and strengthened a 
reporting culture (increased reception of 
consultations and reports by 18%)

Own indicator.

• We reduced our Transportation Security 
Administration (TSA) fines by 33%.

• Optimization of 6 million USD due to the 
management of Colombia’s tax on carbon 
causation.

• No cases of narcotics reaching their 
destinations.

• We constructed the IRO Unified Report 
for issues regarding Safety, the Health and 
Safety System, Environment and Security.

Integral Security

Acknowledgements

• Recognition for the support of the 
operations of Homeland Security 
Investigations in Colombia

• Recognition for constant support of the 
penal justice bilateral relationship between 
the USA’s Department of Justice with 
Colombia.

• Recognition for the support of the 
extradition program in Colombia and the 
United States of America.

• Recognition for continuous support and 
assistance in the DEA’s1 investigations in 
Colombia .

1Drug Enforcement Administration.

HIGHLIGHTS
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Our challenges  
2018

Despite the operational trauma generated by 
the illegal cessation of activities, we established 
different types of contingency plans (flight 
reduction, itinerary adjustments and crew 
scheduling, wet lease hiring with European 
operators) in order to ensure delivery of a 
quality and safe service that complied with the 
industry requirements for our travelers. For this 
reason, we executed risk analyses, monitoring 
and audits from the Second Defense Line to 
guarantee the operation. 

We thank the operational areas that, despite 
the situation and the problems generated by 
the illegal cessation, kept their support to the 

Company always giving the extra mile. 

• Strengthen risk management monitoring 
programs from the Second Defense Line.

• Continue to comply with the SOX Act. 
• Continue the implementation of the 

strategy for the development of a security, 
ethics, risk and compliance culture in 
Avianca.

• Strengthen Avianca’s Business Continuity 
Management System. 

• Strengthen the Business Units’ 
Governance Model to ensure alignment 
with Avianca’s Risk Management System.

• Continue monitoring the Company’s third 
parties (customers and suppliers). 

• Continue the implementation of the 
Integrated Risk Management System. 

• Establish dashboards that enable the 
holistic visualization of the Company’s 
risks.

Security and protection in    
land and air
Why is it important and how do we manage it? 

As part of the Integral Security 
Policy, we promote the reporting 
of operational events and empower 
our operational, administrative 
and managerial staff to manage 
security throughout the entire 
business. We constantly identify 
the risks generated by the dynamic 
environment in which we operate, 
among which we emphasize:

• Risk of our fatigue of our crew, 
which we seek to mitigate, 
avoiding our staff exceeding 
flight hours.

• Non-compliance with the 
procedures. 

The security system is designed 
to prevent and mitigate risks 
and, hence, consequences in the 
operation. This promotes the 
sustainability of the business, 
ensuring an exceptional and safe 
service to our customers.

We are committed to optimizing 
the processes of identification, 
evaluation and mitigation of 
operational risks. 

At Avianca Holdings, the customer is the center of everything we do. 
Therefore, our commitment and our value proposition is to provide a safe 
and comfortable travel experience. For this, we ensure that the processes 
and activities that we execute are carried out according to local and 
international regulations and standards, through the operational procedures 
established in our Integrated Risk Management System.

Impact of the illegal cessation of 
activities and contingency plan
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Our fleet also goes to the doctor
We have the most modern aeronautical center in Latin America, recognized for 
implementing reliable processes, safe, efficient and with lower environmental impacts. 
The new facilities are designed for our employees to have the best working conditions.

With the launching of our MRO (Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul) in Rionegro, 
Colombia, we have established ourselves as a source of technical knowledge in the 
region’s industry.

The triage – Online maintenance

When an aircraft arrives at an airport it is received 
by a maintenance technician, who in a preventive 
manner checks the “vital signs” of the machine 
and verifies that all its essential systems work 
correctly and so diagnose that is in optimal 
conditions to start its next flight. The aviation physicians

–  Maintenance technicians

Among technicians, inspectors, supervisors 
and engineers, Avianca has more than  

3.000 experts in different specialties. 
Before inspecting and repairing aircraft, they 
are academically trained for more than four 
years and practice to care for the health of 
airplanes. In addition, every two years they 
receive updating courses for each type of 
aircraft.

Health

The health of an aircraft is measured by its 
technical reliability. In our case, aircraft are healthy 
because their reliability is 99,48%, a figure 
that exceeds industry standards.

 Surgery – Major maintenance

During intervals of not more than two 
years, Avianca’s aircraft are sent for a major 
maintenance at the MRO in Rionegro. This 
procedure is equivalent to a surgery in which 
part of their systems are intervened: the 
engines are subject to a buroscopy (endoscopy), 
the plane is X-rayed and receives a thorough 
cabin maintenance, among other processes.

Control with the specialist. 
– Maintenance 750 flight hours

Once the aircraft completes 750 hours 
of flight, they have a routine review with a 
specialized technical team that takes care of a 
structural and detailed inspection. This revision 
resembles the control of a medical internist who 
prescribes a person a series of tests to verify 
their health.
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Tampa certification for: 
Major maintenance B787

We are ecological

Physical Adjustments  / Hangar 2

Productivity

MRO (Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul): 
Our Projects

The fact: 

The Project allows us to 
modernize our facilities 
and adjust them for better 
attention to the Wide Body 
(330 and 787) fleet.

The “in house” realization of the major 
maintenance of the 787 will represent a saving 
for the Company of more than USD 62.36 
Million in the next 15 years.

We will be the second airline certified for major 
maintenance in Latin America for 787.

LEAN methodology focuses on 
reducing waste. 

This aims to make the processes 
simpler, but at the same time, efficient 
and rigorous.

The projects will represent a saving of 
USD 100 thousand per year

We are in the certification 
process for LEED GOLD from 
the Green Building Council as a 
sustainable building.

Investment Investment
Investment

USD 1.12 Million USD 2.4 Million
USD 67 Thousand
(sustainable 
mobility) 

Avianca bets on the 
construction of eco-friendly 
facilities, so in the MRO we 
invested in 2 projects in that line. 

Photovoltaic energy

Installation of solar panels with 
a capacity to produce initially 
400KWp of energy, which 
represents 30% of the current 
consumption. Hence, reducing 
the environmental impact 
by 187 CO2 tons/year and 
generate 20% or 25% savings in 
energy costs (approximately 187 
thousand USD per year).

15 Electric bicycles

Construction of a parking lot 
and acquisition of 15 electric 
bicycles to be used within a 
circuit route that will connect 
Avianca Cargo’s Hangar with 
the MRO and the Jose Maria 
Cordova airport. 

of current 
consumption

30%

The project seeks to increase 
productivity and reduce 
maintenance costs, thanks to the 
efficiency in the use of on-land 
time of the aircraft. 

Along with the Lufthansa Technik 
team, we developed a diagnosis 
and definition of an action 
plan. It seeks to optimize the 
management processes of online 
and base maintenance through 
the efficient use of the resources 
available in the Company, based 
on the Implementation of the 
LEAN methodology.

Stages of the project under the LEAN methodology

Production 
control.

The areas in which the improvements in the 
productivity project will be focused are: 

Control of the 
improvement plan to 

verify compliance.

Define the 
problem. 

Measurements in 
the areas involved. 

Information analysis. Definition of the 
improvement plan with 

short and long term 
results. 

Planning. Logistics and 
materials.

Online 
maintenance.

What is the project about? 

The project consists of the 
refurbishment and adaptation 
of Avianca Cargo’s Hangar 
in Rionegro so that this 
structure can attend the major 
maintenance of the Boeing 787 
from 2018. 

The project includes the purchase 
of the tools for the major works, 
a change of roof and structural 
reinforcement of the Hangar, 
remodeling of the facade and 
installation of a new substation 
with the necessary capacity 
to meet the required energy 
demand.

Project dates:
Purchases

2017

March 
December

2017

01 
November

2017

31 
December

Remodeling 
Start Date

Remodeling 
Start Date

First major 
service for fleet 
787 in Rionegro

2018

March

What is the project about? 

Remodeling of warehouse areas, 
operating area, Hangar 2 and 
uncovered positions (Gulf) in 
Bogotá will be carried out to 
keep the aircraft maintenance 
certification according to FAA1 
standards. 

Within the tasks to be carried 
out, the following topics are 
covered: 

Paint the administrative 
offices and Hangar.

Repair the Hangar’s deck. Purchase a tent for 
equipment storage. 

Purchase of “Shelter” for 
fuselage and nose.

Adapt the floor, ceiling and cover of the 
administrative offices.

1Federal Aviation Administration.
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• We complied with the technical reliability 
indicator achieving 99,48%.

• We improved the stabilized approximation 
indicator.

• We carried out the initiative to review the 
application of crew assignments on the same day. 

• For the past 4 years, there were no accidents 
related to our commercial operation.

• According to the Department of Homeland 
Security of the United States of America (DHS), 
terrorist groups continue to seek ways to evade 
inspection processes, and are developing new 
ways to hide improvised explosives in uncommon 
articles among them: laptops and other electronic 
devices. Due to this threat, the Transportation 

Security Administration (TSA) during 2017 
issued an emergency amendment for flights 
to the United States in their last departure. For 
this reason, we implemented all the measures 
required by the TSA throughout our operation 
during 2017, contemplating the modification of 
procedures, staff training, equipment purchase, 
etc. This to ensure compliance with the required 
measures and the safety of our passengers.

• In September 2017 we had the Pope’s visit to 
Colombia, where we established the respective 
safety devices and we carried out the relevant 
coordination with different bodies of the state and 
gendarmerie, to guarantee the safety of all staff 
associated with this visit in Avianca’s operations.

Highlights 2017

Own indicator

Stabilized Approximations 
A stabilized approximation is presented when our flights 
do not exceed, during the approximation phase (last 1.000 
feet above the field), any of the parameters stated in the 
Stabilized Approach Policy.

In 2017, we obtained a percentage of stabilized 
approximations of 99,42% of the Holdings’ flights, 
compared to an established target of 98,50%.

Certifications obtained during 2017: 
• Revalidation of our Operational Security Management 

System for the aeronautical authority. 
• Certification of our Management and Operational 

control System through IATA’s Operational Safety 
Audit program (IOSA).

We increased the monitoring of the operation 
through our Security Management System, to 
guarantee the non-materialization of associated 
risks.

Own indicator. Security risk cases and identified 
situations of danger

Found and solved deficiencies
To efficiently manage the deficiencies or findings identified 
during the audits, inspections and investigations carried out 
by our risk management and compliance team, we count 
on the Security and Compliance Management indicator, 
with which we can monitor the management of closure 
of deficiencies in appropriate times to maintain a level of 
security and compliance.

In 2017 we handled 100% of the findings identified through 
the Security, Risk and Compliance programs. We obtained 
an improvement of 5,4% in these findings’ closing times, 
from 70% in 2016 to 75,4% in 2017. This considering that 
many of the activities that we had scheduled had to be 
reprogrammed due to the illegal cessation of activities of 
some pilots. Therefore, we focused on developing shock 
plans to avoid the materialization of some risks.

Thanks to all who were present during the illegal 
cessation of activities, who tried to maintain 

our safety levels with the highest standards and 
ensure the provision of a quality service to our 

customers.

Our challenges  
2018

• Consolidate our Integrated Management 
System including the Security Management 
System (SEMS). Within this process, we align 
those hazard identification, analysis, and 
business continuity procedures. 

• Automate and optimize an Integrated 
Operational Risk Management System, 
supported in data analytics.

• Initiate the operation of the fifth major 
maintenance line, in the second semester of 
2018, with the aim of attending the entire 
fleet of the A320, A330, ATR and B787 
family.

• Develop new capacities in our reactor 
workshop that involve the removal and 
installation of CFM56 and V2500 engine 
modules. 

• Incorporate around 30 new capacities in 
maintenance of components and electrical 
accessories installed in the A320 family’s 
aircraft.

• Integrate the use of mobile devices such as 
tablets so that our technicians, supervisors 
and inspectors perform more agile and 
productive processes. 

• Carry out inspections of our fleet of 
passengers and cargo through new 
technological tools.

Impact of the illegal cessation of 
activities and contingency plan
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It is fundamental for us to ensure 
compliance with the Corporate 
Governance principles applicable in 
the field of our operations.

We strengthen our governance 
practices that enable us to 
secure successful, profitable and 
sustainable operations, maintaining 
open and reliable communication 
with our shareholders, the 
Board of Directors and Senior 
Management. We guarantee the 
timely delivery of updated, complete 
and accurate information to the 

Corporate Governance
Why is it important and how do we manage it?

market, which allows to carry out 
detailed analyses of the Company’s 
performance, fulfilling the principles 
of transparency, opportunity and 
veracity.

To show our progress in strategic 
management and our main results 
we have the following channels: 
Investor Assistance Office, our 
website www.aviancaholdings.
com, website of the Financial 
Superintendence of Colombia 
and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC).

Our corporate governance structure establishes the general guidelines 
for managing companies integrated under the Holding. This facilitates the 
adoption of policies, processes and best practices that contribute to the 
fulfillment of our superior purpose from our strategic objectives to ensure 
compliance with the applicable regulatory framework.

Our structure has three (3) Board Committees responsible for managing 
economic, social and good governance relevant issues (Financial and 
Investment Committee, Audit Committee and Corporate Governance and 
Human Talent and Compensation Committee). The administration also has 
several specialized committees, for all of the Holding’s companies.

Generation of value through 
transparent corporate 
management.

Respect for the rights of 
shareholders and investors 

and equal treatment to those 
who belong to the same 

stakeholder group.

To comply with the 
legal obligations and 

commitments acquired 
with investors and the 

stock market.

Generation of an 
ethical culture in 
the Company.

Our corporate culture is based on integrity1:

GRI 102-18 Our Government Team

We have a management 
team highly committed 

to the achievement 
of our Flight 2020 

strategic objectives, 
with values and skills 
that give life to our 
corporate culture.

Our management team

Santiago Diago
Executive 

Vice president 
Customer 

Experience

Diana Calixto
Senior Vice 
president 

Administrative 
and Supply

Gerardo Grajales
Executive 

Vice president 
Business Units 

Roberto Held 
Otero

Senior Vice 
president 
Financial

Eduardo Asmar
Senior Vice 
president 

Strategy and 
Network

Santiago Aldana
Senior Vice 
president 
Digital and 
Technology

Eduardo Mendoza
Senior Vice 
president 
Operations

María Paula 
Duque

Senior Vice 
president 
Strategic 

Relationships

Silvia Mosquera
Executive Vice 

president of 
Sales 

Marketing and 
Income

Ana María Rubio
Senior Vice 
president 

Human Talent

Miguel Montoya
Senior Vice 
president 

Engineering and 
Maintenance

Renato Covelo
Senior Vice 
president

 Legal

Hernán Rincón
Chief Executive 
Officer CEO 

Business functions

Support functions

Assembly
of Shareholders

CEO
Hernán Rincón

Auditing and 
Corporate Governance 

Committee

Financing and 
Investment 
Committee

Human Talent and 
Compensation 

Committee

Customers Operating Financial Security and 
Compliance

Ethics Weekly RevenueIncome 
and Route 
Network

Sales, marketing 
and income

Strategic Units

1. See ‘We are all Avianca Citizens’ chapter and our ‘We Serve with Passion and Integrity’ value.

5.5 Ensure women’s full 
and effective participation 
and equal opportunities for 
leadership at all levels of 
decisionmaking in political, 
economic and public life.

Integral Security, Risk 
and Compliance General 

Directorate

Internal Auditing 
Directorate

Our Board of Directors is made of highly experienced Executives, all men over the ages of 60.

Alexander 
Bialer

Alvaro
Jaramillo

Germán
Efromovich
(president)

Isaac 
Yanovich

Board of 
Directors

Executive Committee 
(Vice Presidents’ 

participation) 

Specialized 
committees

José
Efromovich

Juan Guillermo
Serna

Oscar Dario
Morales

Ramiro
Valencia Raul

Campos
Roberto

Kriete

ANNUAL REPORT
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Highlights 2017

Our Government System

• Relations with Shareholders and Investors Office.
• Ethical Line.

• Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee.

• Financial and Investment Committee.
• Compensation and Human Talent 

Committee.
• Ethics Committee.

• Code of Ethics and Business Conduct.
• Anti-corruption Policy.
• Policy and Procedures for Negotiation of 

Shares and Securities by the Company’s 
Executives. 

• Policy of Integral System of Prevention 
and Control of Money Laundering, Risk and 
Financing of Terrorism (SIPLAFT).

• Social Pact Avianca Holdings S.A. 
• Good Corporate Governance Code.
• Board of Directors’ Regulations.
• Assembly rules.
• Regulations of the Audit and Corporate Governance 

Committee.
• Regulations of the Financial and Investment 

Committee.
• Regulations of Human Talent and Compensation 

Committee.

Good Governance Policies

Support Committees Good Governance Tools

Corporate Documents

Legal situation

Learn more about our Corporate Governance practices in our annual Corporate Governance Report on our web site: http://aviancaholdings.com/English/
corporate-governance/default.aspx 

During the social exercise up to December 31, 2017, we 
have attended demands that were requested by different 
surveillance and control entities and we complied with the 
legal norms that govern our activity.

Men

Women

30,77% 38,46%15,38% 15,38%
Between 40 and 50 

years.
Between 50 and 60 

years.
Older than 60 

years.

GRI 405-1Diversity in government organisms and employees

Percentage of Steering Committee members disaggregated by age and gender

The steering committee is composed of our Vice Presidents.

• We continued the implementation process for Corporate Governance best practices, indicated by the Country Code1, 
mainly focusing in the processes related to the disclosure of information relevant to the market, risk control and the 
improvement of architecture control processes.

• We will redefine the Holding’s Government model looking to adapt it to the diverse lines of the business.
For the third consecutive year, we held the Investor Relations (IR) Award, granted by the Colombian Stock Exchange, 
which accredits us as an issuer with more stringent Corporate Governance standards than the minimum requirements at 
a local level.

On the other hand, we comply with the regulatory requirements applicable to the Colombian Financial Superintendence, 
the Colombian Stock Exchange, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), and the policies and procedures 
established by the Company to ensure proper management of their business.

During 2017 our Board of Directors approved the following policies:

• Supply Policy for all of the Holding’s companies.
• Policy for Management of Conflicts of Interest, for administrators of Avianca Holdings S. A., Avianca S. A., 

and Directors of the Company.
• Integral Risk Management System Policy.
• Modification of the Disclosure Policy of Relevant Information for shareholders, markets, stakeholders and 

concerned third parties. 
• Modifications to the Expenditure Manual.

We have also implemented policies that allow us to ensure 
compliance with the intellectual property standards 
and copyright protection regarding the use of software 
installed by our subsidiary companies in the countries 
where we operate.

1 Country Code is a compilation of Corporate Governance best practice recommendations that apply for companies in real and financial sectors. These companies engage 
in capital market ventures: Investors, issuers, suppliers, infrastructure and supervisors. 

Our 
challenges 2018
• We will continue the process of implementing 

best Corporate Governance practices, indicated 
by Country Code1.
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Our 
resources

Our customers are the center of 
everything we do. Our goal is to 
provide them with an exceptional 
service, connect them with their 
dreams and have them live a unique 
experience in all of our points of 
contact.

At Avianca we have adopted a 
new model, which allows us to 
consolidate our service strategy 
and migrate towards a digital 
experience with technological 
innovation, surpassing all of our 
customers’ expectations and 
placing ourselves as the worlds’ 
favorite Latin American airline in 
the year 2020.

We want to ensure that, from the 
first point of contact, our customers 
anywhere in the world feel a special 
and different connection with us: 
an easy, practical and above all 
warm experience, that always leads 
them to select us. We constantly 
inquire about their expectations 
to design innovative products and 
services that fit their needs and 
preferences.

Our customer, beginning and end 
of our service strategy
Why is it important and how do we manage it? 

We seek that the voice of our 
customer is considered for 
the definition of our policies 
and procedures, generating 
actions oriented to strengthen 
our relationship. Our policies 
contemplate the issues related 
to our Frequent Flyer Program 
LifeMiles with which we seek to 
disclose the conditions to be able to 
make effective use of the Miles and 
benefits granted.

The management of our customers 
is carried out under strict 
compliance with the Aeronautical 
Regulations of the countries where 
we operate and different consumer 
protection entities.

Our Operational, Cultural 
Transformation and Customer 
Committees are a mechanism for 
managing our processes, practices 
and indicators, focused on the 
consolidation of our new service 
culture model.

Our main risks and impacts 
We have identified the main risks that could affect the relationship with our customers:

• Delays in our operation due to high levels of fleet use. 
• Limited infrastructure in connection centers (HUBs).
• Interruption in our operation due to contingencies external to the Company. 
• Handling of situations that impact the operation of the Holding. 
• Third party delays that may affect our operation.

Infrastructure 
to support the 

requirements of our 
operation

+ 100 software 
for coordination, 
monitoring and 
execution of customer 
service procedures.

Technological Tools 
(Web page, mobile 
applications, social 

networks).

9.000 people 
supporting design 
processes and service 
delivery

ANNUAL REPORT
2017
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The union of our exceptional service, human talent, the best technology for innovation 
and making a difference for the benefit of the customer, is the basis of the macro project 
that we are now advancing, to build and provide that service experience to travelers for 
choosing us.

This plan is developed on four fronts, which are intertwined and provide an agile, efficient 
and differentiated assistance in each of the processes of our operation.

Exceptional Service

 Exceptional Service
CUSTOMER

SERVICE
CUSTOMER 

first

Digital 
TRANSFORMATION

CUSTOMER

TE
C

N
O

LO
G

Y

PE
O

PL
E

Customer Plan: 
Defines the service experience we want our passengers to live in the 24 
points of contact with us, at different times of their travel experience:

Service culture
Service defines the behavioral profile of our people in which the service 
strategy will be leveraged to achieve consistency in the travel experience 
of our customers. It is characterized by:

Digital transformation
It is aimed at offering a personalized customer service that  
anticipates their needs and goes beyond their expectations.

Customer First: 
We develop and implement tools that make it easier for the 
Company and our people to provide a superior experience, through 
process optimization and customer connection. 

• Know and identify customers to understand their preferences 
and needs.

• Have information that allows decision-making.

• Improve customer experience with service offering optimization 
and process automation.

• Increase revenue and reduce our costs through better tools and 
services.

Thanks to the tools of our Customer First front, we achieved the 
reaccommodation of 960 thousand passengers that were affected 
by the illegal cessation of activities.

HUMAN TALENT 
SKILLS: 

Be service-
oriented leaders 
that achieve 
results and adapt 
to the industry 
and change.

A UNIQUE 
CULTURE: 

Appropriating and 
living the Strategic 
North (mission, 
vision, values) 
reflecting it in each 
of our actions with 
the internal and 
external customer.

STANDARDIZED 
PROGRAMS: 

To approve the 
process of training 
in service in Avianca 
Holdings S.A., 
achieving consistency 
in the travel 
experience of our 
customers. 

BEHAVIOR IN 
SERVICE:

To make kindness, 
empathy, proactivity 
and practicality, 
behaviors that 
pleasantly surprise 
the customer.

5 Post travel: 
Provide agile, efficient and 
differentiating assistance in the 
processes of special services, 
connections and handling 
of baggage, according to the 
requirements of the customers.

4 Travel: 
To offer an exceptional experience 
on board, through an entertainment 
system and an innovative interior 
design, accompanied by a surprising 
service that allows the traveler to 
choose those benefits of his/her 
preference.

1 2 3Engagement: 
Position the brand 
as the preferred 
one in the world to 
fly to and from Latin 
America.

Purchase: 
To support the sales 
process through 
technological tools and 
the development of the 
commercial and service 
skills of our people. 

Pre-trip: 
To expedite, facilitate and 
innovate in customer 
care processes before 
and during their stay at 
the airport, providing 
a standardized and 
differentiated service.

6 Transversal:
Ensure timely and consistent information to our travelers 
providing quality service to the customer, even in 
situations of irregularity.

Optimizing 
the media 
purchases 
strategy.

To propose 
new guidelines 

to design 
and publish 

content.

To implement 
strategies 
and tools 

that provide 
a specific and 

complete 
knowledge of 
the customer. 

To work 
flexibly 

and agilely, 
adapting and 

adopting 
changes in 
the various 

processes of 
the Company.

1 4
2 3

To achieve the goals of digital transformation 
the project focuses on: 

1 42 3

plan

culture
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The main indicators that we manage from the Vice 
Presidency of Customer Experience:

The purpose of measuring the 
complaint rate is to identify an order 
of magnitude of the proportion of 
travelers who complain at some 
point in the process of our service. 
Thus, it is possible to classify the 
type of complaint depending on 
the type of process (Contact Center, 
airports, VIP rooms, commercial and 
frequent flyer program). 

The illegal cessation of activities of 
the ACDAC Pilots Union impacted 
the volume of complaints 
received: 

During the months of the cessa-
tion, complaints related to irregu-
larities of the operation accoun-
ted for 21% of the total number 
of complaints. Compared to the 
same period last year, a 40% in-
crease was presented in the total 
number of complaints received.

Complaint Index 2017: 

•Real: 
29,37

•Goal: 
21,81

Net Promoter Score (NPS):

In Avianca Holdings we consider the 
customers the center of what we do 
and work to fulfill their expectations 
and be aware of their opinions. For 
this reason, and in order to gain 
loyalty, we seek that the customers 
voice transcends and is part of the 
design of the experience map and 
the definition of procedures.

Net Promoter Score (NPS) allows 
us to evaluate the relationship 
with customers and their loyalty, 
through measuring the probability 
of recommending our Company. 
This study helps us identify what the 
customer values and evaluate their 
satisfaction, so that we identify our 
strengths and areas of improvement 
in the different points of contact.

48% NPS 2017
The main reasons for the fall 
compared to 2016 are due to the 
illegal cessation of activities, which 
had an impact on the punctuality of 
the flights and overall satisfaction 
of our customers. For this reason, 
we consider focusing on the 
management of the improvement 
of the flights punctuality, proactive 
communication with our customers, 
to improve the perception of the 
brand, to generate solutions before 
irregularities, as well as to maintain 
and to replicate the good practices 
regarding service training.

Ranking Skytrax:

Includes customer service criteria: 
staff, catering on board, comfort 
on waiting rooms and efficiency on 
boarding.

The results, through which Avianca 
obtained a new international 
recognition, considered the opinion 
of almost 20 million passengers from 
105 nationalities, turning Skytrax into 
the world’s most respected global 
passenger survey.

We are the: “Best Airline of South 
America” and “best Regional Airline of 
South America”

Own indicator
Top 50 in Skytrax

Complaint Index

We implemented various activities from the 4 fronts of our 
Excepcional Service project. We mention the most outstanding 
below: 
• We incorporated 4 NEO aircraft (2 A320 and 2 A321) in our 

fleet, with a cabin designed to improve the experience and 
comfort of our passengers. The seats offer an innovative 
solution, thanks to a combination of comfort for the 
passenger and the optimization of the cabin space.

• We started the launching of a new VIP room in Bogotá, 
home terminal1, which will be opened in 2018.

• We implemented the virtual magazine “Pasa la Página” in 
our VIP rooms. 

• We remodeled our sales points. • We have finished the implementation of our 
“Wireless” entertainment system in 10 A318 
aircraft. This allows our passengers to have access 
to more entertainment content during their 
flight, through an app, which can be used with the 
aircraft’s wireless network.

• We have a new entertainment system “Rave 
Centric” in our NEO fleet, which has individual 
screens with cutting edge technology and more 
sensitive to the touch, and the application “Second 
Screen”, which allows the synchronization of mobile 
devices of passengers to use them remotely  for the 
contents preselection.

• We created protocols processes and methodologies 
to provide exceptional service and positively 
surprise our customers in different points of 
contact.

1El Dorado Airport - Bogotá

Own indicator

HIGHLIGHTS
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• Through amazing service protocols, we improved 
the experience of our customers in VIP rooms and 
during the flight. We carried out 23 activities for our 
customers during 2017, among which we highlight 
concerts on board our flights and events for special 
dates. 

• We created a differentiated attention at the Contact 
Center to cater our frequent travelers. 

• We improved the check in process and reception of 
baggage timing with a new layout1 implemented in 
some bases.

• We implemented the concierge service for 
personalized interaction with our most valued 
customers.

• We improved and increased contents in the 
Entertainment System on board such as the 
IFE2 video promotion and live the Business Class 
experience in chairs 787. (We went from 56 movies 

to 140, from 146 TV episodes to 360 and from 9 
music CDs to 288). 

• We improved food supply for our passengers, 
standard improvements were implemented for the 
service protocol, food and beverage for a step-by-
step experience and many other options for our 
passengers to enjoy a better experience. 

• We increased the capacity of our Diamond 
International VIP room by 10%. 

• We created the Customer Protection Center (CPC) 
a key BackOffice area to manage operational 
irregularities. 

• We implemented the Control HUB in Lima, which 
allows the coordination of the different operational 
areas of the airport. 

• We carried out the transportation of San Andrés and 
Valledupar routes from the  “Puente Aéreo” Terminal 
to the new El Dorado International Airport. 

Digital experience 
In our Flight 2020, we seek to strengthen 
the digital experience of our customers 
through interactive projects for the whole 
trip, focused on delivering a personalized 
and innovative service.

 Our travelers know and interact with 
Avianca through:

1Number of counters available to manage this type of services.
2In-flight entertainment

CARLA
Facebook Messenger Chatbot where you 
can: Check miles, buy flights and save the 
last trips made or our favorite itineraries. 
Also, it allows tickets to be downloaded 
downloaded by means of applications like 
Wallet.

APP - AVIANCA
With the application for mobile devices, 
available in Spanish, English and 
Portuguese, customers can: buy tickets 
online, Check In and monitor flights. 

AVIANCA.com
Update of contents, greater reliability, 
accessibility, agility in navigation and 
faster response times are part of the 
innovations of the page.

Highlights 2017

• Definitive transfer of the “Puente Aéreo” Terminal to 
El Dorado International Airport.

• Implementation of the new standard of on board 
blankets that guarantees an excellent experience to 
our passengers.

• Homologation of the blankets’ standard for the 
Holding. 

• From January 2018, the entertainment system will 
have a greater amount of content that depends on 
the type of aircraft and the duration of the flight. 
However, with the new strategy, passengers will be 
able to enjoy up to 500 contents (Movies and TV) and 
288 music CDs. There will be new content categories 
such as TED talks, YouTubers, Current Hits movies, 
Slow TV (or relaxation content) and content in their 
original language only. We will implement new games 
in the entertainment system, looking to renew the 
current offer. 

• Internet service on board that will allow passengers to 
surf the internet, watch streaming videos and review 
their social networks during flights on their mobile 
and portable devices. During the first semester of 

2018, the implementation of this service is estimated 
on two aircraft.

• Implementation of Content To Go, which is to 
provide a complementary entertainment system for 
those aircraft that do not have their own systems 
on board or for those with general entertainment 
screens. Through this system, passengers will be 
able to personalize their entertainment experience, 
downloading content (Movies and series) from an 
application to their personal electronic devices.

• Improvement in boarding, through a redesign of rows 
that allows to organize and to speed up boarding in all 
the airports. 

• Throughout the year, initiatives will be implemented 
in the food and beverage service on board looking 
to offer an exceptional service, among them: 
Change of menu on board starting on July 1, 2018, 
where we will have new concepts at a global level, 
improvement in the offer of wines advised by a 
sommelier, improvement in the variety of breads 
and creating the coffee experience for our executive 
class passengers.

Our challenges 2018

Because “we are one and we enjoy what we do”, we 
worked together during the illegal cessation of activities 
to fulfill our promise of providing an exceptional service 
to our customers at all times. 

We implemented a collision plan in which we 
established the following positions in charge of high 
impact processes:

• Rescheduling of bookings, rearranging traffic and 
cancelling flights. 

• 24-hour service at our Call Center.

• Temporary office next to national counters to 
provide effective responses. 

• Link and coordination of transport and hotels and 
feeds (information screens with the departure of 
flights).

Impact of the illegal cessation of 
activities and contingency plan
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5.  Avianca was recognized by the Consumers and Users 
Organization (OCU), as the second-best airline in 
the world in service. More than 11.000 passengers 
from Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Denmark, France, 
Italy, Portugal and Spain valued their experience in 
more than 20.000 flights in 2016, qualifying Avianca’s 
service as the second with the highest standards of 
quality and attention.

4. In 2017, we were recognized in the Effie and Echo Awards by the Avianca Last Minute initiative 
that was activated since the end of 2016, in response to an operational crisis caused by climate 
and infrastructure, with the aim of making the customer the center of our attention, ensuring 
that they always had official information of the situation presented and found channels to 
resolve their doubts.

International Gold LATAM Golds

• Get 4 stars in the Skytrax Rating. 
• Stay within the top 50 of Skytrax’s ranking. 

6. Within the framework of the Andean Conference of 
Contact Centers and CRM, we celebrated the awards 
ceremony:

• Gold Best Human Resource Management in Latin 
America.

• Gold Best Contact Center and Call Center Operation for 
Colombia.

Our challenges 2018

Our Awards in 2017  

• Best South American 
Airline

• Best Regional Airline in 
South America

1. Avianca has been awarded the best airline 
in South America for 2017 according to the 
annual classification presented by Skytrax.

2. Tripadvisor Travelers Choice Awards for 
Airlines - Avianca recognized as the best 
airline in Latin America.

3. We are a 5-star airline. This recognition was 
awarded by APEX (Airline Passenger Experience) 
for 2018. The mention was obtained in the category 
of Best Regional Airline South America.
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3.2 By 2030, end preventable deaths 
of newborns and children under 
5 years of age, with all countries 
aiming to reduce neonatal mortality 
to at least as low as 12 per 1,000 
live births and under-5 mortality to 
at least as low as 25 per 1,000 live 
births.

4.3 By 2030, ensure equal access for 
all women and men to affordable 
and quality technical, vocational 
and tertiary education, including 
university.

4.5 By 2030, eliminate gender 
disparities in education and 
ensure equal access to all levels of 
education and vocational training 
for the vulnerable, including persons 
with disabilities, indigenous peoples 
and children in vulnerable situations.

5.1 End all forms of discrimination 
against all women and girls 
everywhere.

5.4 Recognize and value unpaid 
care and domestic work through 
the provision of public services, 
infrastructure and social protection 
policies and the promotion of 
shared responsibility within the 
household and the family as 
nationally appropriate.

5.5 Ensure women’s full and 
effective participation and equal 
opportunities for leadership at all 
levels of decisionmaking in political, 
economic and public life.

8.2 Achieve higher levels of 
economic productivity through 
diversification, technological 
upgrading and innovation, including 
through a focus on high-value added 
and labour-intensive sectors.

8.5 By 2030, achieve full and 
productive employment and decent 
work for all women and men, 
including for young people and 
persons with disabilities, and equal 
pay for work of equal value.

8.6 By 2020, substantially reduce 
the proportion of youth not in 
employment, education or training.

10.3 Ensure equal opportunity 
and reduce inequalities of 
outcome, including by eliminating 
discriminatory laws, policies 
and practices and promoting 
appropriate legislation, policies and 
action in this regard.

Responsible management of 
our employees



96 97Annual Report 2017 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

 
We are a team of 19.278 employees, 7.745 women and 11.533 men 
who in 27 countries enjoy what we do.2

Our People1

16 24

United States

181 120

Canada

2 1

Argentina
17 34

Chile

8 10

Peru

863 696

10 4

Uruguay

Paraguay

4 18

5 2
Brazil

Colombia

6.427 4.715

Ecuador

655 362

Bolivia

Mexico

39 40

El Salvador

1.956 1.089

1

4

United Kingdom

6

Spain

25 35

France

Aruba

Cuba

14 9
2

Puerto
Rico

1 2
Curazao

4 6

24 36

Panama
738 324

Costa Rica

354 118

Guatemala

Nicaragua

38 13

Honduras

76142

Number of employees distributed by 
gender and type of work day

2017

10.952
7.053

692581 228 195

Full time Part time  Full time interns

Number of employees by type of position 
(top management and middle positions) by gender

2017

80 47 192
258

Top management (VPs and Directors) Middle positions (Managers)

Number of employees by type of position 
(administrative, operative and inters) by gender

2017

1.906
9.289

228 2.204
5.302

195

Administrative Operative Interns

46

CAM CAR CO EUR NAM SAM

4.846
3.277

11 404 70   1 383 33119

2.397

7.854

62

Number of employees distributed by 
region and type of contract 2017

Permanent Fixed Term

Third parties approx Fixed Term Interns

Our employees in Top Management and Middle Positions 
by age and gender

Our Administrative and Operative employees by age and gender

Top management

Total employees

5      6% 

16    20%

39     49%

20     25%80
Total employees

47

5     11%

30    64%

12     26%

Total employees

5      2%

36    14%

107    41%

104    40%

Middle positions

258
6    2%

Total employees
192

Under 20 years
Between 20 and 30 years
Between 30 and 40 years
Between 40 and 50 years
Between 50 and 60 years
Over 60 years

2     1%

16     8%

88    46%

83     43%

3     2%

GRI 102-7; 102-8; 405-1

GRI 405-1

1The initials CAR, SAM, CAM, CO, EUR and NAM refer to the Caribbean regions, South America, Central 
America, Colombia, Europe and North America, respectively.
2Within the scope of the infographics the figures of our student interns were not included, as well as the 
employees linked through Getcom, La Costeña and Servicios Aeroportuarios Integrados (SAI), which repre-
sent more than 4.600 employees.
3The scope of our workforce disaggregated by gender, age and positions does not include student interns.
4We used to have a team of 47 people in Venezuela, which worked with us until august 2017 due to the 
closure of our operation.

Total employees

43     2%

144    8%

327   17%

784    41%

Administrative

1.906

Operative

607  32%

Total employees
2.204

Total employees
9.289

Total employees
5.302

17    1%

148   7%

347   16%

925   42%

226    2%

918    10%

1.637  18%

3.223  35%

3.261  35%

197    4%

585   11%

1.855  35%

2.634   50%
1   * 3   * 24  *

8     *

23  *
764  35%   

*These values don’t represent more than 0,01%

ANNUAL REPORT
2017

Dominican 
Republic

,4
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Why is it important and 
how do we manage it?  
Our employees give life to our Company. We have world 
class talent that seeks to always give more to provide an 
exceptional experience to our customers. This makes us 
unique in the industry and guides us to our Flight 2020 
looking to be the preferred airline in the world.

Thanks to our people we have advanced together 
towards Avianca’s Strategic North, strengthening our 
commitment, working as one and enjoying what we do1. 
Our management is focused on attracting, developing and 
engaging the best talent in the region and the world, within 
our service-oriented culture, through a humanely effective 
leadership.

Based on the results, we will work together in the construction and 
management of actions that will help us maintain and increase the level 
of engagement, which leverages the achievement of the Avianca Strategy.

Own Indicator. Satisfaction in Service 
Variables
At Avianca, we evaluate the effectiveness 
of our service program through the Net 
Promoter Score (NPS), through variables 
such as service efficiency, our peoples’ 
kindness on land and air, and clarity and 
consistency of the information provided to 
our travelers.

Our attraction, selection, retention and promotion 
processes are based on skills, values, performance and 
commitment of our people. We promote diversity, equity, 
decent work, competitiveness, variable compensation 
schemes and emotional wages to achieve an exceptional 
work experience, in an atmosphere of harmony and balance 
between our working and personal life.

This allows us to fulfill our most challenging goal: to be 
a world-class airline, strengthening a labor culture that 
reflects excellence in everything we do.

In order to manage our talent within a culture of leadership 
and service, we have the Compensation Policy, General 
Policy of Talent Attraction, Benefit Policy, Emotional 
Wages Policy (Home Office and flexible timetable), Integral 
Handbook of the Avianca Academy and Mobility Plan in 
order to contribute to the well-being of our employees and 
to the achievement of our Flight 2020.

With the results of the Culture Survey, substantial advances 
were evident:

• Focus on our customer: positioning of the client as 
the center of everything we do.

• Teamwork orientation: Empowering spaces for open 
communication between working teams.

• Coordination and Integration: Implementation of 
customer-oriented technology that strengthens the 
efficiency of interfunctional work. 

Our work focus for 2018:

• Prioritization of transversal processes aligned to an 
Exceptional Service.

• Integration of key stakeholders that have an impact 
on the operation.

• Delegation and empowerment to strengthen our 
growth.
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The Culture  
Survey was sent to  

18.930
people and we obtained a 

77%response

To evaluate the alignment of values, beliefs and principles with our 
Vision 2020, the Senior Vice-Presidency of Human Talent conducted 
an Organizational Culture survey among our people. The results 
showed that we are clear about what we are doing and where 
we are going, which motivates us to continue working to achieve 
our vision of being the best airline in Latin America through the 
orientation of each work towards the corporate objectives.

 Own Indicator .  Engagement Study 
To evaluate our people’s feeling towards the Company, in 2017 we made an engagement measurement of 
our Avianca team.

As a result we obtained a 66% 

203 
points 

Participation

131 
points 

Adaptability

196 
points 

Consistency

208 
points

Mission

CULTURE 
SURVEY

Results:

1. Learn more about our corporate values in the chapter “About Avianca Holdings S.A.”.

With the survey we were looking 
to evaluate the effectiveness 

of our 4 dimensional leadership 
program. 

Own Indicator. Culture Survey

We obtained a 
satisfactory and 
challenging result: 
81% of our people feel 
committed to Avianca, 
which exceeds the 
results of the industry 
and other companies 
at a Latin American 
Level. This reaffirms 
that the actions we 
have been developing 
are aimed at improving 
the commitment of our 
people.

level of satisfaction compared to a 60% 
proposed for 2017 in Colombia. 

At Avianca Holdings level we obtained a 64% 
for this indicator.

Evaluated Variables

LEADERSHIP

PERFORMANCE

WORK

BASICS

THE 
COMPANY’S 
PRACTICES

BRAND

ENGAGEMENT
STUDY

• High management
• Leadership BU

• Career opportunities
• Learning and 

development 
• Performance 

management
• People management
• Remuneration and 

knowledge

• Benefits
• Labor stability
• Industrial safety
• Working environment
• Life/work balance

• Collaboration 
• Empowerment/autonomy
• Daily chores

• Communication
• Focus on the 

customer
• Diversity and 

inclusion
• Available 

infrastructure
• Talent and resources

• Reputation
• Brand/PVE
• Corporate responsibility
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Our Talent Management Strategy
To fulfill our Vision 2020 within a culture of leadership and service, we manage our talent through 
the development cycle:

In Avianca we accompany our people in their development from the first day, reinforcing their skills, guiding their growth 
within the Company and preparing them for future positions. 

The following are mechanisms to monitor and trace our management:

• Regular meetings with our teams to develop, implement and monitor projects and initiatives. 
• Performance measurement assessments. 
• Alignment of objectives. 
• Measurement of culture and engagement surveys. 
• Performance conversations with our leaders. 
• Inter-area meetings, with suppliers or strategic allies. 
• Measurement of indicators according to projects and activities to be carried out.

GRI 401-1 Our hiring

During 2017 we directly hired personnel that was previously working for Servicopava and did the same for our employees 
that supported the services of Servicios Aeroportuarios Integrados (SAI). These changes had an impact on our main 
indicators regarding attraction and retention of talent.

Under 20 years old
Between 20 and 30 years
Between 30 and 40 years

Between 40 and 50 years
Between 50 and 60 years
Over 60 years of age

11
233
91
22
1
1

4
201
43
3

CAR

14
8
8
7
1

8
10
5
1

3
106
34
3

70
40
2
1
1

SAM NAM

2
2

1

5
3

EUR

1

GRI 401-1 Withdrawals

43
1.804
905
234
70
15

37 
1.581
596
163
29

39
1.279
1.081
480
158
32

14
682
377
135
36
6

5
146
180
89
30
14

1
124
124
47
6
6

We have a 

33,32%

LE
ADERSHIP

ORIENTATION TO SERVICE

O
R

IEN
TATIO

N TO RESULT ADAPTABILIT
Y

Internal 
client

leadership

Commitm
en

Auto 
development

Culture

Corporate 
training

Attraction

Performance 
management

career plan

Development 
70 20 10

Talent and 
succession

Organizational 
transformation

We identify exceptional 
employees who meet the 
expected results and skill 
levels. 

We develop the 
skills required 
for the position I 
want to take How 
far do I want to 
go?

We attract people with the level of 
skills desired for the position.

At our corporate training 
schools we develop the 
skills. 

From the development of the adaptability 
skill, we enable in our people the 
organizational transformation to respond 
with agility to the changes of the industry 
and the environment. 

We evaluate the level of 
adjustment of the skills to 

determine how to reach our 
individual objectives.

We offer tools for 
self-development 
skills through 
the 70, 20, 10 
methodology. 

Ta
le

nt
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t  

    
     

      
                                         Talent D

evelopm
ent

recruitment rate

Our hiring in 2017 disaggregated 
by region, age and gender

Our hiring in Colombia during 2017 
disaggregated by age and gender

Number of withdrawals 2017-CO

Number of withdrawals 2017-CAM

Other withdrawals 2017

Under 20 years old      Between 20 and 30 years      Between 30 and 40 years     Between 40 and 50 years     Between 50 and 60 years     Over 60 years of age 
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GRI 401-1 Turnover rate1 

During 2017 and due to the labor formalization program, the 
turnover rate increased from 16,6% in 2016 to 31,2% in 2017.

On October 31, 2017 in Colombia, Avianca S.A. celebrated 
the labor formalization agreement with the Ministry 
of Labor and the company Servicios Aeroportuarios 

Our challenges 2018
In attraction and retention of our employees 
• Achieve a 37% coverage of the job-vacancy indicator with internal staff. 
• Structure succession plans for the Company’s critical positions with identified talents. 
• Get at least a 70% satisfaction in the Talent Attraction Service Survey.
• Improve our position in the Survey La Carrera de los Sueños de Jóvenes 2018 Colombia. 
• Attract the best talent and achieve more recruitment effectiveness through the following channels: Facebook, 

LinkedIn, labor fairs and internal applications.
• Close 90% of our talent attraction processes in a timely manner for each position family and this way comply with 

the service agreements to our customer areas.

Our certifications 
In attraction and retention of talent: 

In 2017 we received the certification from the 
company TIMS for the management of the DISC 
model (Domain, Influence, Solidity and Control), which 
corresponds to an application tool in organizations 
that provides information on personality traits and 
predominant behaviors, aligned to our 4 corporate 
skills (Adaptability, Leadership, Orientation to service 
and Orientation to the results).

Integrados S.A.S. (SAI), incorporating more than 3.500 
employees who previously worked for Servicopaba, which 
benefited about 1.688 workers, who were directly hired 
by Avianca S.A. and 1.842 workers were directly hired by 
SAI2.

• We aligned the talent attraction teams and the 
Operational Services Center, through bi-monthly 
trainings and follow-up, to ensure the closure of 
selection processes on time for 90% of the job-
vacancies. 

• We designed the Onboarding program to welcome our 
new employees into the Company, providing all tools 
required for work, as well as complete alignment to 
their new position in the Company.

• We carried out the Trainee Copilot Program (under 21 
years of age or without experience) and administrative 
(personnel in training) that seeks the incorporation 
of potential candidates to specific projects of the 
Company, to identify and develop talents for future 
job-vacancies.

• We launched the Magneto Technology Platform, with 
which we seek to make video interviews online to 
schedule and evaluate candidates massively, which 
reduced by 63% the minutes allocated for a candidate 
review.

• We participated in 71 job and university fairs at global 
level, distributed in the following way; 28 in Colombia, 
11 in Ecuador, 8 in Peru, 20 in El Salvador and 4 in 
Costa Rica, all to position ourselves as an employer 
brand. 

• We obtained the fifth place in Colombia in the Survey 
La Carrera de los Sueños de Jóvenes 2017 and the first 
place in El Salvador.

Highlights 2017

Corporate 
Competencies

Adaptability
Leadership

Orientation to service
Orientation to result

4

1The turnover rate corresponds to the sum of withdrawals of the last year divided by the average of our workforce of last year.
2Learn more about our management in the chapter “Decent work and social dialogue”

Turnover Rate 
of the Holding:

31,2%

56,25 
17,34
15,16
14,46
9,88
22,62

28,57
20,10
19,16
20,91
8,08
150

0
26,32
13,45
5,84
19,51
0

31,58
23,08
3,67
16,36
3,28
31,58

25
10,06
10,25
11,88
13,93
21,51

0
14,30
12,48
15,69
20,51
66,67

25
10

35,29

CAR %

153,49
61,43
44,02
39,05
26,60
54,29

113,91
42,59
26,81
23,28
20,05
169,01

CO y EUR %

CAM- turnover rate broken down 
by age and gender

CO and EUR- turnover rate broken 
down by age and gender

Under 20 years old
Between 20 and 30 years
Between 30 and 40 years

Between 40 and 50 years
Between 50 and 60 years
Over 60 years of age

NAM- turnover rate broken down 
by age and gender

CAR- turnover rate broken down 
by age and gender

SAM- turnover rate broken 
down by age and gender
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 A committed and world-class team
GRI 404-2

Leaders who achieve results and adapt with agility to changes. These are the characteristics of the people who make up 
Avianca’s talent. “Pasión es +” (Passion is more) is the strategic program that, through schools and programs, provides 
tools for each member of the Company to strengthen their professional and service skills.

Our Leadership Program
Our Service Program

We continue moving forward in the implementation of our humanely 
effective leadership model, which seeks for Avianca’s leaders to 
manage their own tasks and promote the behaviors of this culture 
within their teams. Each pillar and its behaviors are related to the 
four skills of our Avianca employee (Service orientation, Leadership, 
Orientation to results and Adaptability).

Own indicator 

In 2017 we started the leadership program for our Avianca team, 
dividing it into 3 groups: Alignment (CEO and VPs), Development 
(directors and managers) and Motivation (middle positions).

Academic Strategy

Learning through 
experience and practice in 

the workplace.

70
Learning through 
interaction with 

others.

20
Learning through 

courses and 
training.

10

  Empathy 
Enhance my emotional and relational skills to provide answers that adjust to 
the customer’s needs. 

  Proactivity
Optimize the use of our personal, physical and  technological resources as well 
as the conscious delivery of our service tools.

As part of the corporate training strategy aimed at our people, we integrate 
the skill of adaptability in order to promote and guarantee the cultural 
transformation, through the generation of tactical and strategic skills oriented 
to skill development.

In our Service School we have trained more than 700 people in Colombia, El 
Salvador and Peru throughout 2017.

Behavioral profile 

With process optimization and technology adoption, we will make the following 
behaviors pleasantly surprise our customers:

The Service Program lasts 4 consecutive days, where the behaviors of the 
service are developed, giving tools to our people to provide an exceptional 
service, which leverages the achievement of our corporate strategy.

  Practicality 
Build customized strategies to conquer our customers.

  Kindness 
Connect my personal essence, our corporate mission and my service purpose. 

Pre-Pensioners’ meeting: We carry out half-yearly coaching sessions aimed at our employees in 
Colombia who are close to reaching their age of retirement (3 years or less). They aim to provide tools 
for the change that will entail their withdrawal (includes financial, psychological and legal component) 
and guarantee the timely management of their pension.

Leadership model
I INSPIRE 
with my example I COMMUNICATE           

and converse clearly and 
opportunely

I AM INTEGRATED      
to my team and the 
procedures

I ENABLE  
the development and 
achievement of my 
team

Orientation to service
Le

adership

A
daptabilityOrienta

tio
n 

to
 re

su
lt

Leadership Program 
Training Hours 

66.432
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Center of Operational Excellence (CEO)
Reference for the training of Avianca’s Human Talent

	

	

	

One of the A320 flight simulators is already 
in operation. This is where this fleet’s pilots 
receive their training. At the same time, 
Avianca Services sells the available training 
hours for pilots of its customer airlines.

The CEO (acronym in Spanish) concentrates 
the management of the operation and the 

training of our people in a single place. Here 
is where the Vice-Precidency of Operations 
and Technical team makes decisions about 
the operation of each flight in a centralized 

and efficient manner.

With the support of the latest generation 
technology, members of the different flight 
operations area, land operations, pilots and 
crews strengthen their knowledge and skills 
to align them with industry trends and the 
provision of an exceptional service.

In the MOCKUP 
(Cabin Scale 

Model) the flight 
attendants 

carry out their 
training regarding 

passenger 
service on board 

and reaction to 
emergencies. 

Thanks to the strategic location of the SOC 
control, we monitor all of our operation 
live 24/7.

Highlights 2017

• We executed phase 1 of our Staff Service Program 
that was delivered first to the customer-facing 
employees. 

• We carried out the implementation of the Virtual 
Corporate Induction: “Bienvenido a Bordo” 
(Welcome on Board) prior to the employee’s entry.

• We made 2 Avianca Citizen Creative Workshops 
in Bogotá and El Salvador with interdisciplinary 
teams, to consolidate the Citizen’s profile, 
including the key attributes of our Avianca culture, 
based on the knowledge, sense, skills and the will 
that characterize us. Being an Avianca Citizen also 

implies living the 4 approaches that determine it:
• Knowing - Brings together the knowledge 

of our Company: Strategic North, indicators, 
customer profile and process management.

• Wanting – It’s the sense of being here: values, 
passion and commitment.

• Power - Are the skills that I develop to obtain 
it: corporate skills.

• Doing - The will I have to make things 
happen: digital natives, social sensitivity, and 
recognitions.

Our challenges 2018
• Continue the successful implementation of phase 1 of our Staff Service Program and initiate the implementation of 

phase 2 Staff with internal instructors through the preparation of Company trainers. 
• Mobilize the model 70-20-10 that will drive the corporate training strategies .
• Complete the successful implementation of the leadership program to leverage the transformation of our culture, 

permeating the following postulates:

Plan Leaving a Mark 
Our Culture and Commitment Postulates

At Avianca:

• We are close and reachable 
leaders.

• We talk about our performance.
• We spontaneously recognize 

individual and team 
achievements.

• We are responsible for our self-
development.

• We develop our talents and 
provide opportunities to enhance 
our capacities.

• We coordinate our actions 
focusing on generating value 
for our clients by aligning our 
processes and the achievement 
of our Corporate Objectives.
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Our Avianca Academy
With an integral, innovative and sustainable vision, we manage the 
training for Avianca Holdings world-class talent.

One of our most important training initiatives of the 2017 
was the Avianca Academy, which is aimed at enhancing 
the skills of our human talent by integrating learning 
methodologies with the best technology.

Air Operation Centers (COAs1) Pilots 
Colombia  54.375 
El Salvador 5.418 
Peru 12.341 
Costa Rica 7.310 
Guatemala & Honduras 5.074 
Total 84.518 

* AVH Trainings Airports and maintenance, AV crew members and operator shippings.
1 COAs acronym in Spanish: Centros de Operación Aérea

Own indicator.  Regulated Training Hours

We launched the E-Academy platform, a learning 
management system that facilitates the communication 
between students and instructors through forums and 
online tutorials. This way we build a community that 
manages the knowledge in real time and that has content 
at their fingertips.

Avianca Academy

1 2 3 4WE DESIGN  and 
develop contents and 
learning means for all 
of Avianca’s employees.

WE PERFORM the 
programming and 
monitoring of all training 
actions through the tools 
AMOS and MINT.

 OUR TRAINING  
centers are certified.

WE ARE AT THE 
FOREFRONT of audit 
processes involving 
elements associated with 
the training of our teams.

Highlights 2017

• E-Academy as a virtual learning management 
platform for the Holding reached 27.746 registered 
users. 

• We used the AMOS and MINT technology platforms 
to manage information on land and flight training. 

• We started the project of virtual reality incorporation 
for the cabin and ground handling crew training. 

• We implemented e-Academy for mobile devices.
• We standardized the skills training programs for the 

cabin, airports, cargo crew in Avianca S.A. 
• We diagnosed the Holding’s level of English. The 

results will lead the strategies on the pursuit of the 
homologation of a B2 level in 2020.

Our challenges 2018
• Implement the first virtual reality pilot in the cabin and ramp crew trainings. 
• Maintain the mobile e-Academy platform. 
• Have the knowledge management platform for instructors. 
• Perform the service program formations to the internal instructors in conjunction with our academy.
• Implement efficiencies in training hours for land personnel that meet the standards required for each country of 

each of the operators.
• Strengthen and enhance systematized programming for all target audiences at a Holding level.

Audits carried out in 2017
• We received 145 auditing visits by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and the European Air Safety Agency, 

as well as visits from the authorities of the different Holding operators.

233.568

15.916

337.931

Own indicator. Formation Hours – Avianca Academy 
Programs

During 2017 we had  

233.478 
hours of training for 
our passenger flight 
crewmembers in 
Colombia.

Ships           Maintenance          Airports



110 111Annual Report 2017 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

GRI 404-3 Conversations to motivate performance and development

At Avianca, leaders engage in dialogue with their teams in order to align their objectives, coordinate their actions for 
development and grow along with the Company; all aboard the same aircraft, towards the same destination. In 2017, 
66% of our employees received a performance assessment.

12.889 
of our employees received 
a performance evaluation 
during 2017.

66% 
of our people, who participated in the engagement study, believe that there is an 
adequate balance between their work commitments and their personal life.

An exceptional experience for our people
Emotional wages for happier teams

In order to allow our talents to engage in different connections within the work environment, we created a set of benefits 
focused on the well-being of our employees. These are initiatives that complement the economic wage and make balance 
between work and personal life possible, thus consolidating a happier and committed team:

Those who work in the administrative areas can 
choose between two schedules from Monday to 
Thursday, allowing them to select the one that 
suits their needs the most. They have a shorter 
work day on Fridays; they leave at 2:00 p.m.

Using the portable equipment provided 
by the Company, the members of our 
administrative team can fulfill their duties 
and take advantage of the benefits of 
working from home.

Flexible schedule Home Office

GRI 401-2 

Other benefits1:

1The scope of the benefits includes our operations in Colombia, El Salvador, Peru, Ecuador and Costa Rica.

Health
Through voluntary 
insurance policies 

and the Company’s 
coverage, we provide 

the payment of an 
assistance percentage 

for the payment of 
premiums for workers 

who want access to 
said benefit.

Tickets
According to the 

policy, staff directly 
hired by the Holding 

has the right to 
benefit from tickets 
at a Holding level. 

Retirement supplies
For those of us who will soon 

retire.

Parental leave
As stipulated in the law, we 
grant days for enjoyment or 

permission. 

Coverage for 
disability and 

invalidity
Coverage in case 
of disability and/

or invalidity for the 
worker through the 
life insurance policy 
that is paid by the 

Company. 

Health care
Through volunteer plans 

we negotiate with different 
insurance companies, with 

special coverages and prices, 
a percentage of the payment 
is covered by the Company 
and another percentage is 

covered by the worker.

Life insurance
For the coverage of our 
employees in difficult 

situations, the Company gives 
all its workers a life insurance 

policy.

Operative

Administrative

Middle positions (Managers)

Top management (VPs and Directors)

Benefits

Percentage of employees by gender and working class who 
received performace evaluation during 2017
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GRI 405-2 Compensation1 

At Avianca Holdings we have a compensation model that is 
aligned to the strategy, culture and values of our Company, 
which guarantees competitiveness, equity and quality of 
life for our people.

Avianca Holdings has a Compensation Policy based on 
equity, competitiveness and the engagement of our 
talent. Salaries are set for different positions according to 
the result of the Valuation of Positions process, without 
distinctions by age or gender of any sort. Our operations’ 
staff consolidates the crew information, which has an 
impact on the results of the wage ratio indicator.

• Redesign our current benefits for the launch of our “Flexible Benefit Portfolio”.
• Enhance the Variable Programs, aligning them to our Flight 2020, our performance methodology and 

the coverages. 
• Within the Emotional Wage approach, set the benefits for operating positions.

Highlights 2017
• We implemented benefit strategies, such as 

a flexible schedule and Home Office. This 
positioning was reflected in the equity index of our 
Engagement Study, with a 73% favorability among 
the respondents.

Our challenges 2018

1 The countries with the largest population concentration of the Holding are considered locations with significant operations: Colombia, El Salvador, Peru, Ecuador and Costa Rica.
2 The wage relationship refers to the amount earned by a woman against one peso earned by a man.

Towards digital leadership 
Improving the productivity of our people, with the best available technology, is one of the strategic objectives of our Flight 
2020. For this reason, we are advancing in the Work2gether project1.  

1 Learn more about our management in the chapter “Technology and innovation, we generate extraordinary experiences”.

Office 365
It is the technological platform that allows us to 
access the information that we use daily for work from 
anywhere in the world by using an electronic device.

User management
It contains updated and accurate information about 
our people, promoting an efficient management of 
human talent processes.

Intranet
We advance in the design and implementation of 
a single corporate communication channel -global 
and segmented by audiences-, that promotes a 
collaborative self-service model and two-way 
communication. 

Document management
We will build and administer the corporate documents 
repository, according to Avianca’s and the industry’s 
guidelines, in order to facilitate the orderly access 
to updated information and generate value for the 
internal process management.

What is the 
Work2gether project 
looking for?
Collaborative work is beco-
ming increasingly relevant in 
work productivity. For this rea-
son, through this program we 
begin the migration towards 
the best technological tools 
that will facilitate the tasks of 
our people and will favor their 
quality of life.Colombia

Ecuador

Peru

El Salvador Costa Rica

0,87 0,790,97 0,37

0,98 0,820,95 0,79
0,92 0,641,03 0,58

0,98 0,770,65

0,93 0,440,83

High management (VPs and Directors)
Middle positions (Managers)
Administrative
Operative

Wage relationship between 
women and men2

Due to the illegal cessation of activities, we had to 
stop the hiring processes that would cover the existing 
vacancies, this motivated us to create operative seedbeds 
for employees and implement the Internal Development 
Plan, which allowed our staff to cover these vacancies 
as temporary replacements. On the other hand, we 
participated in the strategy of recognizing the pilots and 
employees who contributed with their commitment to 
maintain an exceptional service.

As for our employees’ training and development 
programs, there was a cancellation and rescheduling of 
the leadership and service courses in our school, given 
most of our employees were supporting the operations 
at the airport.

During the illegal cessation of activities, there was more 
agility in the decision-making process by making the 
customer our priority, which allowed us to identify best 
practices to involve in our processes.

Impact of the illegal cessation of 
activities and contingency plan 
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Decent work and social dialogue  
GRI 407-1 To continue flying 
towards the fulfillment of our Flight 
2020 along with the best talent, at 
Avianca Holdings we respect the 
8 fundamental conventions of the 
International Labor Organization 
(ILO), SDG #8 from the United 
Nations’ Sustainable Development 
Goals, the applicable labor 
legislation in the countries in which 
we operate, the commitments that 
we have voluntarily acquired with 
the United Nations Global Compact, 
the postulates from the ILO’s Green 
Jobs Program, best labor practice 

indicators incorporated in the DJSI 
(Dow Jones Sustainability Index) and 
the fundamental rights enshrined by 
the political letters in force for each 
country.

All of our internal policies, internal 
labor regulations, processes and 
practices are focused on achieving 
a balance between our personal life 
and our work life, working as one and 
enjoying what we do, because each 
one of the members of our working 
team is an Avianca Citizen1. 

1 Learn more about our management in the Avianca Citizen chapter.

COP. Creation of continuous dialogue committees 
with union associations
Colombia
Avianca S.A.
At Avianca S.A. we created committees and/or spaces for dialogue with the 
workers’ organizations mentioned below:

• Sindicato Nacional de Trabajadores de Avianca - SINTRAVA 
• Sindicato Nacional de Trabajadores de la Industria del Transporte 

Aéreo – SINDITRA 
• Organización de Aviadores de Avianca– ODEAA 
• Asociación Colombiana de Mecánicos de la Aviación - ACMA 
• Asociación Colombiana de Aviadores Civiles - ACDAC 
At the committees, we identify the Company’s opportunities for 
improvement and generate possible solutions along with the trade 
unions, in order to follow up the progress in subsequent committees. 

Additionally, we provide all of the organizations with spaces for chat 
and socialization with their affiliated workers, in addition we provide 
spaces for leaders and representatives to discuss with the new 
members of the Company to let them known about their association.

Tampa Cargo S.A.S.
As in Avianca S.A.,  with the Tampa Cargo S.A.S. company, we provide spaces for dialogue with 
the trade unions ASOTRATAMPA and ACDAC; during the committees, we review issues related 
to the collective agreement and our affiliated employees.

With other Holding companies:

Continuity of collective bargaining according to the schedule defined 
by the Company
Colombia

 Workers' 
organizations

Term of the collective agreement 
in force

ACAV
30/12/2017 Automatic extension to 
June 30th, 2018

ACDAC
Avianca: Arbitration Decision in Review 
before Supreme Court of Justice

ACMA
30/12/2017 Automatic extension to 
June 30th, 2018

ANTSA
There is no collective agreement in 
force.

ODEAA 01/04/2017-31/03/2020
SINDITRA 01/07/2015-01/07/2020
SINTRATAC In negotiation
SINTRAVA 01/07/2015-01/07/2020

Workers ' 
organizations

Term of the collective 
agreement in force

ACDAC 28/07/2017-31/12/2019

ASOTRATAMPA 01/10/2015-30/06/2018

SINTRATAC In negotiation

Tampa Cargo S.A.S.Avianca S.A.
To date, Avianca S.A. in Colombia has the following wor-
kers’ organizations in force:

Argentina 
Trans American Airlines S.A. 
We have maintained constant 
communication with the 
representative trade union for the 
Labor Inspectorate, Unión Personal 
de Aeronavegación de Entes Privados 
(Personal Union of Private Entities) 
- UPADEP. Even when we have no 
affiliated workers in the trade union, 
we recognize the official ownership 
granted to UPADEP.

In addition, the Company has 
workers affiliated to the trade union 
organization Asociación de Personal 
Aeronáutico (Aeronautical Personnel 
Association) – APA (hereinafter “APA”).

Chile
Grupo Taca de Chile 
S.A.
We maintain 
permanent contact 
with unionized and 
non-unionized workers 
organizations and we 
are open to all concerns 
that arise regarding 
the compliance to the 
collective agreements 
in force.

Peru
Trans American Airlines S.A.
As part of the agreements reached with Sindicato 
de Despachadores de Vuelo (Union of Flight 
Dispatchers), we hope to conduct bimonthly 
meetings to review the compliance to the 
collective agreement.

In the same way, in negotiation with Sindicato de 
Pilotos (Pilots Union) we are coordinating monthly 
work tables, as well as replicating them with all 
our employees at the airports.

Finally, as part of the agreements reached with 
the Sindicato de Auxiliares de Vuelo (Flight 
Attendants Union), we held meetings to review 
the compliance to the collective agreement.

8.8 Protect labour rights and 
promote safe and secure 
working environments for all 
workers, including migrant 
workers, in particular women 
migrants, and those in 
precarious employment.

Highlights 2017
Below, we present the results of the processes we have been pursuing with 
each of the associations that guild our personnel in each of the countries 
where we operate, complying to the corresponding local legislation.

ANNUAL REPORT
2017
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• Close collective negotiation with the trade union organization SINTRATAC, with Avianca S.A. and Tampa 
Cargo S.A.S.

• Carry out the renewal of the collective agreement with ASOTRATAMPA, trade union organization of Tampa 
Cargo S.A.S.

• Continue the dialogue with trade union organizations to work together towards the progress of labor 
relations. 

• Conduct bimonthly meetings with the dispatchers trade union association to review compliance with the 
collective agreement in Peru. 

• Support the operating areas of the Company in Colombia considering the signing of the peace agreement 
and the management of post-conflict.  

Our challenges 
2018

GRI 102-41 Percentage of our employees covered by 
collective agreements 

100% of the collective agreements signed with 
trade union associations of our Company make their 
deadlines and consultation and negotiation matters 

with the Holding known.

21%
Avianca S.A.

13%
Tampa

Cargo S.A.S.

33%
Trans American

Airlines S.A.

100%
Taca de

Mexico, S.A.
(Mex)

6%
Grupo Taca
de Chile S.A.

(Chi)

45%
Trans American

Airlines S.A. 
(Arg)

2.072
Avianca S.A.

110
Tampa

Cargo S.A.S.

534
Trans American

Airlines S.A.

79
Taca de

Mexico, S.A.
(Mex)

1
Grupo Taca
De Chile S.A.

(Chi)

23
Trans American

Airlines S.A. 
(ARG)

As part of Tampa Cargo S.A.S.’ negotiating agenda, in July 
2017 we carried out the negotiation process with ACDAC, 
where we successfully closed and reached a collective 
work agreement that will be in force until 2019, that 
applies to the pilots from Tampa Cargo S. A. affiliated to 
this Company.

Peru
In Peru, the Trans American Airlines S.A. Company has the 
following trade union organizations:

Workers’ organization Term of the collective 
agreement in force

Sindicato de Despa-
chadores de Vuelo (Flight 
Dispatchers Union) of 
Trans American Airlines

January 1, 2018 to December 
31, 2019

Sindicato de Pilotos 
(Pilots Union) of Trans 
American Airlines 

The one that expired in July 
2017 is still in force. New one 
in negotiation.

Sindicato de Tripulantes 
de Cabina, Agentes 
de Servicio al Cliente e 
Instructores (Cabin Crew, 
Customer Service Agents 
and Instructors Union)

The one that expired in 
September 2017 is still in force. 
New one in negotiation.

Trans American Airlines S.A. , followed its negotiating 
agenda and ended 2017 with the subscription of the 
collective agreement with Sindicato de Despachadores de 
Vuelo (Flight Dispatchers Union). 

With Sindicato de Pilotos (Pilots Union) and Sindicato de 
Tripulantes de Cabina, Agentes de Servicio al Cliente e 
Instructores (Cabin Crew, Customer Service Agents and 
Instructors Union), we are negotiating the new terms of 
the collective agreements for validity in 2018.

Mexico
In Mexico, the company Taca de Mexico S.A. has collective 
agreements with the following trade union organizations:

 Workers’ organization Term of the collective 
agreement in force

SNTTTASS 01/02/2017 - 01/02/2018

1° de Mayo Trade Union 01/06/2017 - 01/06/2018

Chile
In Chile, Grupo Taca de Chile S.A. has the following 
unionized and non-unionized worker organizations:

Workers’ organization Term of the collective agree-
ment in force

Avianca Chile’s Sindicato 
de Trabajadores (Workers 
Union)

June 2019

Grupo de Trabajadores 
(Group of Workers) of 
Grupo Taca Chile S.A. united 
to negotiate

August 2019

With the Chile’s worker organizations, we pursued 
collective negotiation in the year 2016. The agenda for the 
revision of the working conditions agreed will be addressed 
in the year 2019 if there are any affiliates at that date. 

Argentina

Workers’ organization Term of the collective 
agreement in force

Unión Personal de  Aero-
navegación de Entidades 
Privadas - UPADEP (Perso-
nal Union of Air navigation 
of private entities)

July 11, de 1975

Asociación de Personal 
Aeronautico APA (Aero-
nautical Personnel Asso-
ciation)

There is no contract in force be-
cause, according to the local law, 
the industry is governed by the 
collective contract in force with 
UPADEP.

In Argentina, the Trans American Airlines S.A company 
maintains a relationship with UPADEP and APA, as well:

Trans American Airlines S.A. 

Number of employees covered by colletive 
agreements

As part of the Taca de México S.A.’s negotiating agenda, 
in 2017 we carried out a general updating process of 
the collective agreement in force with the SNTTTASS 
association.
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Our people are vital at Avianca. 
For this reason, it is our priority to 
protect their life by investing in 
risk management, caring for their 
health, providing safe places to 
work and promoting a prevention 
culture through compliance with 
safe working procedures and the 
adoption of healthy lifestyles, 
which has a direct impact on the 
Company’s productivity.
With the support of our operational 
areas and the Hazard Identification 
and Risk Assessment Matrix (MIPER 
acronym in Spanish), the level of risk 
is determined for routine and non-
routine activities carried out by each 
of our employees.
In order to efficiently manage each 
of the related risks, we count on:

• The Integral Security Policy, 
that establishes the guidelines 
to efficiently manage the 
health and safety of our 
employees. 

• The implementation of an 
Occupational Health and 

Committed to health and safety 
of our people 
Why is it important and how do we manage it? Our follow up committees: 

In order to monitor our management, we have the 
following committees: 

Safety Management System 
to promote the active 
participation of all employees. 

• Compliance with applicable 
legal regulations.

• The creation and promotion of 
a Security Culture according 
to the good practices of the 
industry. 

• The adoption of a lifestyle that 
minimizes the probability of 
incidents, accidents, injuries 
and occupational illnesses that 
may endanger the health and 
safety of our employees. 

We have human, technological and 
economic resources to carry out 
the preventive management of the 
health and safety of our people to 
make our workplace safe.

Most relevant risks:
1. Work in heights
2. Road safety
3.Contractor 
management
4. Ergonomic

Committees Generalities

Integral Security Committee

Quarterly we carry out an accountability with the CEO and the Vice Presidents of the 
operational areas: 

• Absenteeism and accident indicators. 
• Situations requiring committee approval that have high economic impact and/or 

important changes in our processes.

Local Safety and 
Compliance Committee

Monthly our process leaders for each COA (Air Carrier Certificate) meet to follow up on: 

• Accident and absenteeism indicators.
• Management of findings in the AQD technological tool. 
• Events or risk situations presented. 
• Identified findings. 
• Action plans for the closure of identified gaps.

Joint Committee on 
Occupational Safety 
and Health and Joint 
Organizations (COPASST 
acronym in Spanish)

Monthly a meeting is held for each COA with the participation of our workers and the 
administration to analyze the indicators, relevant events and trends to search for joint 
improvement plans.

Primary Committee of 
the Safety, Health and 
Environment Directorate 
(SSMA acronym in Spanish)

The SSMA team meets on a monthly basis to analyze internal behavior of indicators and 
industry trends to follow up and adjust work plans to meet our goals.

3.3 By 2030, end the 
epidemics of AIDS, 
tuberculosis, malaria and 
neglected tropical diseases 
and combat hepatitis, water-
borne diseases and other 
communicable diseases.

3.9 By 2030, substantially 
reduce the number of 
deaths and illnesses from 
hazardous chemicals and air, 
water and soil pollution and 
contamination.

8.8 Protect labour rights and 
promote safe and secure 
working environments for all 
workers, including migrant 
workers, in particular women 
migrants, and those in 
precarious employment.

9.1 Develop quality, reliable, 
sustainable and resilient 
infrastructure, including 
regional and transborder 
infrastructure, to support 
economic development 
and human well-being, with 
a focus on affordable and 
equitable access for all.

9.4 By 2030, upgrade 
infrastructure and retrofit 
industries to make them 
sustainable, with increased 
resource-use efficiency and 
greater adoption of clean 
and environmentally sound 
technologies and industrial 
processes, with all countries 
taking action in accordance 
with their respective 
capabilities.

ANNUAL REPORT
2017
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Highlights 2017  
During 2017 we implemented the Organizational Risk Report (IRO acronym in Spanish) to report work accidents, 
unsafe acts and conditions that are linked to the AQD for analysis, establishing causes and action plans. The data used 
to  calculate the rate of injury from work accidents include all events, even those that did not generate disability or  that 
only required 1 day for relevant medical care.
The events were mostly related to strokes (37,8%), sprains (24,3%), and ear traumas (9,1%).

On the platform of the San Salvador Airport, we had a traffic accident, where unfortunately one of our companions lost his life. We will 
now mention some of the measures taken to make sure that these types of accidents do not occur again. 

• Strengthening of our Strategic Road Safety Plan (PESV 
acronym in Spanish) along with Mobility Management, 
the Deprisa Business Unit and the land operations 
process, in order to comply with the legal requirements 
and prevention of accidents such as the one that took 
place in San Salvador. 

• We identified and eliminated distraction factors in the 
conduction of ground support equipment, through 
improvements in ramp operation manuals.

For this report we include the information for 2017, considering that there were changes in the formulas for calculating health and safety indicators. The coverage of the indicators of our operation in 
CAM covers the figures of the operations in El Salvador, Costa Rica and Guatemala. At the end of 2017, Avianca does not have records of professional illnesses in CAM, CAR, EUR and NAM and SAM. Our 
results in Colombia cover the figures of Avianca S.A., and Tampa Cargo S.A. 
The figures reported in SAM correspond to the results in Ecuador and Peru. Injury rate for work accidents corresponds to: (Number of work accidents/number of working hours) * 1 million Rate of 
occupational diseases corresponds to: (number of cases of registered occupational diseases/number of labor hours) * 1 million.

Engineering design in protection systems against falling for 
the process of major services in the maintenance hangars, 
based on high international standards OSHA (Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration) and European Norms.

Strengthening of operational control for contractors 
through induction processes and the review of pre-
operational requirements. 

Participation in 49 infrastructure projects to ensure the 
inclusion of technologies that allow the improvement of 
our employees’ safety.

Rate of lost workdays due to work accidents or occupational illnesses corresponds to: (Number of lost workdays due to work accidents or occupational illnesses/number of working hours) * 1 
million Absenteeism rate corresponds to: (Number of lost workdays lost by incapacity due to work accidents and occupational disease and general illness/number of worker days) * 1 million. 
The deadly accident we presented in El Salvador impacted the results of our Severity index and index of disabling injuries.

Accident rate 

20,46
Rate of disabling 

injuries

 5,25

Number of fatalities

1

Rate of absenteeism due 
to common illnesses and 

accidents in the workplace

21.984,68

Index of lost workdays 
due to accidents in 

the workplace 

256,86

Rate of 
occupational 

illnesses

0,02

GRI 403-2 Absenteeism and Accident Indicators 2017

Frequency index for direct 
employee accident rate 
disaggregated by COAS

Frequency index for direct 
employee accident rate 

disaggregated by gender

Incapacitating injury index Index for direct employees’ lost 
workdays due to occupational 

accidents disaggregated by 
gender

Index for direct employees’ lost 
workdays due to occupational 

accidents disaggregated by COAS

Direct employees’ absenteeism 
index disaggregated by gender

Direct employees’ absenteeism 
index disaggregated by region

WOMEN                MEN

MEN             WOMEN

MEN 

WOMEN
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• Align the Occupational Health and Safety  strategy 
with Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

• Implement OSH risk management where process 
owners are responsible for risk control (Risk 
Management Model from 3 defense lines).

• To promote a culture of self-care and care for others, 
as a basic axis in the defense line to mitigate the OSH 
risks.

• Have an impact on the Company’s productivity 
through the Absenteeism Management Program, 
reducing the incidence of illness and frequency of 
occupational accidents, involving all of the areas of 
our Company. 

• Aligned with our Flight 2020, incorporate 
technological tools in our OSH management 

that allow us to register, monitor and control our 
management.

• Take the Occupational Health and Safety System to 
the ISO 45001 standards, aligned with the Company’s 
Integral Safety, Risks and Compliance System.

• Continue to participate in infrastructure projects to 
ensure the adoption of OSH risk-control technologies.

• Strengthen the prevention of consumption of alcohol 
and psychoactive substances.

• Strengthen the Chemical Risk Prevention Program to 
maintain zero occupational diseases because of this 
risk.

Our challenges 
2018

Our certifications
• We are certified before the General Directorate 

of Civil Aeronautics (DGAC) at our CAM-NAM 
stations. 

• We received the certification in Safety, Health 
and Environment for the fulfillment of 100% of 
the requirements requested by Quito’s Airport 
Administrator (QUIAMA). 

Our people found themselves affected by the lack 
of availability of our technicians and airport agents 
in processes of capacitation and training, there 
were difficulties in the performance of drills in the 
different working centers, compliance with plans for 
hygiene measurement and inspection visits to cities 
due to flight restriction, which were reprogrammed 
for 2018 given we were focused on supporting the 
Company’s operation and its service processes facing 
the customer.

Impact of the illegal cessation of 
activities and contingency plan
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For us, the generation of economic, 
social and environmental value is 
essential in the development of 
our operations. The expansion and 
service strategy traced for 2020, 
with a differentiated offer of services 
and experiences, contributes to 
the achievement of profitable and 
sustainable growth in the long term, 
and the value generation for our 
stakeholders.
The same strategy projects us as a 
competitive Company, at the level 
of the best industry standards, that 
operates effectively to optimize 
resources, reduce costs and have an 
efficient cash flow.
In order to manage and secure 
internal processes related to 
the economic performance of 
our Company we have policies 
that cover issues related to 
investments, cash unit, financial 
risk coverage, discounts, petty cash 
and fixed funds, refunds, control of 
expenses in business trips, levels 
of authorization and delegation 
of administrative attributions and 
management of provisions.

Value generated to our 
stakeholders
Why is it important and how do we manage it? 

In order to become an attractive 
Company for the capital market, we 
are focused on increasing liquidity 
and working capital, reducing lever-
age and sustainable margin expan-
sion. In the same way, we are in a 
process of digital transformation, 
implementing technological im-
provements such as:
• SIMS program for our debt and 

investment control. 

• Fleet management (leaseworks) 
that seeks to consolidate 
complete information about all 
the aircraft of the Holding. 

• Supply Chain planning process, 
implementation and control of 
the operations of our suppliers. 

• Improvements and implemen-
tation of Revenue Accounting 
to identify efficiencies in income 
measurement processes.

During 2017, our management was focused on:

We have identified the main financial risks regarding their impact and probability of 
occuring; we highlight 5 fundamental risks in our monitoring process1: 

Competitiveness 
by cost structure.

Increase in 
costs due to Tax 
Regime changes 
in key markets.

Impact on 
results due 
to financial 
leverage. 

Increase in 
costs due to 
the financing of  
OPEX2 y CAPEX3  

(maintenance 
and projects).

1 42 3 Increase in 
costs due to 
the increase 
in the price of 
fuel.

5

Quarterly results  
delivered to the 
market meeting 
the standards 
required by the 
SFC and SEC4

Implementation 
of best practices 
to ensure return 
over investment

Significant 
reduction in 
leverage indicator 
(net debt over 
EBITDA)

Optimization 
of the Company’s 
cost structure

Liquidity 
Improvement 
Initiatives

Providing 
excellent 
internal 
customer 
service

1 Learn more about what we do in the chapter “We live a culture of security, ethics, risk management and compliance”.
2 OPEX, Operating Expense; It is a permanent cost for the operation of a product, business or system.
3 CAPEX is the counterpart of the OPEX. It is the Capital Expenditure, the development cost, or the supply of non-consumable components for the product or system.
4 Finance Superintendence of Colombia (SFC acronym in Spanish) and the United Stated Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).  

1 Cadena de suministro
2 Contabilidad de ingresos

8.1 Sustain per capita economic 
growth in accordance with 
national circumstances and, in 
particular, at least 7 per cent gross 
domestic product growth per 
annum in the least developed 
countries.

8.2 Achieve higher levels of 
economic productivity through 
diversification, technological 
upgrading and innovation, 
including through a focus on high-
value added and labour-intensive 
sectors.

9.1 Develop quality, reliable, 
sustainable and resilient 
infrastructure, including regional 
and transborder infrastructure, to 
support economic development 
and human well-being, with a focus 
on affordable and equitable access 
for all.

9.4 By 2030, upgrade infrastructure 
and retrofit industries to make 
them sustainable, with increased 
resource-use efficiency and 
greater adoption of clean 
and environmentally sound 
technologies and industrial 
processes, with all countries taking 
action in accordance with their 
respective capabilities.

9.5 Enhance scientific research, 
upgrade the technological 
capabilities of industrial sectors 
in all countries, in particular 
developing countries, including, 
by 2030, encouraging innovation 
and substantially increasing 
the number of research and 
development workers per 1 
million people and public and 
private research and development 
spending.

We perform yearly internal and external auditing, with the purpose of verifying the controls 
and revision processes in force at Avianca Holdings, and comply with the regulations of the 
Sarbanes–Oxley (SOX) Law regulations, guaranteeing the reliability of the information and 
of our Corporate Governance practices.
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Our economic performance in 2017:
All the information below presents our economic performance, and includes information about Aerovías del Continente 
Americano S.A. Avianca and its subsidiary companies. Likewise, it contains Grupo Taca Holdings Limited and its subsidiary 
companies. 

Revenue for 
net sales

Revenue 
for financial 
investment

Revenue for 
asset sales

2017 Value Thousand 
(USD)

$ 14.528

$ 161.410

Direct economic value 
generated

$ 4.617.622

Distributed 
economic value

$ 4.370.485

Operational expenses

Salaries and benefits to 
employees

Payment to capital 
suppliers

Payment to governments1

Investment in 
communities

$ 14,8
Retained economic 

value

$ 247.136

GRI 201-1 

Avianca Holdings S. A’s revenue by concept of interest 
during 2017, showed an increase of 11,30%, from $13 
million USD in 2016 to $14,5 million USD during 2017.

From derivative instruments, $2,5 million USD worth 
of expenses were reached during 2017, which meant a 
176,36% decrease regarding the previous period.

Operational Costs
In 2017, operational costs increased by $268,1 million 
USD, which represents a 6,91% increase compared to 
the previous period. Among the main concepts that 
are considered for the construction of this figure fuel 
components stand out, as well as passenger services, 
operations on land, facilities and maintenance services, 
depreciation and amortization, salaries and benefits to 
employees.

$ 4.441.684

2017 Value Thousand 
(USD)

$ 3.381.932

$ 706.778

$ 183.332

$ 98.428

Operational Revenue
The operational revenue generated by Avianca Holdings S.A. during 2017 reached $4.441,6 million USD which represents 
a 7,33% increase when compared to the revenue generated in 2016.

At the end of the 2017 period, the increase obtained with the concept of passenger, cargo and mail transportation at 
a domestic level stood out. Passenger transportation increased by 8,48% with $148,6 million USD in comparison with 
what was perceived in 2016.

2017 2016

3.550,1

550,9
340,5

3.285,2

555,9 297,2

Passengers               Cargo and Mail               Others

Operational Revenues disaggregated 
by type of service (USD Millions)

2.180
49%

Operational revenue disaggregated by 
geographic scope (in millions of USD)

340
8%

1.920
43%

Domestic

International

Others2

Fuels
The inverted costs on fuel purchase increase by 17,60% 
going from $785,2 million USD on 2016 to $923,4 million 
in 2017. The main reason for this growth is the average 
increase of fuel prices by 20,8% and a 1,4% increase in 
the overall gallon consumption, due to new routes and 
frequencies.

Salaries and social benefits for employees
At the end of the 2017 period, this concept that includes 
direct and sub-contracted employees, reached $706,8 
million USD, and mainly includes salary payments, medical 
insurance and transportation aid.

Payment to shareholders
The total dividends paid to our shareholders in 2017 
reached $155,6 million USD1.

Depreciations and amortizations 
(reinvestment)
Depreciations and amortizations in 2017 reached $313,4 
million USD.

Payment to capital suppliers
The total amount of payments to fund suppliers made by 
the Company in 2017 reached $183,3 million USD.

Payment to the Government
All of the local, municipal, sales and current income taxes 
are included in the payments made to the government, 
which represented $98 million USD in 2017.

Retained economic value
At the end of the 2017 period, the total retained economic 
value, presented a total of $247 million USD.  This figure 
does not include the differed tax, nor the difference in 
change.

Operational revenue from financial 
investment

1 This figure includes dividends declared by AVH and dividends declared by LifeMiles.
2 The concept of Operational Income includes revenues from the frequent flyer program, land operations, leasing, maintenance, interline and others.

1 The information regarding government payments, corresponds to what was effectively disbursed during this period, which can be validated in Avianca Holding’s cash flow movements. The rest of the 
data was obtained on the base of causation.
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Ten fronts of the CPI
These approaches respond to program initiatives. Each 
one approaches the areas of increased relevance and 
impact in our financial state, reflect in the CASK:

OperationsBusiness   Technology    Commercial 
units

experience

We implemented the CPI (Cost Performance 
Improvements) program, as a search engine for new 
efficiencies in our processes and in the operation. This 
allowed us to create new models for the analysis of 
financial information, as an integral part of our work 
culture.

In Avianca we innovate with sustainable impact. The CPI 
program achieved savings worth more than $100 million 
USD in 2017.

Highlights

2017

Fleet General  and
administration

fuel

 Maintenance            Customer            Airports

• Optimization of portfolio levels by 30% compared to 
year 2016.

• Economic impact of the illegal cessation of activities 
reflected as non-received income represents 
approximately USD $180 million during 2017.

• SOX control optimization and Vice presidency 
processes.

• Culminate the successful implementation of IFRS 
15 (International Financial Reporting Standard). 

• Achieve the implementation of the On-Cloud 
platform of the information contained in the 
Financial Planning systems.

• Keep the cash level over income for the last 12 
months, between 10% and 15%.

• Finalize the standardization and homologation 
of structures, policies and financial processes 
that generate added value to transactional and 
financial operations.

All of these challenges seek to achieve our financial 
and economic goals, as well as generate value to all 
our stakeholders.

Our challenges  
2018

Technology and innovation, we 
generate extraordinary experiences
Why is it important and how do we manage it?

Improving customer experience 
and the productivity of our people, 
with the best available technology, 
is one of the strategic objectives 
of our Flight 2020. Since 2016 we 
began our digital transformation 
process, with which we seek to 
provide high quality operations, with 
greater efficiency and to provide 
an exceptional service experience 
through technology.

In 2017 we restructured the Digital 
and Technology Vice-presidency, 
its processes and its interaction 
with the rest of the Company. 
We developed complementary 
areas for digital process 
management and innovation. In 
addition, we incorporated and 
integrated the Digital Experience 
Directorate, as a business area 
in charge of performing the 
digital transformation of the 
Company, and the Analytics and 
Metrics Directorate, responsible 
for measurement of Company 

indicators and development 
of analytical tools that allow the 
personalization of customer 
experience and the productivity 
improvement. 

We define our Master Plan through 
the identification and alignment 
of our initiatives with our business 
strategy, aimed at establishing 
alliance relationships with world-
class suppliers to manage the 
communications, the operation 
of Information Technology (IT), 
software development and digital 
transformation.

With the definition of the digital 
transformation strategy, we started 
the execution process, developing 
digital channels, maximizing 
their efficiency by means of 
personalization and data analysis.

We defined a new operation model 
for information technology processes 
that enable the integration of the 
Company and the development of 
solutions with greater speed.

With the optimization of processes 
and the best technology, we have the 
purpose of providing an exceptional 

service to our customers.

8.2 Achieve higher levels of 
economic productivity through 
diversification, technological 
upgrading and innovation, 
including through a focus on high-
value added and labour-intensive 
sectors.
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We defined the roadmap of the strategic projects to be 
executed in the short and long term, classifying them 
in the following categories:

• Avianca legacy business: Projects that establish the 
bases for the technological operation. 

• Avianca evolving business: Projects that support the 
operation and evolution of the business. 

• Avianca digital business: Digital transformation 
projects in the operation and business domains.

 Highlights  
2017

We complied with 107% of what was 
planned for the execution of projects 
from the Digital and Technology 
Master Plan. 

We started this project which includes the following aspects:

• Evolution of digital channels: avianca.com (with services for massive customers and 
SMEs: small and medium sized enterprises), the mobile app and Carla (the virtual 
assistant).

•  Implementation and operation of the marketing campaigns management system in 
our own media, such as e-mail.

• Implementation of the platform that will support the management and analysis of 
customer information.

• Optimization of payment methods in digital channels.
• Optimization of traffic and sales effectiveness in digital channels to maximize revenue 

in these channels.  
• Redefinition and implementation of the purchasing process in digital channels.
• Increased sales of complementary services through digital channels.

• With the execution of the Digital Transformation 
Program, in December, we achieved a sales share of 
21%, increasing 1 pp regarding December 2016 and we 
improved the percentage of the Cost Per Acquisition 
(CPA) in digital media by 0,3 pp, generating a 5% 
saving in December 2017.

107% 
Compliance

Master Plan: 

Digital 
Transformation

We created and consolidated the 
innovation area to support the 
Company’s transformation effort 
with fast solutions, focused on 
the customer/user.

We launched more than 20 innovative 
initiatives, with a high and immediate 
impact on the business and positioning 
Avianca as an active participant of the 
global innovation ecosystem. These include: 
Waze for airplanes, predictive delay model, 
application for assignment of shifts in 
airports, control of allocation of hotels 
and alternative priority attention office 
(launched during the illegal cessation of 
activities). 

With this project we initiated the implementation of the processes and the technology that will lead us to 
offer the best service to our customers. The project includes:

• Generating a 360° vision of our customer to understand their needs and give them a 
personalized travel experience. 

• Managing sales from the corporate segment (business-to-business).
• Implement a self-service portal to support agency sales. 
• Implement flows for the management of requests, complaints, claims and suggestions (PQRS 

acronym in Spanish).
• Implement the Deprisa’s customer service process.  
• Implement features to listen to what is being said about Avianca in social media. 
• Implement the service model to attend the segment identified for high value customers 

(HVC)
• Implement the Unified Service Desktop (USD) that integrates the multiple systems consulted 

by the agents of the call center on a screen.

We implemented the Business Process Management (BPM) Model at corporate level, in which 
we included the Company’s value chain definition, the lifting of macro processes and Company 
processes, defining the leader for each one of them and indicators with which they will be 
managed.

Innovation

Customer 
Relationship 
Management

(CRM)

Business Process 
Management 

Model

We implemented the Intranet 
and Office 365 tools to 
strengthen teamwork and  
the productivity of Avianca’s 
employees. 2017 began with 
259 users on Skype for Business 
and ended up with 5.717 users.

Work2gether:

•  During 2017 there were improvements on the web 
page: the platform was improved for the presentation 
of the content and was optimized for the visualization 
of the flight portfolio.

• A new version of Avianca’s mobile app was 
implemented, which improves functionality, includes a 
new sales process and enables personalization.
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• Developing projects that 
help us place the customer 
at the center of our 
management. These are the 
Digital Transformation and 
CRM projects. 

• In the Digital 
Transformation project, 
we seek to integrate 
digital channels with 
direct channels such as 
the call center, as well as 
incorporating other areas of 
the Company to the project, 
such as communications, 
branding, marketing and 
service design.

• Achieve greater operational 
efficiency in the projects 
established in the Master 
Plan: Simplify (optimization 
of aircraft and crew 
operation), App for pilots, 
optimization of airport ramp 
resources, fuel optimization.

Our challenges 
2018

• Jarvis: eCommerce Day Award, Best Mobile Initiative for eCommerce, 
eCommerce Institute of Latin America, Colombia, 2017.

Acknowledgements

The illegal cessation of activities led the area to focus 
on supporting the operation, prioritizing initiatives and 
activities that focused on the customer, teamwork, agility 
and innovation to help minimizing the impact on travelers.

The management of the cessation was focused on:

• Agility and celerity in the implementation of support 
tools for the operation and management of passenger 
and aircraft reassignment. 

Impact of the illegal cessation of 
activities and contingency plan

Connected with the Environment
6.4 By 2030, substantially increase water-use 
efficiency across all sectors and ensure sustainable 
withdrawals and supply of freshwater to address 
water scarcity and substantially reduce the number 
of people suffering from water scarcity.

7.3 By 2030, double the global rate of improvement 
in energy efficiency.

11.6 By 2030, reduce the adverse per capita 
environmental impact of cities, including by paying 
special attention to air quality and municipal and 
other waste management.

12.2 By 2030, achieve the sustainable management 
and efficient use of natural resources.

12.4 By 2020, achieve the environmentally 
sound management of chemicals and all wastes 
throughout their life cycle, in accordance with 
agreed international frameworks, and significantly 
reduce their release to air, water and soil in order to 
minimize their adverse impacts on human health and 
the environment.

12.5 By 2030, substantially reduce waste generation 
through prevention, reduction, recycling and reuse.

13.1 Strengthen resilience and adaptive capacity to 
climate-related hazards and natural disasters in all 
countries.

13.3 Improve education, awareness-raising and 
human and institutional capacity on climate change 
mitigation, adaptation, impact reduction and early 
warning.

13.4 Implement the commitment undertaken by 
developed-country parties to the United Nations 
Framework Convention on Climate Change to a goal 
of mobilizing jointly $100 billion annually by 2020 
from all sources to address the needs of developing 
countries in the context of meaningful mitigation 
actions and transparency on implementation and 
fully operationalize the Green Climate Fund through 
its capitalization as soon as possible.

13.5 Promote mechanisms for raising capacity 
for effective climate change-related planning and 
management in least developed countries and 
small island developing States, including focusing 
on women, youth and local and marginalized 
communities.

• Carla: Smarties Awards, Bronze Award – Mobile App Category, Mobile 
Marketing Association Spain, Spain, 2017.

• Jarvis & Carla: Greater than Awards, ‘With Our Customers’ category, 
Accenture (internal), (Region comprised by Colombia, Peru, Argentina, 
and Chile), 2017.

• Carla: Creating Tomorrow Awards, Our Customer’s Customers category, 
Accenture (internal), EALA (Europe, Africa and LATAM), 2017.

• To have an innovation team with disruptive and agile 
solutions to solve problems in the operation. 

• An accelerated implementation of new technologies 
such as robots for the automation of operation critical 
processes.
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As the Avianca Citizen, we affirm 
our commitment to innovate with 
sustainable impact through initia-
tives that generate environmental 
value. For this reason, in Avianca we 
demonstrate our responsibility with 
the environment and have a positi-
ve impact on the regions where we 
operate.
GRI 102-11 During 2017 we stren-
gthened our environmental ma-
nagement actions, allowing us to 
mitigate our significant environ-
mental risks. With our environmen-
tal management policy based on 
the Clean Production Principles 

Responsible Avianca

Why is it important and how do we manage it?

(PML acronym in Spanish), that are 
characterized for establishing a pre-
ventive and integrated environmen-
tal strategy, defining the guidelines, 
objectives and goals that are drawn 
within our Environmental Manage-
ment System, increasing efficiency 
and reducing the negative impacts 
of our operation.
To fulfill our mission, we have iden-
tified and assessed the current and 
potential environmental aspects 
and impacts for our entire opera-
tion. These are divided in two: the 
impacts identified while the fleet is 
in the air and those evaluated in our 
land operations. 

CO2 emissions and 
noise from aircraft 

operation

Generation of 
dangerous waste and 
dumping from land 

operation 

COP: In our chapter Connected with the Environment we present the actions that we carry 
out to manage the most significant environmental impacts of our operations. We highlight 
our management of the climate strategy, management of fuel consumption and waste.

For the mitigation of the impact of CO2 emissions and the noise generated, mainly due 
to aircraft operations, we have the best available technology in the air sector and the 
youngest aircraft fleet in the region.  
On the other hand, regarding the aspects related to the generation of waste and rational 
use of natural resources, we are working on the remodeling of our aircraft maintenance 
facilities, with the purpose of substantially reducing the impact of our operations on 
land (for more information on the environmental aspects and impacts generated by our 
operation, see our Eco-efficiency section).
An example of this is the aeronautical maintenance center (MRO, Maintenance, Repair 
and Overhaul), recently built in Rionegro, which was designed and built according to the 
parameters established in the LEED ® model (Leadership in Energy & Environmental 
Design1) and we expect to obtain the LEED ® Gold level certification. 
We have established a Strategic Environmental Management Plan projected to 2020, 
aligned to our Strategic North. It focuses on three main axes: Environmental Management 
Policy and System, Climate Change and Operational Eco-efficiency.

Below, we describe the main activities carried out during 2017 in each of the axes of the 
Strategic Environmental Management Plan:

Highlights 2017

• We incorporated 6 aircraft of 
the latest generation, which 
reduce emissions and noise 
generation. 

• We compensated 1.021.953 
tons of CO2 which is equal 
to 21,38% of the total range 
1 emissions of the Holding 
during 2017.

• We adopted the GRC (Governance, Risk and 
Compliance) model for the management of 
environmental risks and integration with other risk 
systems of the Company.

• We implemented the dismantling plan for Hangar 
1 and the maintenance workshops in Bogotá, 
reason for which  $1,7 million USD were invested in 
environmental controls, following the precautionary 
principle.

• We achieved the valuation of 67,7% of the total 
dangerous waste generated and recycled 36,2% of 
the total conventional waste. 

• We promoted the efficient use of water and energy. 

• We worked in sustainable construction under the 
LEED® criteria.

1 Sustainable building standard of the U.S. Green Building Council – USGBC.
2 ISO 14001 is an international standard for environmental management, in which companies are certified in their environmental management systems.

Thanks to our management and our advances in the implementation of our Environmental Management System, we 
maintain our ISO 140012 certification for all of the activities developed in Ecuador, and we are working on increasing 
our compliance percentage indicator of the requirements established by ISO 14001:2015, according to the level of the 
system’s maturity in each of the main stations.

Environmental 
Management 

Policy and 
System 

Climate
Change

Operational
Eco-efficiency

ANNUAL REPORT
2017
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Our 
challenges 
2018

To advance in the continuous improvement process of 
our Environmental Management System, during 2017, 
we have made investments and have incurred expenses. 
These have been due to, mainly, waste management, the 

• Update and unify our Environmental Policy with the 
Company’s Sustainability Policy. 

• Increase our number of stations certified in ISO 
14001 2015 version. 

• Strengthen control for environmental compliance of 
suppliers and contractors.

Own indicator.  In the year 2017, Avianca S.A. was not fined in any of its activities for amounts greater than $10.000 USD 
for non-compliance with environmental aspects.

Own indicator.
Environmental expenditures and investments

Stations Initiative Description Amount 
(USD)

Colombia

Environmental controls 
for the delivery of Hangar 
1 and maintenance 
workshops

Following the principle of environmental precaution, environmental 
controls were implemented for the delivery of maintenance areas such 
as workshops and the Hangar in Bogotá.

1.700.000 
(approx.)

Colombia Purchase of carbon bonds The emissions generated by the air and land operation of Colombia 
were compensated. 857.918

Rionegro 
Colombia Waste Center Construction Construction of a Collection Center for storage and recycling of non-

hazardous waste. 120.000

Lima Installation of LED type 
luminaires

Change to LED type luminaires for the new HUB Control office located 
in the ATO2. 24 luminaires were renewed. 981,25

Lima Installation of timers in 
toilets and urinals

Installation of timers in toilets and urinals in the bathrooms of the 
Maintenance Hangar in Lima. 2.417,75

Lima
Change of R22 air 
conditioning equipment to 
R410 

Purchase and installation of air conditioning equipment R410 in the 
maintenance offices. 2.269

purchase of tools and equipment for pollution control. The 
amount of our expenses reaches $482.324 USD.

Our climate change management

Why is it important and how do we manage it?

Out of the total carbon dioxide 
(CO2) produced by different human 
activities, aviation produces about 
2% of these emissions, according 
to studies advanced by the 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC) of the United Nations.

The emissions generated by the 
aircraft engines are composed of 
approximately of 70% CO2, about 
29% of H2O and the remaining 1% 
consists of NOx, CO, SOx, NMVOC1, 
particles and other oligo elements.
The sector has focused on investing 
in new technologies and appropriate 
operating procedures, reason for 
which it has managed to maintain its 
emissions at a level of growth without 
being proportional to the number 
of passengers, which increases, on 
average by 5% every year.
The global air transport industry is 
committed to three main targets to 
reduce its carbon emissions:
• Improve fuel consumption 

efficiency by 1,5% per year up to 
2020.

• Stabilize CO2 emissions with a 
neutral growth from 2020. 

• Reduce emissions to 50% at 
2050, compared to 2005 levels.

To achieve these objectives, the 
industry has joined in the creation 
of a strategy based on four pillars: 
investment in new technology, 
more efficient infrastructures, more 
effective operations and positive 
economic market measures.
To advance in the third pillar, 
the International Civil Aviation 
Organization (ICAO) in plenary 
session during its 39° period, agreed 
to recommend the adoption of a 
definitive resolution text about 
the GMBM (Global Market Based 
Measure) and built the Carbon 
Compensation and Reduction Plan 
for International Aviation (CORSIA), 
which complements the package 
of mitigation measures that the 
air transport community has 
been implementing to reduce CO2 
emissions.

1Non- Methane Volatile Organic Compounds: they are compounds formed mainly by hydrocarbons belonging to some of the 
following chemical groups: alcohol, aldehyde, alkanes, aromatics, ketones and halogenated derivatives. They are characterized for 
being easily vaporized substances at room temperature, and many of them are colorless and odorless.

For our effective implementation of CORSIA, we created an interdisciplinary 
working group that is documenting the EMP – Emissions Monitoring Plan. 
This way, we are supporting the air industry with a first step: to measure the 
baseline of the 2019 period, which will be the starting point for neutral growth 
of emissions in international flights.

Our investments
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We have calculated our carbon footprint, committing ourselves 
to the mitigation of emissions through energy reduction 
programs.

GRI 302-1; 302-3; 302-4 Energy consumption 

Energy consumption using aircraft fuel

GRI 305-4; 305-5; 305-7 Carbon Footprint

Energy consumption in our 
operations:

Our Jet A1 fuel consumption in 
aircraft corresponds to 99,7% of the 

Company’s total energy consumption.
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In order to monitor the level of fuel use efficiency related to the occupation of our aircraft, 
we measure our performance through the fuel consumption indicator, measured in liters 
of our aircraft for every 100 revenue passenger kilometers (RPKs):

At the end of December 2017, we reduced our fuel consumption by 4%, versus the consumption in 2016. This is due to 
the continuity we have had, of our fleet renewal, the application of good operational practices and the contingency of 
the illegal cessation of activities, which led to a significant number of aircraft on land.

Total energy 
consumption of our 
operations:1

Own indicator . Efficiency of our energy 
consumption:2

1It includes the energetic consumption of aircraft fuels, ground equipment, electric plants and purchased electrical energy.
2It includes Avianca, TACA, Aerogal and regionals.
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Energy Saving 
Programs

1 2

43

5 6

7 8

9

In 2017 we continued our fuel saving strategies in 
our aircraft’s operation:

Through our energy-saving 
programs, we can reduce fuel 

consumption by 5.976.107 
gallons. This corresponds to 
58.303,98 tones less of CO2.

SETO (Single Engine Taxi Out): 
Taxiway to the exit with a single 
engine.

SETI (Single Engine Taxi In): 
Taxiway on arrival with a single 
engine.

RFL (Reduced Flaps Landing): 
Landing with flaps 3.

TRA (Thrust Reduction Altitude): 
Taxiway on arrival with a single 
engine.

DA (Desacelerated Approach): 
Achieve a clean approach by 
lowering the train at a certain 
height and/or applying the engine 
power at a certain height.

IRL (Idle Reverse on Landing): Use 
of full reverse less than 4 seconds.

APU Reduce the use of the APU.
Overfueling: Decrease the varia-
tion between fuel according to 
flight plan and the real.

IFF (Idle Fuel Flow Factor): Use of 
an IFF value to make the aircraft 
spend more time cruising and has a 
“cleaner” descent and thus achieve 
a fuel saving.

Due to the increase in operations, during 2017 the scope 1 
N2O emissions by the burning of JET fuel A1, increased by 
0,42% compared to 2016. However, this growth is smaller 
than the operational growth of the last few years.
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GRI 305-7 Equivalent CO2 emissions (CO2e) of our operations:

The estimation of our scope 1 and 2 emissions follows the 
guidelines established by ISO 14064. The scope 1 emissions 
are the result of combustion processes in the operation of 
aircraft, vehicles and ground support equipment, emergency 
electric plants and the consumption of refrigerant gases.

GRI 305-1

Scope 1 Emissions 
Emissions from our aircraft
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Emissions of our vehicles 
and ground support 
equipment

Emissions from our 
electric plants

Total aircraft CO2e emissions
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In 2017, emissions of substances that deplete the 
Ozone Layer (ODS) have reduced by 8,8% compared to 
the year 2016, due to the prevention of leaks and lower 
recharging requirements for air conditioning systems.

On average we have had a 7% growth during the last years. However, in 2017, there was a 0,4% increase compared to 
2016, due in large proportion to the illegal cessation of activities, added to operational improvements and the renewal 
of the fleet.

GRI 305-6 Emissions of our refrigerant 
gas consumption

Total scope 1 CO2e emissions:
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GRI 305-2
Scope 2 Emissions: 

In 2017, there was an 18% growth in purchased electric energy consumption compared to 2016 due to the beginning 
of the operation of the MRO in Rionegro.

GRI 305-4
Efficiency of our generation of CO2 emissions (Kg CO2/100RPKs)1:

In order to monitor the efficiency of the generation of CO2 emissions related to the load  of our aircraft, we measure our 
performance through the emission indicator kg of CO2 emitted by aircraft per 100 passengers per travelled kilometer.

By the year 2017 the kilograms of CO2 per RPK, decreased 
by 4% compared to 2016. This is largely due to the illegal 
cessation of activities, which led part of our fleet to stay 
on land and the aircraft that could operate, did so at 
their maximum occupation capacity. However, we want 
to highlight the positive impact that the new aircraft and 
the implementation of good practices generated for the 
operation.

11
,9

1

11
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2

11
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7

11
,7

7

1 Includes Avianca, Tampa, Avianca Ecuador and regionals.           
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WHAT ARE CARBON CREDITS?
They are an international compensation mechanism for 
greenhouse gas emissions generated by human activities. 
Every time a person or an organization buys credits, it 
invests in projects that protect or recover ecosystems, which 
make up our natural patrimony, essential to sustain the life 
of our planet.

1 Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from deforestation and forest degradation, conservation and increased CO2 catches. 

Purchase of carbon credits  
In 2017, we made our first carbon 
credits purchase, hence compensating 
the emissions of greenhouse gases due 
to fuel consumption in our operations in 
Colombia, which are transformed into 
high impact social and environmental 
investment. The investment benefits 
renewable energy projects (biomass, 
solar and hydropower), reforestation, 
restoration and conservation of forests.

The purchase of these bonds directly 
benefits 2 projects in Latin America, 
2 in Colombia and 2 in the rest of the 
world. One of them has an impact on 
lower Cauca, a zone particularly im-
portant for Colombia’s post-conflict 
agenda.

With these purchases, we managed to 
compensate the effects of 1.021.953 
tons of carbon dioxide, which corre-
sponds to 21,38% of the Company’s 
total scope 1 emissions; these repre-
sent the total emissions due to flights’ 
fuel consumption in Colombia.

Projects benefited in Colombia:
Asorpar: Restoration of degraded areas 
and reforestation in Cáceres and Cravo 
Norte, Colombia (post-conflict zones). 
This forestry project, is a pioneer in its 
kind, it aims to generate productive 
processes from the sustainable 
management of natural resources and 

to recover the ecosystem functions 
lost in soils degraded by mining and 
livestock in the municipality of Cáceres, 
in the lower Cauca region of Antioquia.

Procuenca: Forestry project for the 
Chinchiná River Basin, an environmental 
and productive alternative for the city 
and the region. This project protects 
the watersheds of the Manizales area, 
improves the region’s freshwater 
supply, conserves soil and biodiversity, 
restores the moors, and promotes 
sustainable livelihoods for the region’s 
communities.

In Mexico: We invested in the Aura 
Solar I project in the lower South of 
California, one of the largest producers 
of photovoltaic energy in Latin America, 
key in the clean energy revolution in 
this country.

In Peru: We invested in a REDD+1 

project that invests in the protection 
of the forests and the creation of a 
federation of concessionaires, by means 
of which, the farmers of the Peruvian 
Amazon help fight deforestation.

thesouthpolegroup.com/projects Project 300 658 | 1123ES, 08.2016

RESTAURACIÓN DE 

ÁREAS DEGRADADAS 

EN CÁCERES Y CRAVO 

NORTE

COLOMBIA

Restaurando la selva en Colombia 
después de la fiebre del oro

Este proyecto forestal pionero en su género, situado en el noroeste de Colombia, tiene como objetivo

generar procesos productivos a partir del manejo sostenible de los recursos naturales y recuperar las

funciones ecosistémicas perdidas en suelos degradados por minería y ganadería en el municipio de

Cáceres, en el Bajo Cauca Antioqueño.

Colombia

thesouthpolegroup.com/projects Project 300 494 | 1458ES, 06.2017

HUÓSHUI 
AGRUPACIÓN 
DE PEQUEÑAS 
HIDROELÉCTRICAS
CHINA

Energía limpia para las comunidades 
de las montañas remotas

Este proyecto agrupado se compone de 88 centrales hidroeléctricas de pequeña escala las cuales 

generan electricidad renovable limpia en zonas rurales del suroeste de China. El proyecto contribuye 

a la mitigación de las emisiones de gases de efecto invernadero mediante la generación de energía 

hidroeléctrica en vez de quemar carbón, haciendo una diferencia sustancial en las vidas de las 

comunidades locales.

La zona rural 
suroeste de China

southpole.com/projects Proyecto 301 428 | 1401ES, 01.2018

AURA SOLAR
MÉXICO

Proyecto pionero en energía solar en América Latina

Aura Solar I es uno de los mayores proyectos de energía fotovoltaica en América Latina y un pionero 

en el impulso de la revolución de la energía limpia en México. La planta genera aproximadamente 

82 Gwh de energía solar por año, satisfaciendo las necesidades energéticas de aproximadamente 

164,000 hogares de La Paz.

La Paz

thesouthpolegroup.com

Acciones Sostenibles · Proyecto Forestal y de Uso del Suelo

Protección de los bosques tropicales y la biodiversidad, Perú
Este proyecto está invirtiendo en la industrialización sostenible de 
castañas1, la protección de los bosques y la creación de una federa-
ción de concesionarios; mediante esto, los agricultores de la Amazonia 
peruana ayudan a proteger contra la deforestación a un enorme sitio 
crítico para la biodiversidad.

Proyecto

Ubicado en los bosques tropicales de la Amazonia peruana, el 
proyecto comprende aproximadamente 300,00 hectáreas de bosques 
gestionados por casi 400 familias de pequeños agricultores locales, 
concesionarios de la castaña de Brasil. El proyecto está mejorando 
sus ingresos y fortaleciendo la organización comunitaria. El proyecto 
está trabajando con esas comunidades para establecer un equipo 
de industrialización moderno, permitir la producción de castaña de 
Brasil de alta calidad y dar acceso a los mercados internacionales. Eso 
incrementa el valor a pie de granja y crea nuevas oportunidades de 
empleo. El proyecto está proporcionando a los propietarios de tierras 
acceso al financiamiento de microcréditos para cada temporada de 

cosecha. También se cuenta con equipo de transporte para asegurar la 
industrialización del producto en cuanto se recolecta en la temporada. 
Se imparte capacitación a los integrantes de la comunidad para 
garantizar que las generaciones futuras continúen con las prácticas de 
recolección sostenible. 

Se han establecido sistemas de inspección y vigilancia de la destrucción 
forestal por la apropiación de terrenos para conseguir el derecho 
preferente de compra. Las actividades de inspección incluyen patrullaje 
fronterizo continuo, puestos de control y equipo de comunicaciones 
proporcionado por los propietarios del proyecto. Por otra parte, 
el proyecto ha creado sistemas para detectar la deforestación en 
tiempo real a través de un método de inspección participativo que 
también incluye puestos de control, imágenes vía satélite anuales 
y una evaluación independiente sobre el terreno. Las altas tasas de 
deforestación por la conversión a la agricultura y la tala ilegal se 
generan en las cercanías, en los bosques fuera de la zona del proyecto, 
desde que se construyera una nueva carretera a través de la Amazonia.

Lista de
verificación

Adicionalidad y
permanencia

Verificación 
de un tercero

Transparencia Reducción
anual del CO

2

Beneficios sociales y 
ambientales

Material de
comercialización

Proyecto 
301 448

Conforme a las normas 
de VCS2 y CCBS3

Por SCS4 Por SCS4 Proporcionado por el 
Registro Ambiental de Markit

2,000,000  tCO2e Como se documenta en 
nuestra base de datos

Fotografías de alta 
resolución disponibles

1 También llamada castaña de Brasil y nuez amazónica.
2 Siglas en inglés de Estándar de Carbono Voluntario.

3 Siglas en inglés de Est sobre el Clima, la Comunidad y la Biodiversidad.
4 SCS Global Services.
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• During 2017 we incorporated 6 state-of-the-art 
aircraft, with the purpose of having the best 
technology and reducing our CO2 emissions.

• We compensated our total scope 1 emissions, 
generated in our operation in Colombia, which 
equal 1.021.953 ton of CO2.

• We acquired carbon bonds in 2 projects in Latin 
America, 2 in Colombia and 2 in the rest of the 
world. One of them impacts the lower Cauca 
area, which is particularly important in the 
Colombian post-conflict agenda.

• Continue with the implementation of the best 
aircraft technology and the application of good 
operating practices.

• Continue with the implementation of the ICAO 
CORSIA regulation. 

• Measure our scope 1 and 2 carbon footprint at 
Avianca Holding’s main stations, according to the 
ISO 14064 standards.

• Participate in the Carbon Disclosure Project1   

(CDP).

• Generate strategic alliances for GHG 
compensation.

Our 
challenges 
2018

Highlights

Due to the decline of operating aircraft, we obtained 
a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, higher 
than the targets established in the Company’s 
internal climate change indicators.

  Impact of the illegal cessation 
of activities and contingency 
plan

2017
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We fly with 
eco-efficiency
We evaluate environmental aspects and impacts of our operation 
and are committed to generating efficiencies for the mitigation of 
our environmental impacts.

GRI 303-1 Water consumption1

We reduced our water consumption by 40,7% compared to what was registered in 2016, due to the implementation 
saving strategies and efficient use as well as the delivery of the operation in the Terminal Puente Aéreo in Bogotá to the 
concessionaire of the airport.

Challenge 2018

Establish strategies to achieve savings and the 
efficient use of water resources in the main 
stations where we operate.

Air Maintenance Centers: 
• Generation of conventional and 

hazardous waste. 
• Fuel consumption with the use of 

emergency electric plants. 
• Consumption of water and energy. 
• Wastewater generation. 
• Consumption of chemical substances.

Air operation: 
• Generation of conventional waste on 

domestic flights.

• Fuel consumption.

• Greenhouse gas emissions.

• Noise generation.

Land operation:
• Fuel consumption.

• Greenhouse gas emissions. 

• Generation of noise by operation of 
equipment.

• Consumption of water in the washing 
of aircraft and equipment.

• Wastewater generation.

Administrative centers: 
• Generation of conventional and hazardous waste. 
• Fuel consumption in emergency electrical plants 
• Consumption of water, energy and paper 
• Wastewater generation.

1The 303-1 indicator refers to water consumption in Bogotá: Avianca’s Administrative Center, Center of Operational Excellence, Hangar 2, Medellín: Hangar MRO (Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul) and 
Hangar Tampa, Salvador, Guayaquil, Quito, Lima, San José, Guatemala.

Percentage of total water consumed by type 
of catchment in 2017.

Environmental 
aspects of our 

operations

Municipal 
water 

supplies 
76%

94.350 m3

Ground water
24%

29.834,9 m3

Own indicator. Noise Generation

Our goal is to maintain the highest standards in noise 
mitigation technology in the operation, for this reason we 
incorporated 6 new aircraft: 2 Boeing 787-8, 2 A321NEO 
and 2 A320NEO.

GRI 306-2 Waste generation

In 2017 we have decreased the amount of conventional 
waste recycled compared to 2016, due to the change in 
the waste model of El Dorado Airport in Bogotá. On the 
other hand, fulfilling our commitment to be in constant 
search of final disposal methods of hazardous waste that 
generate a lower environmental impact, we have 67,7% in 
recovery processes.

Challange 
2018
Maintain the highest technology standards for 
noise mitigation.

Increase the percentage of recycling of 
conventional waste and maintain proportion 
of dangerous waste that is disposed of through 
recuperation and valuation processes.2017

100% of our aircraft fulfill the stage IV  
requirements determined by the ICAO
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Goal 2017 

98%

Goal 2017 

70%
Goal 2017 

35%

GRI 306-2. Dangerous waste by elimination 
method (ton)

Reused, recycled, composted 0

Recuperation, including energetic 
recuperation

358,2

Incineration (burnt mass) 129,3

Immersion in deep wells 0

Landwell (Security filling) 37,9

Storage in place 3,8

Others 0
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GRI 102-55 GRI Content Index

General Contents/ GRI Standard/ 
Own indicator Page/URL/Direct Response Omissions External 

Verification
Global 

Compact 
Principles

Page

Profile of the Organization

GRI 102-1 Name of the organization     5

GRI 102-2 Activities, brands, products 
and services     5

GRI 102-3 Location of headquarters Avianca Holdings S.A.
Bogotá Colombia    

GRI 102-4 Location of the operations     11

GRI 102-5 Ownership and legal form

Avianca Holdings S.A. established on 
October 2009 as SK Holding Limited 
in Bahamas and reestablished in 
Panama in 2011. Reformed several 
times, the last one approved by the 
General Assembly in an ordinary 
reunion held in Panama, on March 
31st 2016.

   

GRI 102-6 Markets served     12

GRI 102-7 Scale of the organization     11

GRI 102-9 Supply chain     30

GRI 102-10 Significant changes to the 
organization and its supply chain

The significant changes that took 
place during this period in terms of 
size, structure, property of stocks or 
the supply chain of the Company, 
will be indicated when necessary 
throughout the report

   

GRI 102-11 Precautionary Principle or 
approach     136

GRI 102-12 External initiatives
This information is pointed out, 
when applicable in the Annual 
Report chapters

   

GRI 102-13 Membership of associations     26

Strategy

GRI 102-14 Statement from senior 
decision-maker     4

Ethics and integrity

GRI 102 – 16 Values, principles, 
standards and norms of behavior   10 6

Corporate Governance

GRI 102-17 Mechanisms for advice and 
concerns about ethics 13

GRI 102-18 Governance structure

Currently the 
Company doesn’t 
have a decision 
making committee 
directly related 
to environmental 
topics, however, 
these are handled 
by the directorate 
of environmental 
issues.

10 41

Participation of stakeholders

GRI 102-40 List of stakeholder groups     48

GRI 102-41 Collective bargaining 
agreements   3 59

GRI 102-42 Identifying and selecting 
stakeholders     48

GRI 102-43 Approach to stakeholder 
engagement     48

GRI 102-44 Key topics and concerns 48

Report practice

GRI 102-45 Entities included in the 
consolidated financial statements

This information will be included in 
the financial statements annexed.    

GRI 102-46 Defining report content 
and topic Boundaries     7

GRI 102-47 List of material topics     46

GRI 102-48 Restatements of 
information     7

GRI 102-49 Changes in reporting     7

GRI 102-50 Reporting period     7

GRI 102-51 Date of most recent report     7

GRI 102- 52 Reporting cycle     7

GRI 102-53 Contact point for questions 
regarding the report     8

GRI 102-54 Claims of reporting in 
accordance with the GRI Standards     8

GRI 102-55 GRI content index     150

GRI 102-56 External assurance     8

Relevant issues for materiality analysis

General Contents/ GRI Standard/ 
Own indicator Page/URL/Direct Response Omissions External 

Verification
Global 

Compact 
Principles

Page
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Own indicator
Reduction of fines for Transportation 
Security Administration (TSA)

70

Economic performance

GRI 201-1 Direct economic value 
generated and distributed X 126

Corporate Governance

GRI 405-1 Diversity of governance 
bodies and employees

40% women and 60% men from the 
total employees. 37% are women in 
management positions and 63% are 
men in management positions.

X
83
96
97

Training and development of employees

GRI 404-2 Programs for upgrading 
employee skills and transition
assistance programs

104

Own indicator
Number of training hours for the 
leadership program

X 104

Own indicator
Hours of regulated training 108

Own indicator
Hours of Avianca Academy training 
programs

X 108

GRI 404-3 Percentage of employees 
receiving regular performance
and career development reviews

X 110

Sustainable employment

GRI 401-2 Benefits provided to full-time 
employees that are not provided to 
temporary or part-time employees

111

GRI 405-2 Ratio of basic salary and 
remuneration of women to men X 6 112

Safe and healthy work environment for our employees

GRI 403-2 Types of injury and rates of 
injury, occupational diseases, lost days, 
and absenteeism, and number of work-
related fatalities

X 120

Security and protection on land and air

Own indicator
Technical reliability 75

Own indicator
Stabilized approximations 78

Own indicator
Presented and solved deficiencies 79

Own indicator
Security risk cases and situations of  
identified danger

X 79

Attraction and retention of talent

Own indicator
Engagement study 98

Own indicator
Culture survey 99

Own indicator
Level of satisfaction of service variables 99

GRI 401-1 New employee hires and 
employee turnover X 101

Satisfaction and relationship with clients

Own indicator
Net Promoter Score (NPS) 99

Own indicator
Skytrax ranking 89

Own indicator
Complain rate X 89

Corporate citizenship

Own indicator 
Link to and participation in 
fundamental corporate government 
scenarios.

X 59

Fleet management

Own indicator
15 minute delays in long and short 
reach flights

X 35

Development of the environmental management system

Own indicator
Environmental expenses and 
investments

7, 8, 9 136

Own indicator
Environmental non-compliance X 7, 8, 9 136

Mitigation and adaptation to climate change

GRI 302-1 Energy consumption within 
the organization X 7, 8, 9 138

GRI 302-3 Energy intensity X 7, 8, 9 138

GRI 302-4 Reduction of energy 
consumption 7, 8, 9 138

Compliance with laws and regulations

Own Indicator
Trainings on SIPLAFT, SOX, security of 
information and protection of personal 
data

  10 68

General Contents/ GRI Standard/ 
Own indicator Page/URL/Direct Response Omissions External 

Verification
Global 

Compact 
Principles

Page General Contents/ GRI Standard/ 
Own indicator Page/URL/Direct Response Omissions External 

Verification
Global 

Compact 
Principles

Page
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GRI 305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG 
emissions X 7, 8, 9 138

GRI 305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) 
GHG emissions X 7, 8, 9 138

GRI 305-4 GHG emissions intensity X 7, 8, 9 138

GRI 305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 7, 8, 9 138

305-6 Emissions of ozone-depleting 
substances (ODS) X 7, 8, 9 138

GRI 305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOX), 
sulfur oxides (SOX), and other 
significant air
emissions

X 7, 8, 9 138

Own indicator
Efficiency of our energy consumption 7, 8, 9 139

Own indicator
Efficiency of our CO2 emissions(Kg 
CO2/100RPKs)  

7, 8, 9 144

Eco efficiency

GRI 303-1 Water withdrawal by source X 7, 8, 9 148

GRI 306-2 Waste by type and disposal 
method X 7, 8, 9 149

Own indicator
Noise generation 7, 8, 9 149

Other topics for materiality analysis

Respect to freedom of association and fulfillment of our commitments towards our employees

GRI 407-1 Operations and suppliers 
in which the right to freedom of 
association and collective bargaining 
may be at risk.

There were no related risks in 
our operations. The scope of the 
information doesn’t apply for 
suppliers, given this analysis wasn’t 
done in 2017.

X

General Contents/ GRI Standard/ 
Own indicator Page/URL/Direct Response Omissions External 
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4 
 

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
(In USD thousands) 
 

4 
 

 

 Notes 

As of 
December 31, 

2017  

As of 
December 31, 

2016 
     
Assets     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents 7 $            508,982  $            375,753 
Restricted cash 7 5,465  5,371 
Accounts receivable, net of provision for 
doubtful accounts 8 340,376  313,868 
Accounts receivable from related parties 9 17,204  19,283 
Expendable spare parts and supplies, net of 
provision for obsolescence 10 97,248  82,362 
Prepaid expenses 11 99,757  59,725 
Deposits and other assets 12 201,984  160,124 

Total current assets  1,271,016  1,016,486 
Non–current assets:     

Available–for–sale securities 6.b 55  76 
Deposits and other assets 12 116,345  174,033 
Accounts receivable, net of provision for 
doubtful accounts 8 140,416  92,048 
Intangible assets 14 426,579  412,918 
Deferred tax assets 30 25,969  5,845 
Property and equipment, net 13 4,881,016  4,649,929 

Total non–current assets  5,590,380  5,334,849 
Total assets  $         6,861,396  $         6,351,335 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
(In USD thousands) 
 

5 
 

 
Notes 

As of 
December 31, 

2017 
 

As of 
December 31, 

2016 
     
Liabilities and equity     
Current liabilities:     

Current portion of long–term debt 16 $            572,072  $ 406,739 
Accounts payable 17 526,964  493,106 
Accounts payable to related parties 9 7,187  9,072 
Accrued expenses 18 186,657  138,797 
Provisions for legal claims 31 11,720  18,516 
Provisions for return conditions 19 19,093  53,116 
Employee benefits 20 38,706  39,581 
Air traffic liability 21 539,225  521,190 
Other liabilities 22 9,415  11,085 

Total current liabilities  1,911,039  1,691,202 
Non–current liabilities:     

Long–term debt 16 3,180,041  2,867,496 
Accounts payable 17 5,084  2,734 
Provisions for return conditions 19 144,099  120,822 
Employee benefits 20 135,640  115,569 
Deferred tax liabilities 30 25,814  20,352 
Air traffic liability 21 104,786  98,088 
Other liabilities 22 15,193  14,811 

Total non–current liabilities  3,610,657  3,239,872 
Total liabilities  5,521,696  4,931,074 

Equity: 24    
Common stock  82,600  82,600 
Preferred stock  42,023  42,023 
Additional paid–in capital on common stock  234,567  234,567 
Additional paid–in capital on preferred stock  469,273  469,273 
Retained earnings  528,805  544,681 
Revaluation and other reserves  58,382  27,365 

Total equity attributable to the Company  1,415,650  1,400,509 
Non–controlling interest  (75,950)  19,752 
Total equity  1,339,700  1,420,261 
Total liabilities and equity  $         6,861,396  $ 6,351,335 

 
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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  For the year ended December 31, 
 Notes 2017  2016  2015 
       
Operating revenue:       
    Passenger  $     3,550,160         $ 3,285,217  $ 3,458,017 
    Cargo and other 5, 25 891,524  853,121  903,324 
Total operating revenue  4,441,684  4,138,338  4,361,341 
       
Operating expenses:       
    Flight operations  92,471  58,381  58,069 
    Aircraft fuel  923,468  785,273  1,006,792 
    Ground operations  450,209  426,203  412,382 
    Aircraft rentals 32 278,772  314,493  317,505 
    Passenger services  166,869  151,718  149,292 
    Maintenance and repairs  280,536  260,703  309,719 
    Air traffic  242,587  218,965  202,980 
    Sales and marketing  515,073  545,318  612,775 
    General, administrative and other  177,864  187,560  176,195 
    Salaries, wages and benefits  706,778  661,708  666,084 

Depreciation and amortization 13,14 313,413  269,546  230,732 
Total operating expenses  4,148,040  3,879,868  4,142,525 
Operating profit  293,644  258,470  218,816 
       
Interest expense  (183,332)  (172,630)  (169,407) 
Interest income  14,528  13,054  19,016 
Derivative instruments  (2,536)  3,321  626 
Foreign exchange 6.g (20,163)  (23,939)  (177,529) 

       
Profit (loss) before income tax  102,141  78,276  (108,478) 
       
    Income tax expense – current 30 (35,159)  (27,448)  (17,280) 
    Income tax expense – deferred  15,050  (6,642)  (13,748) 
Total income tax expense  (20,109)  (34,090)  (31,028) 
       
Net profit (loss) for the year  $          82,032  $ 44,186  $   (139,506) 
       
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per 
share 15    

  

Common stock  $              0.05                             $          0.04  $         (0.14) 
Preferred stock  $              0.05                                                        $          0.04  $         (0.14) 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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  For the year ended December 31, 
 Notes 2017  2016  2015 
       
Net profit (loss) for the year  $             82,032               $ 44,186  $   (139,506) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):       
  Items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss in future periods:  24    

  

   Revaluation of administrative 
   property  31,017  8,971 

 
(6,156) 

   Actuarial gains (loss)  (33,385)  4,094  541 
   Income tax  (15,018)  4,289  3,410 
  (17,386)  17,354  (2,205) 
Items that will be reclassified to profit or 
loss in future periods:     24    

  

   Effective portion of changes in fair 
value of hedging instruments  6,385  21,712 

 
77,308 

   Net change in fair value of available–
for–sale securities  19  (245) 

 
3,098 

   Income tax   3,558  (3,558)  (13,358) 
  9,962  17,909  67,048 
Other comprehensive income (loss), 
net of income tax  (7,424)  35,263 

  
  64,843 

Total comprehensive income (loss) net 
of income tax  $              74,608  $ 79,449 

  
$           (74,663) 

       
Profit (loss) attributable to:       
Equity holders of the parent  $             48,237  $ 16,980  $         (155,388) 
Non–controlling interest  33,795  27,206  15,882 
Net profit (loss)  $             82,032  $ 44,186  $        (139,506) 

       
Total comprehensive income (loss) 
attributable to:     

  

Equity holders of the parent  40,813  $ 52,243  $   (90,545) 
Non–controlling interest  33,795  27,206  15,882 
Total comprehensive income (loss)  $              74,608      $ 79,449  $    (74,663) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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  For the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 

   Common stock   Preferred stock  Additional paid-in capital   Equity 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 
the parent 

Non- 
controlling 

interest 

 Total 
equity  

 Notes  Shares  
 

Amount   Shares   Amount  
 Common 

stock  
 Preferred 

stock  

 
Revaluation 

and other 
reserves 

 Retained 
earnings 
and OCI 
reserves 

Balance at  
January 31, 2015 (audited) 

 

660,800,003 $  82,600   336,187,285 $  42,023   $  234,567  $     469,273   $     24,550 $     355,671 $  1,208,684 $       8,063 $  1,216,747 

Net Loss 
 

— — — — — — — (155,388) (155,388) 15,882 (139,506) 

Other comprensive income for 
the period 

24 — 
— 

— — — —  
(6,156) 70,999 64,843 — 64,843 

Dividends paid 24 — — — — — — — (67,088) (67,088) (3,750) (70,838) 

Sale of minority shareholding 24 — — — — — — — 302,938 302,938 (1,549) 301,389 

Balance at  
December 31, 2015 (audited) 

 
660,800,003 $   82,600 336,187,285 $  42,023 $   234,567  $     469,273   $    18,394 $  507,132 $  1,353,989 $    18,646 $  1,372,635 

Net profit  — — — — — — — 16,980 16,980 27,206 44,186 

Other comprensive income for 
the period 24 — — — — — — 8,971 26,292 35,263 — 35,263 

Dividends paid 24 — — — — — — — (5,723) (5,723) (26,100) (31,823) 

Balance at  
December 31, 2016 (audited) 

 
660,800,003 $  82,600 336,187,285 $  42,023 $  234,567  $     469,273   $     27,365 $     544,681 $  1,400,509 $     19,752 $  1,420,261 

Net profit 24 — — — — — — — 48,237 48,237 33,795 82,032 

Increase in non–controlling 
interest 

 
— — — — — — — 

 
— — 504 504 

Other comprehensive income  for 
the period 

24 
— — — — — — 31,017 (38,441) (7,424) — (7,424) 

Dividends paid 24 — — — — — — — (25,672) (25,672) (130,001) (155,673) 

Balance at 
December 31, 2017 (audited) 

 

660,800,003 $  82,600 336,187,285 $  42,023 $  234,567  $    469,273   $     58,382 $    528,805 $  1,415,650 $     (75,950) $   1,339,700 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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  For the year ended December 31, 
  2017  2016  2015 
       
Cash flows from operating activities:       

Net profit (loss) for the year  $        82,032  
 

$   44,186 
 
$     (139,506) 

Adjustments for:       
Depreciation and amortization  313,413  269,546   230,732 
Share–based payment loss (income)  (1,002)  1,111  (1,121) 
Loss (gains) on disposal of assets  (1,978)  10,256  8,670 
Fair value adjustment of financial instruments  3,549  (4,290)  5,327 
Interest income  (14,528)  (13,054)  (19,016) 
Interest expense  183,332  172,630  169,407 
Deferred tax  (15,050)  6,642   13,748 
Current tax  35,159  27,448  17,280 
Currency translation adjustment  20,163  23,939  177,529 

Changes in:       
Accounts receivable  (104,430)  (62,550)  (39,043) 
Expendable spare parts and supplies  (14,648)  (13,593)  (3,154) 
Prepaid expenses  (49,396)  (14,017)  10,357 
Deposits and other assets  38,611  28,050  181 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  92,355  40,217  (25,969) 
Air traffic liability  24,491  89,187  (23,879) 
Provision for return conditions  (10,647)  11,387  32,217 
Employee benefits  (15,011)  (8,929)  (11,996) 
Income tax paid  (39,098)  (40,212)  (38,762) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  527,317  567,954  363,002 
Cash flows from investing activities:       

Available–for–sale securities  85  170  7,043 
Restricted cash  (505)  7,422  (10,815) 
Interest received   12,492  8,606  9,009 
Advance payments on aircraft purchase 
contracts  (119,049)  (78,523) 

 
(220,920) 

Acquisition of property and equipment  (215,305)  (210,772)  (156,655) 
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  For the year ended December 31, 
  2017  2016  2015 

Redemption (Investment in) of investment in 
certificates of bank deposits  (15,540)  32,709 

 
(32,087) 

Acquisition of intangible assets  (30,619)  (21,660)     (16,856) 
Proceeds from the adquisition of subsidiary  6     
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  161,910  143,362  90,625 
Proceeds form sale of investments  484  296  165 

Net cash used in investing activities  (206,041)  (118,390)  (330,491) 
Cash flows from financing activities:       

Proceeds from loans and borrowings  510,360   35,034  451,973 
Repayments of loans and borrowings  (388,096)  (394,939)  (515,927) 
Dividends paid  (25,671)  (31,823)  (70,838) 
Increase in non–controlling interest  (130,002)     
Interest paid  (162,144)  (158,741)  (148,518) 
Sale of minority shareholding      301,389 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing 
activities  (195,553)  (550,469) 

  
18,079 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 
equivalents  125,723  (100,905) 

 
50,590 

Net foreign exchange difference  7,506  (2,723)  (212,100) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  375,753  479,381  640,891 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $      508,982              
$       375,753 

  
$        479,381 

 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(1) Reporting entity  
Avianca Holdings S.A. (the “Company” or “Avianca Holdings S.A.”), a Panamanian corporation whose registered address 
is at Calle Aquilino de la Guardia No. 8 IGRA Building, Panama City, Republic of Panama, was incorporated on October 5, 
2009 under the name SK Holdings Limited and under the laws of the Commonwealth of the Bahamas. Subsequently, the 
Company changed its corporate name as follows on March 10, 2010 to AviancaTaca Limited, on January 28, 2011 to 
AviancaTaca Holding, S.A and on March 3, 2011 changed its registered offices to Panama. In 2011 AviancaTaca listed its 
shares in the Bolsa de Valores de Colombia (“BVC”) and was listed as PFAVTA: CB. On March 21, 2013 the Company 
changed its legal name from AviancaTaca Holding S.A. to Avianca Holdings S.A. and its listing name to PFAVH: CB. On 
November 6, 2013, the Company listed its shares on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and is listed as AVH. 

The Company through its subsidiaries is a provider of domestic and international, passenger and cargo air transportation, 
both in the domestic markets of Colombia, Ecuador, Costa Rica, Nicaragua and Peru and international routes serving North, 
Central and South America, Europe, and the Caribbean. The Company has entered into a number of bilateral code share 
alliances with other airlines (whereby selected seats on one carrier’s flights can be marketed under the brand name and 
commercial code of the other), expanding travel choices to customers worldwide. Marketing alliances typically include: joint 
frequent flyer program participation; coordination of reservations, ticketing, passenger check-in and baggage handling and 
transfer of passenger and baggage at any point of connectivity, among others. The code share agreements include Air Canada, 
United Airlines, Aeromexico, All Nippon Airways, Singapore Airlines, Copa Airlines, OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, S.A., Iberia, 
Lufthansa, Eva Airways, Air China, Etihad Airways, Silver Airways and Turkish Airlines. Avianca and Taca International 
(as well as Taca affiliates) and Aerogal are members of Star Alliance, which give customers access to destinations and 
services offered by Star Alliance network, allowing customers to access all the destinations and services offered by the 28 
member airlines of the Star Alliance network. Its members include several of the most recognized airlines worldwide, such 
as Lufthansa, United Airlines, Thai Airlines, Air Canada, TAP, Singapore Airlines, among others, as well as smaller regional 
airlines. All of them are committed to meet the highest standards in terms of security and customer service. 

Cargo operations are carried out by our subsidiaries and affiliates, including Tampa Cargo S.A.S. The Company also 
undertakes cargo operations through the use of hold space on passenger flights and dedicated freight aircraft. In certain of 
the airport hubs, the Company performs ground operations for third-party airlines. 

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In USD thousands) 
    

12 
 

The Company operates a coalition loyalty program, including the frequent flyer program for the airline subsidiaries of 
Avianca Holdings S.A. named LifeMiles. LifeMiles is designed to build customers loyalty and increase loyalty by offering 
incentives, among others, to passengers traveling on the participating airline partners for their continued preference. Under 
the LifeMiles program, the customer earns miles by flying through its air partners, including Star Alliance and by using the 
services of non–air program partners such as credit cards, hotels, car rentals and other. The miles earned can be exchanged 
for flights or other partners’ products or services. Customers may redeem their awards through airline members of Star 
Alliance, which give customers of the Company access to the routes, destinations and services of the Star Alliance network. 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, Avianca Holdings S.A. had a total fleet consisting of: 

  2017  2016 
Aircraft  Owned/ 

Financial 
Lease 

 Operating 
Lease 

 Total  Owned/ 
Financial 

Lease 

 Operating 
Lease 

 Total 

Airbus A-318  10  —  10  —  10  10 
Airbus A-319  23  5  28  23  7  30 
Airbus A-320  37  27  64  34  28  62 
Airbus A-321  5  8  13  5  6  11 
Airbus A-330  1  9  10  1  8  9 
Airbus A-330F  6  —  6  6  —  6 
Airbus A-300F-B4F  5  —  5  5  —  5 
Boeing 767  —  1  1  —  —  — 
Boeing 787-8  7  5  12  6  4  10 
ATR-42  2  —  2  2  —  2 
ATR-72  15  —  15  15  —  15 
Boeing 767F  2  —  2  2  —  2 
Cessna Grand Caravan  13  —  13  13  —  13 
Embraer E-190  10  —  10  10  2  12 
  136  55  191  122  65  187 
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Cessation of pilot activities affiliated with the Colombian Association of Civil Aviators (ACDAC) 
Avianca S.A. (subsidiary of the Avianca Holdings Group) in compliance with Colombian labor regulations, held between August 
23 and September 11, 2017, the stage of direct arrangement between the Company and the Colombian Association of Civil Aviators 
(ACDAC), without reaching an agreement between the parties concerning the list of demands presented by ACDAC on August 
8th, 2017. 
 
During the days 18 to September 26, 2017, additional conversations were held with the mediation of the Ministry of Labor. Despite 
the multiple economic and regulatory proposals presented by the Company's Management to the requests of the pilots in the 
different direct settlement sessions and with the support of the Ministry of Labor, on September 20, 2017  an illegal cease of labor 
activitiesbegan by pilots of Avianca SA who are affiliated to ACDAC until November 10, 2017, cease that was lifted voluntarily 
by the general assembly of this union. This cease  affected directly the Avianca S.A. operation (subsidiary of the Avianca Holdings 
group). 
After 51 days of cessation of activities by the pilots affiliated to ACDAC, on November 10, 2017 the general assembly of this 
union decided to lift the strike forward indicating that they would return to their labor activities on November 13, 2017. 
Since this date, a reincorporation process has been advancedto guarantee the  reincorporationof all the aviators that were in the 
cease of activities, it is done under the operational rigor standards of Avianca and the Collective Labor Convention. Likewise, the 
operational recovery plan is being carried out gradually. 
 
Currently, two independent legal processes are being conducted in the competent entities: 
 

1. Arbitration Court - On September 28, 2017, by resolution No. 3744, the Ministry of Labor convened a compulsory 
arbitration tribunal to settle differences in economic claims between the Company and ACDAC. On November 22, 
2017, the Tribunal was established, consisting of three arbitrators, who held sessions until December 7, on which date 
they issued an arbitration award which is comparable to a Collective Labor Convention agreement. The Arbitral Award 
was notified to the Company on December 11, 2017. Upon reviewing the text of the document, the Company requested 
the Tribunal to clarify the Award and filed a motion for annulment at the same time. This, considering that the Court 
exceeded its powers by taking decisions that were not within its jurisdiction. To date, the Arbitration Court has not 
granted such appeal, which must be known by the Labor Chamber of the Supreme Court of Justice. 
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2. Statementof illegal cease of activities - On September 25, 2017, the Company filed a lawsuit to declare the illegality of 
the cease of activities initiated by ACDAC. On October 6, 2017, the Superior Court of Bogotá declared the illegality 
of the cease of activities advanced, a decision against which ACDAC filed an appeal resource, which was known by 
the Labor Chamber of the Supreme Court of Justice. On November 29, 2017, the Labor Chamber of the Supreme Court 
of Justice upheld the ruling issued by the Superior Court of Bogotá that had declared illegal the cease of activities 
advanced by ACDAC. Against this decision, ACDAC submitted an application for addition and clarification of the 
judgment, as well as annulment. On February 5, 2018, Avianca had the procedural opportunity to present its arguments 
regarding the inadmissibility of the requests made by ACDAC in response to the sentence handed down by the Supreme 
Court of Justice. As of this date, it is pending that this Corporation will pronounce itself again and thus the decision on 
the illegality of the cease of activities will be final. 

In addition, to date, seven (7) tutelage actions filed by ACDAC associated with the call made by the Ministry of Labor to form an 
Arbitration Court and the illegality ruling issued by the Superior Court of Bogotá have been denied. 
 
This illegal cease of activities by the pilots associated with ACDAC, which lasted 51 days, has a negative impact on the operational 
revenues for passengers not transported as a result of the decrease in sales of air tickets and cargo transportation, additional costs 
for compensation to passengers and lower operating costs, estimated at $127 million as of December 31, 2017. 

(2) Basis of professional accounting standar  
(a) Statement of compliance 

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 26, 
2017. 

(b) Basis of measurement 
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of the historical cost model, with the exception of 
land and buildings, derivative financial instruments, financial investments available for sale and the loyalty program that 
have been measured at fair value. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized and designated as hedged 
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items in fair value hedge relationships, which would otherwise have been accounted for at amortized cost, have been 
adjusted to record changes in fair values attributable to the risks that are covered in the respective effective hedging 
relationships.. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in US Dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 
financial information presented has been rounded to the nearest thousands, except when otherwise indicated. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments 
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

The following are critical judgments used in applying accounting policies that may have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements: 

▪   The Company has entered into operating lease contracts with respect to 55 aircraft. The Company has determined, 
based on the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership of all these 
leased aircraft have not been transferred from the lessor, so it accounts for these lease contracts as operating leases. 

▪   The Company recognizes revenue from tickets that are expected to expire unused based on historical data and 
experience. Defining expected breakage requires management to make informed estimates about, among other things, 
the extent to which historical experience is  an indication of the future customer behavior. Annually, or more 
frequently as the experience data suggests, management reassesses the historical data and makes required 
adjustments. In turn, the Company has incorporated a variable in the calculation of the estimate, which corresponds 
to the tariff segmentation, resulting in an additional income of $9.9 million for the year 2017. 

▪   The Company operates certain aircraft under a financing structure which involves the creation of structured entities 
that acquire aircraft with bank and third–party financing. This relates to 111 aircraft from the A319, A320, A321, 
A330, A330F, ATR72 and B787 families. The Company has determined, based on the terms and conditions of the 
arrangements, that the Company controls these special purpose entities (“SPE”) and therefore, SPEs are consolidated 
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by the Company and these aircraft are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as part of Property 
and Equipment with the corresponding debt shown as a liability. 

The following assumptions and estimation uncertainties may have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements within the next financial year: 

▪ The Company believes that the tax positions taken are reasonable. However, tax authorities by audits proceedings 
may challenge the positions taken resulting in additional liabilities for taxes and interest that may become payable in 
future years. Tax positions involve careful judgment on the part of management and are reviewed and adjusted to 
account for changes in circumstances, such as lapse of applicable statutes of limitations, conclusions of tax audits, 
additional exposures derived from new legal issues or court decisions on a particular tax matter. The Company 
establishes provisions, based on their estimation on feasibility of a negative decision derived from an audit proceeding 
by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based on 
various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and different interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable 
entity and the responsible tax authority. Actual results could differ from estimates. 

▪ Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized and the tax rates used, based upon the likely timing and the level 
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies, and the enacted tax rates in the jurisdictions in 
which the entity operates. 

▪ The Company measures administrative land and buildings primarily in Bogota, Medellín, San Jose, and San Salvador 
at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognized in other comprehensive income. The Company 
engaged independent valuation specialists to determine the fair value of these assets as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016. The valuation techniques used by these specialists require estimates about market conditions at the time of the 
report. 

▪ The Company assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non–financial assets at each reporting 
date. Flight equipment, goodwill and indefinite–lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other 
times when such indicators exist. Impairment analysis requires the Company to estimate the value in use of the cash 
generating units to which goodwill is assigned. 
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▪ The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post–employment medical benefits and the present value of the 
pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various 
assumptions which may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount 
rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the 
underlying assumptions and its long–term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these 
assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. 

In determining the appropriate discount rate for pension plans in Colombia, management refers to market yields on 
Colombian Government bonds, since it is management’s judgment that there is no deep local market for high quality 
corporate bonds. 

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables in Colombia. Future salary increases and pension 
increases are based on expected future inflation rates in Colombia. 

▪ As a result of the maturity of Loyalty business and given the information available on the history of Program and 
members behavior, in June 2017 the Company implemented a new methodology to estimate breakage. 

 In the previous methodology, the breakage was calculated based on historical redemption patterns from older months, 
based on the aggregate behavior of all members. The new methodology considers the behavior of the members based 
on a segmentation into statistically homogeneous groups of members to be able to project future behaviors , and 
therefore is considered to be more robust in predicting redemption rates by segment and breakage estimates of the 
Program. The change in estimate in accordance with accounting standards was treated prospectively from the date of 
the change in accordance with IAS 8. The accounting effect on net income for 2017 generated by the change in the 
estimate will be negative at $8.1 million. 

▪ Aircraft lease contracts establish certain conditions in which aircraft shall be returned to the lessor at the end of the 
contracts. To comply with return conditions, the Company incurs costs such as the payment to the lessor of a rate in 
accordance with the use of components through the term of the lease contract, payment of maintenance deposits to 
the lessor, or overhaul costs of components. In certain contracts, if the asset is returned in a better maintenance 
condition than the condition at which the asset was originally delivered, the Company is entitled to receive 
compensation from the lessor. The Company accrues a provision to comply with return conditions at the time the 
asset does not meet the return condition criteria based on the conditions of each lease contract. The recognition of 
return conditions require management to make estimates of the costs of return conditions and use inputs such as hours 
or cycles flown of major components, estimated hours or cycles at redelivery of major components, projected 
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overhaul costs and overhaul dates of major components. At redelivery of aircraft, any difference between the 
provision recorded and actual costs is recognized in the result of the period 

(3) Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Consolidated Financial 
Statements, and have been applied consistently by all the Company’s entities. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by Avianca Holdings S.A. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Control is 
established after assessing the Company’s ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee, its exposure and rights to 
variable returns, and its ability to use its power to affect the amount of the investee’s returns. The accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been aligned when necessary with the policies adopted by the Company. 

The following are the significant subsidiaries included within these financial statements: 

Name of Subsidiary Country of 
Incorporation 

Ownership 
Interest% 

 2017 2016 
Avianca Ecuador Ecuador 99,62% 99.62% 
Aerovías del Continente Americano S.A. Colombia 99,98% 99.98% 
Avianca, Inc. USA 100% 100% 
Avianca Leasing, LLC USA 100% 100% 
Grupo Taca Holdings Limited Bahamas 100% 100% 
Latin Airways Corp. Panama 100% 100% 
LifeMiles B.V. Curaçao 70% 70% 
Avianca Costa Rica S.A. Costa Rica 92,40% 92.40% 
Taca International Airlines, S.A. El Salvador 96,84% 96.84% 
Tampa Cargo Logistics, Inc. USA 99,98% 99.98% 
Tampa Cargo S.A.S. Colombia 99,98% 99.98% 
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Name of Subsidiary Country of 
Incorporation 

Ownership 
Interest% 

 2017 2016 
Technical and Training Services, S.A. de C.V.  El Salvador 99% 99% 
Trans American Airlines S.A. Peru 100% 100% 
Vu–Marsat S.A. Costa Rica 100% 100% 

 
On April 19, 2013, Avianca Leasing, LLC was formed as a limited liability Company in the State of Delaware, United 
States. On May 10, 2013, Avianca Holdings S.A. completed a $300,000 private offering of Senior Notes under Rule 144A 
and Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Two subsidiaries of Avianca Holdings, Grupo Taca 
Holdings, Limited and Avianca Leasing, LLC, are jointly and severally liable under the Senior Notes as co–issuers. Avianca 
Leasing, LLC will not engage in any material business activity other than purchasing, leasing or otherwise acquiring and/or 
financing aircraft for use by Avianca, S.A. and its subsidiaries, the incurrence of obligations in connection therewith, 
including the notes, and activities incidental or ancillary thereto. Avianca S.A. is the sole member of Avianca Leasing, 
LLC. Therefore, the Company has consolidated the entity in accordance with IFRS 10. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements also include 55 special purpose entities that relate primarily to the Company’s 
aircraft leasing activities.  These special purpose entities are created in order to facilitate financing of aircraft with each 
SPE holding a single aircraft or asset. In addition the Consolidated Financial Statements includes 73 entities that are mainly 
investment vehicles, personnel employers and service providers within the consolidated entities. The Company has 
consolidated these entities in accordance with IFRS 10. 

(b) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intercompany transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

(c) Foreign currency 
Foreign currency transactions  
These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
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Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the respective spot rate of exchange 
ruling at the date of the transaction.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the spot rate of exchange ruling at the 
reporting date. All differences are taken to profit or loss. Non–monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the initial transaction. Non–monetary items measured 
at a revalued amount in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
determined. 

(d) Foreign operations  
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are translated using 
the closing exchange rate on the date of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The revenues and expenses of 
each income statement account are translated at monthly average rates; and all the resultant exchange differences are shown 
as a separate component in other comprehensive income. 

(e) Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations”. The consideration for an acquisition is measured at acquisition date fair value of consideration transferred 
including the amount of any non–controlling interests in the acquiree. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred and 
included in administrative expenses.  

When the Company acquires a business, it measures at fair value the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred to the seller, 
including the amount recognized for non–controlling interest over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purposes of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Company’s cash–generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the acquisition, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 
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(f) Revenue recognition 
In accordance with IAS 18, revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding associated taxes. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

(i) Passenger and cargo transportation 

The Company recognizes revenues from passenger transport and cargo transportation as profits once the service has 
been provided or on the basis of estimated ticket prices that are expected not to be used.. 

The Company is required, at the time of ticket sales, to collect and collect certain taxes, among which are transportation 
taxes and entry and exit taxes. These taxes are legal encumbrances that are imposed on the customer and are not 
included in the revenue for passenger transportation because the Company has a legal obligation to act as a collection 
agent on behalf of the local Tax Authorities. The Company records a liability when taxes are collected and it is written 
off when the government entity is paid.  

A significant portion of the ticket sales are processed through major credit card companies, resulting in accounts 
receivable which are generally short–term in duration and typically collected prior to the recognition of revenue. Credit 
risk associated with these receivables is minimal. 

Cargo is carried out in a dedicated freighter fleet and, to the extent of excess capacity, in the bellies of passenger 
aircraft. 

(ii) Aircraft operating leases 

Aircraft operating lease income is recognized as other revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when it is earned, according to the terms of each lease agreement. 

(iii) Frequent flyer 

The Company operates a frequent flyer loyalty program known as “LifeMiles” which is designed to retain and increase 
travelers’ loyalty by offering incentives to travelers for their continued patronage. Under the LifeMiles program, 
miles are earned by flying on the Company’s airlines or its alliance partners and by using the services of program 
partners for such things as credit card use, hotel stays, car rentals, and other activities. Miles are also directly sold 
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through different distribution channels. Miles earned can be exchanged for flights or other products or services from 
alliance partners. 

The fair value of consideration in respect of initial sale is allocated between the miles and other components of the 
sale including breakage in accordance with IFRS Interpretations Committee 13 Customer loyalty programs. Revenue 
allocated to the reward credits is deferred within “Air traffic liability” (see Note 21) until redemption. Components 
other than the fair value of Gross Billings are immediately recognized within “Revenue”. These components 
correspond to an initial revenue recognition element, related to the marketing attributes of the miles sold. The amount 
of revenue deferred is measured by applying statistical techniques based on market approach using observable 
information in accordance with IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurements”. Inputs to the models include assumptions based 
on management’s expected redemption rates and customer preferences. The amount of revenue recognized related to 
breakage is based on the number of miles redeemed in a period in relation to the total number expected to be redeemed. 
These revenues also include estimates and assumptions developed by the company described in note 2 (d). 

(g) Air traffic liability 
Revenue from passenger transportation is recognized once the service is provided, not when the ticket is sold. Revenues 
from ticket prices (do not include taxes to be paid to government entities) that have not been used or revenues corresponding 
to the unused portion of a sold ticket are deferred and the respective amount is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position as "Deferred income for unearned transportation". This income also includes the deferred income from 
the loyalty programs described in note 3 (f) (iii). 

Fares for unused tickets that are expected to expire are recognized as revenue based on historical data and experience. The 
Company performs periodic evaluations of this liability, and any resulting adjustments, which can be significant, are 
recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. These adjustments relate primarily to the differences 
arising from actual events and circumstances such as historical fare sale activity and customer travel patterns which may 
result in refunds, exchanges or forfeited tickets differing significantly from estimates. The Company evaluates its estimates 
and assumptions and adjusts air traffic liability and passenger revenues as necessary. 

(h) Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes and is accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes”. 
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(i) Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and generates 
taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income is recognized in 
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity or Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, respectively. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

(ii) Deferred income tax 

Deferred tax is recognized for temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that is probable that the temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses can be utilized, except: 

▪   Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

▪   In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re–assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  
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Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction 
either in OCI or directly in equity.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but the Company intends to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will 
be realized simultaneously. 

(i) Property and equipment 
(i) Recognition and measurement 

Flight equipment, property and other equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses in accordance with IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”. 
Property, operating equipment, and improvements that are being built or developed for future use by the Company are 
recorded at cost as under–construction assets. When under–construction assets are ready for use, the accumulated cost 
is reclassified to the respective property and equipment category. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Gain and losses on disposal of an item of flight equipment, property and equipment are 
determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount. 

(ii) Subsequent costs 

The costs incurred for major maintenance of an aircraft’s fuselage and engines are capitalized and depreciated over 
the shorter period to the next scheduled maintenance or return of the asset. The depreciation rate is determined 
according to the asset’s expected useful life based on projected cycles and flight hours. Routine maintenance expenses 
of aircraft and engines are charged to income as incurred. 

(iii) Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for 
cost, less its residual value. 
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Depreciation is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight–line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of flight equipment, property and other equipment, since this method most closely reflects the 
expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

Rotable spare parts for flight equipment are depreciated on the straight–line method, using rates that allocate the cost 
of these assets over the estimated useful life of the related aircraft. Land is not depreciated. 

Estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 Estimated useful life (years) 
Flight equipment:  

  

Aircraft 10 – 30 
Aircraft components and engines Useful life of fleet associated with component 

or engines 
Aircraft major repairs 4 – 12 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of remaining lease term and estimated 

useful life of the leasehold improvement 
Property 20 – 50 
Administrative buildings 20 – 50 
Vehicles 2 – 10 
Machinery and equipment 2 – 15 

Residual values, amortization methods and useful lives of the assets are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each 
reporting date.  

The carrying value of flight equipment, property and other equipment is reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable and the carrying amount is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount. 
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The Company receives credits from manufacturers on acquisition of certain aircraft and engines that may be used for 
the payment of maintenance services, training, acquisition of spare parts and others. These credits are recorded as a 
reduction of the cost of acquisition of the related aircraft and engines and against other accounts receivable. These 
amounts are then charged to expense or recorded as an asset, when the credits are used to purchase additional goods 
or services. These credits are recorded within other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when 
awarded by manufacturers. 

 (iv) Revaluation and other reserves 

Administrative property in Bogota, Medellín, El Salvador, and San Jose is recorded at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation on buildings and impairment losses recognized at the date of revaluation. Valuations are performed with 
sufficient frequency to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. 
A revaluation reserve is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in 
equity. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognized in profit 
or loss, the increase is recognized in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit is recognized in the income statement, 
except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognized in the asset revaluation reserve. 
Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.  

(j) Leased assets 
Leases in terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases in accordance with IAS 17 “Leases”. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the 
lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in interest expense in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Company 
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the lease term. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating expense in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
during the lease term. 

Gains or losses related to sale–leaseback transactions classified as an operating lease after the sale are accounted for as 
follows: 
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(i) They are immediately recognized as other (expense) income when it is clear that the transaction is established at fair 
value; 

(ii) If the sale price is below fair value, any profit or loss is immediately recognized as other (expense) income, however, 
if the loss is compensated by future lease payments at below market price, it is deferred and amortized in proportion 
to the lease payments over the contractual lease term;  

(iii) In the event of the sale price is higher than the fair value of the asset, the value exceeding the fair value is deferred 
and amortized during the period when the asset is expected to be used. The amortization of the gain is recorded as a 
reduction in lease expenses. 

If the sale–leaseback transactions result in financial lease, any excess proceeds over the carrying amount shall be deferred 
and amortized over the lease term. 

(k) Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective 
assets in accordance with IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity 
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.  

(l) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially measured at cost in accordance with IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. The cost 
of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Internally generated 
intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and the related expenditure is reflected in 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for 
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected 
useful life or in the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for 
by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
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amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income within depreciation and amortization. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually, either individually 
or at the cash–generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the 
indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective 
basis. 

Gains and losses arising from the de–recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when the asset is derecognized. 

Goodwill is measured initially at cost, represented by the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognized for the non-controlling interest, with respect to the net of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. If this consideration is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized as a gain at 
the date of acquisition. 

After initial recognition, Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment loss. For the purpose of impairment 
tests, Goodwill acquired in a business combination is assigned, from the date of acquisition, to each of the Company's cash 
generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, regardless of whether other assets or liabilities of the 
acquired entity are allocated to those units. 

When the Goodwill is part of a cash generating unit, and part of the operation within that unit is sold, the Goodwill 
associated with the sold operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation at the time of determining the gain 
or loss for this disposal. The Goodwill that is derecognized in this circumstance is assigned proportionally on the basis of 
the relative values of the sale transaction and the retained portion of the cash generating unit. 

The Company’s intangible assets include the following: 
(i)  Software 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of cost incurred to acquire, implement and bring 
the software into use. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are expensed as incurred. In 
case of development or improvement to systems that will generate probable future economic benefits, the Company 
capitalizes software development costs, including directly attributable expenditures on materials, labor, and other 
direct costs. 
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Acquired software cost is amortized on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 

Licenses and software rights acquired by the Company have finite useful lives and are amortized on a straight–line 
basis over the term of the contract. Amortization expense is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

(ii)  Routes and trademarks 

Routes and trademarks are carried at cost, less any accumulated amortization and impairment. The useful life of 
intangible assets associated with routes and trademark rights are based on management’s assumptions of estimated 
future economic benefits. The intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives of between two and thirteen 
years. Certain routes and trademarks have indefinite useful lives and therefore are not amortized, but tested for 
impairment at least at the end of each reporting period. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to 
finite is made on a prospective basis.  

(iii)  Contract–based intangible assets 

The useful life of intangible assets associated with contract rights and obligations is based on the term of the contract 
and are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization and related impairment. 

(m) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 
(i) Financial assets 

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” are classified 
into one of the following categories upon initial recognition: (a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
(b) loans and receivables, (c) held–to–maturity investments, (d) available–for–sale financial assets. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement financial assets are classified in four categories: 

-   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
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-   Loans and receivables 

-   Held–to–maturity investments 

-   Available for sale financial assets 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes 
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in 
hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Derivatives, including those designated as hedging instruments in hedge 
relationships are also classified as fair value through profit or loss except for the effective portion of cash flow 
hedges, which is recognized in OCI and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedge item affects profit or loss. 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, which take place 
into account any dividend income, are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
financial income or financial costs. 

The Company does not hold or issue derivative instruments for trading purposes, however, certain derivative 
contracts are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes. Such derivative instruments are designated as 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non–derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, 
less a provision for impairment, if any. 

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, deposits and trade and other receivables. 

Held–to–maturity financial assets 
If the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets are 
classified as held–to–maturity. Held–to–maturity financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any 
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directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held–to–maturity financial assets are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  

Available–for–sale financial assets 

Available–for–sale financial assets are non–derivative financial assets that are designated as available–for–sale and 
that are not classified in any of the previous categories. The Company’s investments in equity securities and certain 
debt securities are classified as available–for–sale financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, such assets are 
measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses, are recognized in other comprehensive 
income and included within equity. When an investment is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in other 
comprehensive income is transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(ii) Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets carried at amortized cost 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists either individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that 
are not individually significant. If the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed financial asset, the asset is grouped with other financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment are 
not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows 
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate (“EIR”). 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Interest income continues to be accrued on 
the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for 
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of financial income in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed with the amount of the 
reversal recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Available–for–sale financial assets 
Impairment losses on available–for–sale financial assets are recognized by reclassifying the losses accumulated in 
the fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortization, and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss recognized previously. Changes in cumulative impairment losses attributable to 
application of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income. 

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available–for–sale debt security increases and the increase 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment loss 
is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available–for–sale equity security is recognized 
in other comprehensive income. 

Derecognition 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized when: 

▪ The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired. 

▪ The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement; and 
either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control 
of the asset. 

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass–through 
arrangement, and it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of it, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in it. 
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In that case, an associated liability is also recognized. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations which have been retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required 
to be repay. 

(iii) Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
except for liabilities classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loan commitments, and 
financial guarantee contracts. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value including directly attributable transaction costs.  

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings, 
financial guarantee contracts, derivative financial instruments and finance lease obligations. 

Subsequent measurement 

Financial liabilities at fair value through other comprenhensive income 
Financial liabilities at fair value through other comprenhensive income include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through other comprenhensive income. 
This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not designated as 
hedging instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  

The Company has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition as at fair value through other 
comprenhensive income. 

Loans and borrowings carried at amortized cost 
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After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in interest expense in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. 

Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(i) Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 

(ii) Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined 
by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for 
short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. 

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate 
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference 
to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis 
or other valuation models. 

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are 
provided in Note 29. 
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(n) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts, interest rate contracts and forward 
commodity contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks, interest rate risks and commodity price risks, respectively. Such 
derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are carried at fair value as financial assets when the fair value is positive 
and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.  

Future contracts from commodities that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery 
of a non–financial item in accordance with the Company’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements are held at cost. 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly into the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, except for the effective portion of derivatives assigned as cash flow hedges, which is recognized 
in other comprehensive income. 

Cash flow hedges 
At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which 
the Company wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 
The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk 
being hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting 
the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be 
highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they 
actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated. 

Cash flow hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows: 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly as other comprehensive income 
in the equity, while any ineffective portion of cash flow hedge related to operating and financing activities is recognized 
immediately in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Amounts recognized as other comprehensive income are transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when the hedged transaction affects earnings, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is 
recognized or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non–financial asset or non–financial 
liability, the amounts recognized as other comprehensive income are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non–
financial asset or liability. 
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If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in equity is transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. If the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, any 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income remains in other comprehensive income 
until the forecast transaction or firm commitment affects profit or loss. 

The Company uses forward currency contracts and cross currency swaps as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk 
in forecasted transactions and firm commitments, as well as forward commodity contracts for its exposure to volatility in 
the commodity prices. Refer to Note 27 for more details. 
Current versus non–current classification of derivatives instruments 
Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging instruments are classified as current or non–current or 
separated into a current and non–current portion based on an assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying 
contracted cash flows). 

Where the Company will hold a derivative as an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period 
beyond 12 months after the reporting date, the derivative is classified as non–current (or separated into current and non–
current portions) consistent with the classification of the underlying item. 

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and 
risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the same terms as 
the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at fair 
value through other comprenhensive income. 

Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently with the 
classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative instrument is separated into a current portion and a non–current 
portion only if a reliable allocation can be made. 

(o) Expendable spare parts and supplies 
Expendable spare parts relating to flight equipment are measured at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. Net 
realizable value is the estimated base stock cost reduced by the allowance for obsolescence.  
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(p) Impairment of non–financial assets 
The Company assesses in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash–
generating unit’s (“CGU”) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless 
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount.  

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre–tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 
value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, or other 
available fair value indicators. 

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in those expense categories consistent with the nature of the impaired asset, except 
for a property previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the 
impairment is also recognized in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Company 
estimates the asset’s or cash–generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its 
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the income statement unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

The following criteria are also applied in assessing impairment of specific assets: 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as of the year end and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value of 
the cash generating unit to which it pertains may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the 
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recoverable amount of each cash–generating unit (or group of cash–generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where 
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than their carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. 
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. 

Management has considered the impact of greater than forecasted variations in relevant assumptions in assessing the CGU’s 
recoverable amount. As a result of the analysis performed a reasonably possible change in key assumptions would not 
cause the CGU’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.  

(q) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at banks and on hand and 
short–term deposits with original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in 
value. 

For the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short–term 
deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts, if any. 

(r) Maintenance deposits 
Maintenance deposits correspond to deposits paid to lessors based on cycles, flight hours, or fixed monthly amounts, 
depending on the specific nature of each provision. Rates used for the calculation and monthly amounts are specified in 
each lease agreement. The maintenance deposits paid to aircraft lessors are recorded within “Deposits and other assets” 
when they are susceptible for recovery, to the extent that such amounts are expected to be used to fund future maintenance 
activities. Deposits that are not probable of being used to fund future maintenance activities are expensed as incurred. 

The maintenance deposits refer to payments made by the Company to leasing companies to be used in future aircraft and 
engine maintenance work. Management performs regular reviews of the recovery of maintenance deposits and believes 
that the values reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are recoverable. These deposits are used to 
pay for maintenance performed, and might be reimbursed to the Company after the execution of a quialifying maintenance 
service or when the leases are completed, according to the contractual conditions. Certain lease agreements establish that 
the existing deposits, in excess of maintenance costs are not refundable. Such excess occurs when the amounts used in 
future maintenance services are lower than the amounts deposited. Any excess amounts expected to be retained by the 
lessor upon the lease contract termination date, which are not considered material, are recognized as additional aircraft 
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lease expense. Payments related to maintenance that the Company does not expect to perform are recognized when paid as 
additional rental expense. Some of the aircraft lease agreements do not require maintenance deposits. 

(s) Security deposits for aircraft and engines 
The Company must pay security deposits for certain aircraft and engine lease agreements. Reimbursable aircraft deposits 
are stated at cost. 

Deposits that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as ‘loans and 
receivables’. Such assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest 
income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate. 

Deposits for guarantee and collateral for lease agreements 
Deposits for guarantee and collateral are represented by amounts deposited with lessors, as required at the inception of the 
lease agreements. The deposits are typically denominated in U.S. Dollars, do not bear interest and are reimbursable to the 
Company upon termination of the agreements. 

(t) Provisions 
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. 

Provisions are set up for all legal claims related to lawsuits for which it is probable that an outflow of funds will be required 
to settle the legal claims obligation and a reasonable estimate can be made. The assessment of probability of loss includes 
assessing the available evidence, the hierarchy of laws, available case law, the most recent court decision and their relevance 
in the legal system, as well as the assessment of legal counsel.  

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre–tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognized as a financial cost. 

For certain operating leases, the Company is contractually obligated to return aircraft in a defined condition. The Company 
recognizes for restitution costs of the aircraft held under operating leases and accumulates them monthly during the term 
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of the lease contract. Restitution costs are based on the net present value of the estimated average costs of returning the 
aircraft and are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in “Maintenance and repairs.” 

(u) Employee benefits 
The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans, which require contributions to be made to separately administered 
funds. The Company has also agreed to provide certain additional post–employment benefits to senior employees in 
Colombia. These benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined 
separately for each plan using the projected unit credit cost method.  

Actuarial gains and losses for defined benefit plans are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in other 
comprehensive income. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a discount rate 
based on Colombian Government bonds), and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled. 
Plan assets are held by the Social Security Institute and private pension funds are not available to the creditors of the 
Company, nor can they be paid directly to the Company. Fair value is based on market price information and in the case of 
quoted securities on the published bid price. The value of any defined benefit asset recognized is restricted and the present 
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to 
the plan. 

Under IAS 19 (issued in June 2011 and amended in November 2013), the Company determines the net interest expense 
(income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the 
annual period. It takes into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments. The net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) comprises: 

-   Interest income on plan assets. 

-   Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation; and 

-   Interest on the effect of the asset ceiling 

Additionally the Company offers the following employee benefits: 
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(i) Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when they are due. 

(ii) Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer 
of the termination benefit and when the entity recognizes any related restructuring costs. 

(v) Share based payments 
Since March 2012, the Company has operated a share based payments plan (the “Share Based Plan”) whereby eligible 
participants receive cash payments if certain market and non–market vesting conditions are met. The Company accounts 
for the Share Based Plan as a cash–settled share based payment in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 2 “Share–based 
payments”, whereby the Company accrues a liability at the end of each reporting period based on the estimated fair value 
of the awards expected to be redeemed, as determined using the Turnbull–Wakeman pricing model. 

(w) Prepaid expenses 
(i) Prepaid commissions 

Commissions paid for tickets sold are recorded as prepaid expenses and expensed when the tickets are used. 

(ii) Prepaid rent 

Prepaid rent for aircraft corresponds to prepaid contractual amounts that will be applied to future lease payments over 
a term of less than one year. 

(x) Interest income and interest expense 
Interest income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available–for–sale financial assets), changes in the 
fair value of financial assets at fair value through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and gains on 
interest rate hedging instruments that are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Interest 
income is recognized as accrued in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, using the effective interest rate 
method. 
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Interest expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair value through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, and losses on interest 
rate hedging instruments that are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Borrowing costs 
that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income using the effective interest method. 

(4) New and amended standards and interpretations 

4.1 Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year 

The Group has applied for the first time some standards and modifications to the standards, which are effective for the periods 
beginning on January 1, 2017 or later. The Group has not applied any standard, interpretation or modification that has been 
issued but is not yet effective. 

Although these amendments apply for the first time in 2017, they do not have a material impact on the interim condensed 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The nature and the impact of each amendment is described below: 

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative 
The amendments require entities to disclose changes in liabilities produced by financing activities, including both those 
derived from cash flows and those that do not imply cash flows. The Group has provided the information corresponding to 
the current year and to the comparative exercise in the Note 16. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrecognised Losses 
The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments clarify that an entity needs 
to take into account whether tax legislation restricts the types of tax benefits that can be used to offset the reversal of the 
deductible temporary difference corresponding to unrealized losses 

The application of this amendment has had no impact on the group's consolidated financial statements since the group already 
assesses the adequacy of the taxable future in a manner consistent with these modifications. 

4.2 Standards issued but not yet effective 
The group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that are not yet effective: 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (1)  
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IFRS 15  Revenue from contracts with Customers (1)  

IFRS 16  Leases (2) 

Amendments to IFRS 2  Classification and measurement of share based payments (1) 

IFRIC 23  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (2) 

 
(1) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted. 

(2)  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier application permitted. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement" and all previous versions of  IFRS 9. This standard is part of the Annex to Decree 2496 of 
2015 , modified by Decree 2131 of 2016, with applicability for periods beginning on January 1, 2018, allowing early 
application. 

IFRS 9 includes three aspects of accounting for financial instruments: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. Retrospective application is required but the presentation of comparative information is not mandatory, except 
for hedge accounting, for which the requirements are applied prospectively, with some exceptions. 

Avianca Holdings plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date and will not present comparative information 
again. During 2017, the Group carried out a detailed impact assessment of the three aspects of IFRS 9. This evaluation is 
based on the information currently available and may be subject to changes arising from the additional reasonable and 
supported information that will be made available to the Group. in 2018 when AVH adopts IFRS 9. In general, the Group 
does not expect a significant impact on its statement of financial position and equity, except for the effect of applying the 
impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The Group expects a decrease in the Provision for losses that have a positive impact on 
equity as discussed below. 

(a) Classification and measurement 

The Group does not expect a significant impact on its balance sheet or equity when applying the classification and 
measurement requirements of IFRS 9. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all financial assets that are currently 
held at fair value. 
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Loans and commercial accounts receivable are maintained to collect the contractual cash flows and are expected to generate 
cash flows that represent only capital and interests payments. The Group analyzed the contractual characteristics of the cash 
flows of these instruments and concluded that they meet the criteria for measuring amortized cost according to IFRS 9. 
Therefore, reclassification is not required for these instruments. 

(b) Impairment 

IFRS 9 requires the Group to record the expected credit losses on all its debt securities, loans and trade accounts receivable, 
either for 12 months or for life. The Group will apply the simplified approach and record the expected lifetime losses on all 
trade accounts receivable. The Group has determined that, due to the unsecured nature of its loans and accounts receivable, 
the impact on the application of this standard will not be material. 

(c) Hedge accounting 

The Group determined that all existing hedging relationships currently designated in effective hedging relationships will 
continue to qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS 9. The Group has opted not to retrospectively apply IFRS 9 in the 
transition to hedges where the Group excluded the forward points the coverage designation according to IAS 39. As IFRS 9 
does not change the general principles of how an entity accounts for effective hedges, the application of the hedging 
requirements of IFRS 9 will not have a significant impact on the financial statements of the group. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 
IFRS 15 "Revenue from ordinary activities from contracts with customers"; it is in effect for periods beginning or after 
January 1, 2018. This norm establishes a new five-step model that will be applied to income from contracts with customers. 
Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes income when the obligation is satisfied, that is, when the 'control' of the underlying 
goods or services of the performance obligation has been transferred to the customer. In addition, guidance has been included 
in IFRS 15 to address specific situations. In addition, the number of disclosures required is increased. 

The group recognizes income from the following main sources: 

(i) Passengers 

(ii) Cargo and others 

Management intends to use the full retrospective method for the transition and adoption of IFRS 15. 
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The Group concluded the process of analyzing the impacts of IFRS 15 on all our sources of income. This included reviewing 
current accounting policies and practices to identify the differences that resulted from the application of the new standard. 
The majority of our revenues are generated from the sale of air tickets, which will continue to be recognized as the flight 
service is provided. Our evaluation included an estimate of the impact that the new revenue standard will have on our 
accounting of revenues for passengers and cargo and others, both with all the sub-revenues that make up these two items in 
total. Within the income by passengers, the issue of the other income denominated "ancilliaries" was evaluated, which 
includes those extra charges that can be made to passengers for different concepts (changes of date, changes of destination, 
name changes), these activities do not involve a transfer of additional goods or services to the client, so they are generally 
considered administrative tasks that do not create separate performance obligations. Due ancilliaries are not considered a 
separate performance obligation, they are combined with the existing performance obligation and accounted for as if they 
were part of the original ticket. Therefore, the original price of the ticket and the amount paid by the ancilliaries are combined 
and considered a new performance obligation. The evaluation includes (i) the reclassification of some concepts that are 
currently presented as other income to passenger income and (ii) what will be the impact of the recognition of said ancilliaries 
at the time the flight is made, and not in the At the moment in which it is requested. We estimate that the impact will not be 
material and will generate, at the time of adoption, a higher value of the deferred revenue liability for unearned transportation. 

In relation to the income originated by the loyalty program, the assessment of the performance obligations identified by each 
of the parties involved in the redemption of miles and rendering of services derived from the same redemption was 
considered, concluding that the income for miles is recognized in full until the moment of the redemption of the mile, thus 
eliminating the effect that was recorded in the initial sale of the mile, related to the added value of the redemption network 
of Lifemiles as well as the valuation of the liabilities associated with the miles change an estimate taking into account the 
cost of redemption to the average sale price per mile. To date, the Group does not know the final result of these impacts, 
which are being evaluated and will be disclosed and incorporated in the Financial Statements for the first quarter of 2018. 

Our analysis also included the evaluation of the costs to obtain and to fulfill a contract which we estimate given the current 
accounting policy on them will not have a significant impact. 

IFRS 16 Leases 
IFRS 16 replaces the following standards and interpretations: IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determination of whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives, SIC-27 Evaluation of the substance of transactions 
that involve the legal form of a leasing contract 
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This new standard requires the lessee to recognize all leases in a similar way to how financial leases are currently recorded 
under IAS 17 Leases. The standard includes two exceptions for this recognition: (1) leases of low-value assets (eg personal 
computers) and (2) short-term contracts (term of less than 12 months). The lessee recognizes from the beginning of the lease, 
the asset that represents the right of use and the liability for the periodic payments that must be made. On the other hand, 
interest expense is recorded separately from depreciation. 

The recognition requirements for the lessor do not have relevant changes compared to IAS 17. 

Some of the impacts that could arise would be indicators of EBIT, debt covenants, debt and financing indicators, as well as 
the presentation of cash flows, which would be presented as financing and not operation activities. 

The application date is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 onwards. The Group is analyzing the impact 
of this standard and plans to adopt it on the required effective date. 

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions — Amendments to IFRS 2 
The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions 
on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based payment 
transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a modification to the terms 
and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled. 

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective application is 
permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. The Group is assessing the potential effect of the 
amendments on its consolidated financial statements. 

IFRIC 22- Transactions in Foreign Currency and Advance Considerations 
This Interpretation deals with the way to determine the date of the transaction for the purposes of establishing the exchange 
rate to be used in the initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or the corresponding part thereof), in the 
derecognition of an non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability that arises from the payment or collection of the anticipated 
consideration in foreign currency. 

The Interpretation will come into force for the periods beginning on January 1, 2018 or later. Group management does not 
expect any effect on its consolidated financial statements, because the group already accounts for transactions that involve 
payment or receipt of an advance consideration in a foreign currency in a manner consistent with the modification. 
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IFRIC 23- Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
The interpretation refers to income tax accounting in cases in which the tax treatment includes uncertainties that affect the 
application of IAS 12 and does not apply to taxes that are outside the scope of this IAS, nor does it include specific 
requirements related to it. with interests and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation establishes 
the following: 

▪ When the entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately. 

▪ The assumptions made by the entity about the examination of tax treatments by the corresponding authorities. 

▪ The manner in which the entity determines the fiscal profit (or fiscal loss), fiscal bases, unused fiscal losses or credits, 
and fiscal rates. 

▪ The manner in which the entity considers changes in events and circumstances 

The company must determine if it evaluates each uncertain treatment separately or in groups, using the approach that best 
predicts the resolution of uncertainties. The group will apply its interpretation from its effective date. No significant impacts 
are expected in the application of this standard, however, procedures must be implemented 

to obtain the necessary information to apply this interpretation 

(5) Segment information 
The Company reports information by segments as established in IFRS 8 “Operating segments”. For management purposes, 
the Company has two reportable segments, as follows: 

▪ Fair transportation: Corresponds to passenger and cargo operating revenues on scheduled flights and freight transport, 
respectively, including flights operated by other airlines under code-sharing agreements.  

▪ Loyalty: Corresponds to the coalition loyalty program, the frequent flyer program for the airline subsidiaries of 
Avianca Holdings S.A.  

Starting July 31, 2015, the Board of Directors has monitored the operating results of the Company’s business units separately 
for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. 

The Company’s revenues by business segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 are as follows: 
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 For the year ended December 31, 2017 

 
Air 

transportation 
 

Loyalty 
  

Eliminations  Consolidated 
Revenue (1)        
    External customers $      4,167,658  $     274,026  $                  $   4,441,684 
    Inter-segment 112,037  4,366  (116,403)   
        Total revenue 4,279,695  278,392  (116,403)  4,441,684 

    Cost of loyalty rewards 55,604 
 

126,505  (105,967)  76,142 
    Operating expenses 3,741,852  30,122  (13,489)  3,758,485 
    Depreciation and amortization 313,314  12,876  (12,777)  313,413 
    Interest expense 174,657  8,675    183,332 
    Interest income (12,978)  (1,550)    (14,528) 
    Derivative instruments 2,536      2,536 
    Foreign exchange 20,161  2    20,163 
    Income tax expense 19,457  652    20,109 
        Net (loss) profit  for the  
        period $        (34,908)   

 
$     101,110  $         15,830  $        82,032 

    Total Assets $      6,796,848  $     248,919  $    (184,371)  $   6,861,396 
    Total Liabilities $      5,082,763  $     545,951  $    (107,018)  $   5,521,696 
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The Company’s revenues by business segment for the years ended December 31, 2016 are as follows: 

 For the year ended December 31, 2016 

 
Air 

transportation 
 

Loyalty 
  

Eliminations  Consolidated 
Revenue (1)        
    External customers $ 3,898,271  $ 240,067  $               $ 4,138,338 
    Inter-segment 89,071  3,834  (92,905)   
        Total revenue 3,987,342  243,901  (92,905)  4,138,338 

    Cost of loyalty rewards 53,901 
 

120,589  (78,785)  95,705 
    Operating expenses 3,509,122  19,617  (14,122)  3,514,617 
    Depreciation and, amortization 269,534  12,789  (12,777)  269,546 
    Interest expense 172,381  249    172,630 
    Interest income (13,960)  906    (13,054) 
    Derivative instruments (3,321)      (3,321) 
    Foreign exchange 23,952  (13)    23,939 
    Income tax expense 32,384  1,706    34,090 
        Net (loss) profit  for the  
        period $   (56,651) 

 
$ 88,058  $ 12,779  $ 44,186 

        
    Total Assets  $ 6,328,740  $ 227,382  $ (204,787)  $ 6,351,335 
    Total Liabilities  $ 4,842,190  $ 203,542  $ (114,658)  $ 4,931,074 

(1) Loyalty revenue for miles redeemed is allocated to passenger revenue and, other loyalty revenue is recorded in other 
revenue. 

The results, assets and liabilities allocated to the loyalty segment reportable correspond to those attributable directly to the 
subsidiary LifeMiles Corp., and exclude assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the loyalty program recognized by the 
Company’s Subsidiaries. 
Inter-segment revenues are eliminated upon consolidation and reflected in the “Eliminations” column. 
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The Company’s revenues by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

    
  For the year ended December 31, 
  2017  2016  2015 
North America  $        565,910     $       539,365  $    635,452 
Central America and the Caribbean  539,682  442,841  592,947 
Colombia  1,961,600  1,831,218  1,840,597 
South America (ex–Colombia)  933,569  840,934  918,956 
Other  440,923  483,980  355,389 

Total operating revenue  $     4,441,684  $ 4,138,338  $ 4,361,341 

The Company allocates revenues by geographic area based on the point of origin of the flight. Non-current assets are 
composed primarily of aircraft and aeronautical equipment, which are used throughout different countries and are therefore 
not assignable to any particular geographic area. 

(6) Financial risk management 
The Company has exposure to different risks from its use of financial instruments, namely credit risk, liquidity risk, and 
market risk. 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures 
are included throughout these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(a) Risk management framework 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management 
framework. The Board has established mechanisms for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. 
The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are 
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, through its training 
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and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations. 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers and investment in 
securities. The Company is also exposed to credit risk from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and 
financial institutions, and foreign exchange transactions. 

The Company minimizes counterparty credit risk in derivative instruments by entering into transactions with counterparties 
with which the Company has signed “International Swaps and Derivatives Association Master Agreements”. Given their 
high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its contractual obligations. 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

  
Notes  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        
Available–for–sale securities    $                   55  $ 76 
Accounts receivable, net of provision for 
doubtful accounts 

 
8 

 
480,792  405,916 

Cash and cash equivalents  7  508,982  375,753 
Current restricted cash  7  5,465  5,371 
Fair value of derivative instruments–assets  12  23,539  26,337 

Total    $       1,018,833  $ 813,453 

(c) Receivables, net 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of each customer. The demographics 
of the Company’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, has less 
of an influence on credit risk. 
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Additionally, the Company is not exposed to significant concentrations of credit risk since most accounts receivable arise 
from sales of airline tickets to individuals through travel agencies in various countries, including virtual agencies and other 
airlines. These receivables are short term in nature and are generally settled shortly after the sales are made through major 
credit card companies. 

Cargo–related receivables present a higher credit risk than passenger sales given the nature of processing payment for these 
sales. The Company is continuing its implementation of measures to reduce this credit risk for example by reducing the 
payment terms and affiliating cargo agencies to the IATA Cargo Account Settlement Systems (“CASS”). CASS is designed 
to simplify the billing and settling of accounts between airlines and freight forwarders. It operates through an advanced global 
web–enabled e–billing solution. 

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset. 

(d) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s 
approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Company’s reputation. 
The following are the contractual maturities of non–derivative financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments. 
Amounts under the “Years” columns represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each liability. 
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As of December 31, 2017 

 Years 

 Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flows  One  Two  Three  Four  

Five and 
thereafter 

              
Short–term 
borrowings  $     79,263           $       80,459        $     80,459             $          —  $         —  $        —  $            — 
Long–term  
Debt 3,063,801  3,568,473  586,446  485,333  498,336  460,022  1,538,336 
Bonds 609,049  732,149  81,062  78,140  572,947  —  — 
Total debt 3,752,113  4,381,081  747,967  563,473  1,071,283  460,022  1,538,336 
Accounts 
payable 532,048  532,048  526,964  —  —  —  5,084 
Contractual 
maturities $4,284,161   $  4,913,129   $1,274,931  $ 563,473   $1,071,283  $460,022  $ 1,543,420 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In USD thousands) 
    

54 
 

As of December 31, 2016 

 Years 

 Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flows  One  Two  Three  Four  

Five and 
thereafter 

              
Short–term 
borrowings  $     62,302      $     63,244  $    63,244    $          —  $         —  $          —  $             — 
Long–term  
Debt 2,574,306  2,965,631  402,083  429,941  394,075  370,139  1,369,393 
Bonds 637,627  818,950  86,188  81,579  78,132  573,051  — 
Total debt 3,274,235  3,847,825  551,515  511,520  472,207  943,190  1,369,393 
Accounts 
payable 495,840  495,840  493,106  2,734  —  —  — 
Contractual 
maturities $3,770,075  $ 4,343,665  $ 1,044,621  $   514,254  $ 472,207  $  943,190  $ 1,369,393 

 

Sensitivity analysis 
 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 an average increase of 1% in interest rates on long–term debt would be expected to 
decrease the Company’s income by $8.825 and $6,901 respectively. 

Interest rates for interest–bearing financial obligations are as follows: 
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 December 31, 2017 

 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate  Total 
    Short–term borrowings 3.96%  $                 79,263 
Long–term debt and 
financial leases 4.14%  3,063,801 

Bonds – Colombia 10.58%  59,808 
Bonds – Luxembourg 7.95%  549,241 

       Total   $            3,752,113 
 

 December 31, 2016 

 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate  Total 
    Short–term borrowings 4.20%  $         62,302 
Long–term debt and 
financial leases 3.41%  2,574,306 

Bonds – Colombia 12.96%  88,770 
Bonds – Luxembourg 7.95%  548,857 

       Total   $ 3,274,235 

(e) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currency rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect 
the Company’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 
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The Company enters into derivative contracts, and also incurs financial liabilities, in order to manage market risk. The market 
risk associated with commodity–price and interest–rate contracts is managed by establishing and monitoring parameters that 
limit the types and degree of market risk that may be undertaken. 

(f) Commodity risk 
The Company maintains a commodity–price–risk management strategy that uses derivative instruments to minimize 
significant, unanticipated earnings fluctuations caused by commodity–price volatility. The operations of the Company 
require a significant volume of jet fuel purchases. Price fluctuations of oil, which are directly related with price fluctuations 
of jet fuel, cause market values of jet fuel to differ from its cost and cause the actual purchase price of jet fuel to differ from 
the anticipated price. 

All such transactions are carried out within the guidelines set by the Risk Management Committee.  

The Company enters into derivative financial instruments using heating oil and jet fuel to reduce the exposure to jet fuel 
price risks. Such financial instruments are deemed to be highly effective hedge because changes in their fair value are closely 
correlated with variations in jet fuel prices. The Company determines fair value of the contracts based on the notional future 
curves as observed in the market; gain or loss of hedge instruments are recognized directly in net equity, through other 
comprehensive income (OCI), based on Hedge Accounting procedures. 
Sensitivity analysis 
A change in 1% in jet fuel prices would have increased/decreased profit or loss for the year by $9,235 (2016: $7,851). This 
calculation assumes that the change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that 
date. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and considers the effect of changes in jet fuel price and 
underlying hedging contracts. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2016. 

(g) Foreign currency risk 
The gain or loss in foreign currency is derived primarily from the appreciation or depreciation of the Colombian Peso against 
the US Dollar, which is the Company’s functional currency, and the changes in the foreign exchange mechanisms enacted 
by the Venezuelan government. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized a net loss from 
currency exchanges of $(20,163) and $(23,939), respectively. 
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The Company has liabilities denominated in Colombian Pesos, such as its pension plans and bonds issuance. For the years 
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized a net loss of $1,644 and $4,780 respectively, primarily as a 
result of the appreciation of the Colombian Peso against the US Dollar of 0.6% and 4.7% resepectively. 

The summary quantitative data about the Company’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management of the 
Company based on its risk management policy was as follows: 

 

 
 December 31, 2017 

 USD  Colombian 
Pesos  Euros  Venezuelan 

Bolivares  Argentinean 
Pesos  Brazilian 

Reals  Others  Total 

Cash and cash equivalents $      342,524          $     70,957  $       20,914  $          11  $        6,874  $     19,468  $48,234  $508,982 
Available-for-sale securities -  -  -  55  -  -  -  55 
Accounts receivable, net of 
provision for doubtful accounts 71,640  133,319  50,983  102  8,282  21,749 

 
194,717 

 
480,792 

Secured debt and bonds (2,931,194)  (61,784)  (127,416)  -  -  --  -    (3,120,394)  
Unsecured debt (628,767)  (2,952)  -  -  -  -  -  (631,719) 
Accounts payable (286,401)  (144,146)  (10,239)  (119)  (7,184)  (11,943)  (72,016)  (532,048) 
Net financial position exposure $  (3,432,198)       $     (4,606)  $     (65,758)  $          49  $        7,972  $      29,274  170,935      $(3,294,332) 

                Sensitivity analysis                
Change of 1% in exchange rate                
Effect on profit of the year   $          (46)          $     (658)                  $            -                 $             80             293     
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December 31, 2016 

 USD  Colombian 
Pesos  Venezuelan 

Bolivares  Argentinean 
Pesos  Brazilian 

Reals  Other   
Total 

Cash and cash equivalents $         313,380  $        18,220  $        1,463  $          9,813  $       7,364  $     25,513  $       375,753 
Available-for-sale securities —  —  76  —  —  —  76 
Accounts receivable, net of 
provision for doubtful accounts 123,562  79,951  515  10,162  35,093  156,633  405,916 
Secured debt and bonds (2,437,710)  (88,769)  —  —  —  (126,564)  (2,653,043) 
Unsecured debt (616,571)  (4,621)  —  —  —  —  (621,192) 
Accounts payable (248,712)  (164,497)  (1,756)  (10,897)  (14,337)  (55,641)  (495,840) 
Net financial position exposure $     (2,866,051)  $    (159,716)  $           298  $          9,078  $     28,120  $      (59)  $   (2,988,330) 

              
Sensitivity analysis              
Change of 1% in exchange rate              
Effect on profit of the year   $        (1,597)  $                3  $               91  $           281     



60 61Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In USD thousands) 
  
  

59 
 

 

The Company manages its exposure to foreign currency risk through hedging selected balances 
using forward exchange contracts and cross currency swaps. 

Sensitivity analysis 
The calculation assumes that the change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to 
risk exposures existing at that date. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant 
and considers the effect of changes in the exchange rate, which is the rate that could materially 
affect the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(h) Interest rate risk 
The Company incurs interest rate risk mainly on financial obligations with banks and aircraft 
lessors. Interest rate risk is managed through a mix of fixed and floating rates on loans and lease 
agreements, combined with interest rate swaps. 

The Company assesses interest rate risk by monitoring and identifying changes in interest rate 
exposures that may adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging 
opportunities. The Company maintains risk management control systems to monitor interest rate 
risk attributable to both the Company’s outstanding or forecasted debt obligations.  

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest–bearing financial 
instruments is: 

Carrying amount – asset/(liability)    December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

       
Fixed rate instruments       
Financial assets    $          340,877     $ 261,603 
Financial liabilities    (3,003,336)  (2,920,301) 
Interest rate swaps    2,990  269 
Total    $     (2,659,469)  $  (2,658,429) 
Floating rate instruments       
Financial assets    $51,042  $         46,433 
Financial liabilities    (748,777)  (353,934) 
Total    $       (697,735)  $      (307,501) 

The interest rate risk is originated mainly from long term aircraft lease payments. These long term 
loan payments at floating interest rates expose the Company to cash flow risk. Interest rate risk is 
managed through a mix of fixed and floating rates on loans and lease agreements, combined with 
interest rate swaps and options. 
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At December 31, 2017, the interest rates vary from 0.44% to 12.15% (December 31, 2016: 0.44% 
to 12.96% ) and the main floating rate instruments are linked to LIBOR plus a spread according to 
the terms of each contract. 

(i) Capital management 
The Company’s capital management policy is to maintain a sound capital base in order to safeguard 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, and in doing so, face its current and long–term 
obligations, provide returns for its shareholders, and maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital. The Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt–to–capital ratio. Debt is 
calculated as net debt, which consists of total borrowings (including current and non–current 
borrowings as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position) less cash, cash equivalents 
and restricted cash. Total capital is calculated as the sum of total equity attributable to the Company 
as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position plus total net debt. 

Following is a summary of the debt–to/capital ratio of the Company: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        
Debt    $3,752,113  $ 3,274,235 
Less: cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash    (514,447)  (381,124) 
Total net debt    3,237,666  2,893,111 
Total equity attributable to the Company    1,415,650  1,400,509 
Total Capital    $4,653,316  $ 4,293,620 
       
Net debt–to–capital ratio    68%  67% 

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year. 

(7) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Cash on hand and bank deposits    $490,657  $ 365,610 
Demand and term deposits (1)    18,325  10,143 

Cash and cash equivalents    508,982  375,753 
Restricted cash (2)    5,465  5,371 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash    $514,447  $ 381,124 
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(1) As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, within the cash equivalents, there are demand and term 
deposits that amounted to $ 18,325 and $ 10,143, respectively. The use of term deposits depends 
on the cash requirements of the Company. As of December 31, 2017, term deposits accrue annual 
interest rates between 3.77% and 5.52% in Colombian pesos and between 2.10% and 6.50% in 
dollars. As of December 31, 2016, term deposits accrue annual interest rates between 6.66% and 
11.97% in dollars and between 0.20% and 6.50% in Colombian pesos. 

(2) As of December 31, 2017, the restricted cash includes resources in administration in an 
autonomous equity, which have a specific destination in relation to the object for which they 
were constituted, they consist among others in the payment of capital and interests to the 
bondholders. 

(8) Accounts receivables, net of provision for doubtful accounts 
Receivables as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        
Trade     $190,501  $ 206,229 
Indirect tax credits (1)    250,663  184,114 
Manufacturer credits     16,426  13,216 
Employee advances (2)    6,213  5,138 
Other    30,169  10,475 
    $493,972  $ 419,172 
Less provision for doubtful accounts    (13,180)  (13,256) 
Total     $480,792  $ 405,916 
       
Net current     340,376  313,868 
Net non–current    140,416  92,048 
Total     $480,792  $ 405,916 

(1) Corresponds mainly to: tax credit of income tax, VAT, withholding tax credits and advances of 
ICA, advances and prepayments income of CREE and advance payments of departure rates. 

(2) Employee advances mainly relate to per diem allowances provided to crew prior to traveling. 

(3) The increase is mainly due to the recording of the account receivable from the National Tax and 
Customs Administration, as a result of the financial interests not received for a payment in excess 
of the equity tax. In addition, a Rolls Royce bill was generated as compensation for claiming 
damages related to operational interruptions. 
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Changes during the year in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        
Balance at beginning of year    $13,256  $ 13,314 
Bad debt expense    4,363  2,966 
Write–off against the allowance    (4,439)  (3,024) 
Balance at end of year    $13,180  $ 13,256 

The aging of accounts receivables at the end of the reporting period that were not impaired is as 
follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        
Neither past due nor impaired    $200,143  $ 184,007 
Past due 1–30 days    43,789  27,265 
Past due 31–90 days    27,629  30,066 
Past due 91 days    222,411  177,834 

Total    $493,972  $ 419,172 
Provision for doubtful accounts    (13,180)  (13,256) 
Net accounts receivable    $480,792  $ 405,916 
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(9) Balances and transactions with related parties 
The following is a summary of related party transactions for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016: 

Company 
 

Country 
 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016  

  Receivables  Payables  Revenues  Expenses  Receivables  Payables  Revenues  Expenses  
SP SYN Participações S.A.  Brazil  $           13,853  $             —           $           860  $             —  $    12,993  $         —  $             796  $             —  
OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, S.A.  Brazil  1,725  4,264  28,906  33,888  3,395  2,623  22,164  19,656  
Aerovias Beta Corp.  Panama  977  —   —   —   977  —  —  —  
Aeromantenimiento, S.A. 

 
El 

Salvador 
 

17  —   —   6,22  56  2,561  13  9,196 
 

Transportadora del Meta S.A.S.  Colombia  —   222  18  3,444  17  1,039  2  5,040  
Empresariales S.A.S.  Colombia  —  467  3  10,107  9  1,104  4  10,036  
Global Operadora Hotelera 
S.A.S   Colombia 

 
8  636  9  5,340  —   —   —   —  

 

Synergy Aerospace Corp.  Panamá  512  1262  —   4,201  —   —   —   —   
Corp. Hotelera Internac S.A. 

 
El 

Salvador 
 

—   83  —   432  —  —   —  —  
 

Other    112  253  23  846  1,836  1,745  917  3,484  
Subtotal    $           17,204  $        7,187  $      29,819  $      58,880  $           19,283  $        9,072  $        23,896  $      47,412  
                    
    Receivables  Payables      Receivables  Payables      
Short–term    $           17,204  $        7,187      $    19,283  $    9,072      
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The receivables balance with SP SYN Participações S.A. as of December 31, 2017 amounted to 
$13,853, consisting of $12.854 of principal and $999 of accrued interests. The debt bears an interest 
equal to 90 days LIBOR plus 550 basis points.  

The Company has not recognized any expense or provision for doubtful accounts since it is expected 
that the balances will be recovered completely. 

All related parties are companies controlled by the same ultimate shareholder that controls Avianca 
Holdings S.A. The following is a description of the nature of services provided by and to related 
parties. These transactions include: 

Related party  Nature of Services 

Aeromantenimiento S.A.  Aircraft maintenance company that provides aircraft overhaul 
services to the Company. 

Aerovías Beta Corp.  
Accounts receivable correspond to amounts due to Latin 
Airways Corp. as a result of the spin-off of Aerovías Beta 
Corp., which led to the creation of Latin Airways Corp. 

Corporación Hotelera 
Internacional S.A.  Accommodation services for crews and employees of the 

Company. 

Empresariales S.A.S.  Transportation services for employees of Avianca, S.A. 

OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, 
S.A.  

The Company provides to and receives from OceanAir logistic 
services, marketing and advertising, maintenance services, and 
training services. The Company has entered into a licensing 
agreement with OceanAir for the use of the Avianca trademark 
in Brazil. Additionally, the Company leases aircraft to 
OceanAir (see Note 32). On November 4, 2014, Tampa Cargo 
S.A.S., entered into a Block Space Agreement with OceanAir 
Linhas Aéreas, S.A., acquiring priority rights and a minimum 
guaranteed cargo capacity on certain flights of the carrier.  

SP SYN Participações 
S.A.  

Avianca, S.A. (“Avianca”) and SP SYN Participações S.A. 
(“SP SYN”) signed a novation of the receivables from 
OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, S.A. (“OceanAir”) whereby SP SYN 
would be the new debtor. 

Synergy Aerospace Corp.  

The balances of accounts receivable correspond to reserves on 
aircraft engines and maintenance contracts. The balances 
payable originate in payments executed by Synergy Aerospace 
Corp. on behalf of Latin Airways Corp. 
 



66 67Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In USD thousands) 
  
  

65 
 

Related party  Nature of Services 

Transportadora del Meta 
S.A.S.  It provides Avianca, S.A. ground transportation services for 

cargo / courier shipments. 

Key management personnel compensation expense 

Key management personnel compensation expense recognized within “Salaries, wages, and 
benefits” in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 
31, 2017 and 2016 amounted to $22,074 and $26,132, respectively. 

(10) Expendable spare parts and supplies, net of provision for obsolescence 
Expendable spare parts and supplies as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Expendable spare parts    $            86,705  $ 74,869 
Supplies    10,543  7,493 
Total    $            97,248  $ 82,362 

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 expendable spare parts and supplies in the amount 
of $60,027 and $59,579, respectively, were recognized as maintenance expense. The net balance in 
the provision for obsolescence is $ 18,631 and $ 24,007 for the years 2017 and 2016 respectively. 

(11) Prepaid expenses 
These primarily relate to advance commission payments to travel agencies for future services, 
prepayments for aircraft rentals and prepaid insurance. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 prepaid 
balances are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Prepaid commissions (1)    $            33,170  $ 16,351 
Advance payments on operating aircraft leases    9,507  10,313 
Premiums for insurance policies    12,142  11,149 
Other (2)    44,938  21,912 
Total    $          99,757                 $ 59,725 

(1) Increase for boarding denied due to the pilots' strike, customer service and baggage services, 
most are delivered in Bogotá, Cali, Medellín, and Cúcuta. 

(2) Advance payment made to IATA for service charges made by airlines. This is mainly the case 
with Airlines that belong to Star Alliance for the accumulation of miles, use of VIP lounges and 
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Reservation Systems, Travelport Global Distribution System B.V., Services of Bolivian 
Airports, S.A., United Airlines Inc. 

(12) Deposits and other assets 
Deposits and other assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

  
Notes  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Short term:       
Deposits with lessors (1)    $          111,229  $ 121,173 
Short term investments (2)    59,332  16,598 
Guarantee deposits (3)    2,003  1,931 
Others (4)    8,871  1,547 

Sub–Total    181,435  141,249 
Fair value of derivative instruments  26  20,549  18,875 
Total    $          201,984  $ 160,124 
Long term:       

Deposits with lessors (1)    $            63,962  $ 84,067 
 Long term investments – restricted (2)    9,159  36,355 
Guarantee deposits (3)    16,531  6,824 
Others (4)    23,703  39,325 

Sub–Total    113,355  166,571 
Fair value of derivative instruments  26  2,990  7,462 
Total    $          116,345  $ 174,033 

 

(1) Corresponds mainly to maintenance deposits in connection with leased aircraft. These 
deposits are applied to future maintenance event costs, and are calculated on the basis of a 
performance measure, such as flight hours or cycles. They are specifically intended to 
guarantee maintenance events on leased aircraft. 

Maintenance deposits paid do not transfer the obligation to maintain aircraft or the costs 
associated with maintenance activities. 

Maintenance deposits are reimbursable to the Company upon completion of the maintenance 
event in an amount equal to the lesser of (a) the amount of the maintenance deposits held by 
the lessor associated with the specific maintenance event or (b) the qualifying costs related 
to the specific maintenance event. During the 12 months ended December 31, 2017 the 
Company has paid lessors $(17,025) (December 31, 2016: $17,695) in maintenance deposits, 
net of reimbursements. 
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(2) Short term classification corresponds to funds invested that will expire within one year. All 
treasury cash surpluses are invested as defined and outlined in the Company´s Investment 
Policy. Otherwise, they are classified as long-term. The restricted investments correspond to 
CDT's and bonds constituted by the Trusts held by the Group. 

(3) Corresponds mainly to amounts paid to suppliers in connections with leasehold of airport 
facilities, among other service agreements. 

(4) It mainly corresponds to guarantee deposits pending return with Airbus for delivery of 
aircraft and funds to guarantee 15% of the outstanding amount of the debt with the 
bondholders.
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(13) Property and equipment, net 
Flight equipment, property and other equipment as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

 

 
Flight 

Equipment 
Capitalized 

Maintenance 
Rotable 

Spare parts 

Reimbursement 
of predelivery 

payments 
Administrative 

property Others Total 
Gross:        

December 31, 2016 $   4,450,572 $       383,434 $     203,545 $       215,097 $         158,777 
$     

274,872 $    5,686,297 
Additions    333,202 171,607 17,271 119,049 2,099 33,828 677,056 
Disposals/Transfers 25,111 578   (1,749) (174,843) (33,676) (14,394) (198,973) 
Revaluation — — — — 31,017 — 31,017 

December 31, 2017 $    4,808,885 $       555,619 $    219,067 $       159,303 $         158,217  $    294,306  $     6,195,397  
Accumulated depreciation:        
December 31, 2016 $      653,415 $        190,596 $        62,489 $                — $             9,406 $    120,462 $     1,036,368 

Additions 177,262 81,616 6,642 — 2,229 25,351 293,100 
Disposals/Transfers (5,903) (1,432) (1,571) — (1,081) (5,100) (15,087) 

December 31, 2017 $       824,774  $        270,780  $        67,560  $                — $           10,554  $    140,713  $      1,314,381  
Net:        
December 31, 2016 $    3,797,157 $        192,838 $     141,056  $      215,097 $        149,371 $   154,410 $    4,649,929 
December 31, 2017 $    3,984,111       $        284,839         $     151,507      $      159,303         $        147,663         $   153,593    $    4,881,016     
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Flight 

Equipment 
Capitalized 

Maintenance 
Rotable 

Spare parts 

Reimbursement 
of predelivery 

payments 
Administrative 

property Others Total 
Gross:        

December 31, 2015 $  4,338,823 $   386,043 $   162,413 $   279,682 $    80,740 $ 300,198 $   5,547,899 

Additions              187,311 122,583 12,411 78,523                 950        
47,152 448,930 

Disposals/Transfers (75,562) (125,192) 28,721 (143,108) 68,116 (72,478) (319,503) 
Revaluation — — — — 8,971 — 8,971 

December 31, 2016 $   4,450,572 $    383,434 $    203,545 $    215,097 $    158,777 $ 274,872 $    5,686,297 
Accumulated depreciation:        
December 31, 2015 $    578,262 $   240,765 $     25,686 $            — $     10,669 $   93,171 $      948,553 

Additions    142,059 67,636 9,631 — 1,938 25,995 247,259 
Disposals/Transfers (66,906) (117,805) 27,172 — (3,201) 1,296 (159,444) 

December 31, 2016 $     653,415 $    190,596 $      62,489 $             — $        9,406 $ 120,462 $    1,036,368 
Net:        
December 31, 2015 $   3,760,561 $     145,278            $    136,727          $    279,682         $      70,071            $ 207,027       $    4,599,346      
December 31, 2016 $   3,797,157 $     192,838  $    141,056          $    215,097         $    149,371            $ 154,410       $    4,649,929      
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During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired ten aircraft A-318 and one 
aircraft A-320, which were previously operating leases. Additionally, one aircraft B787-8, one 
aircraft A-300F and two aircraft A-320NEO under financial leasing. In addition, the Company 
made pre-delivery payments ("PDPs") and purchased rotatable spare parts. Of the 55 aircraft under 
operating lease, one Boeing 767 and two A-330 aircraft are under Wet Lease. 

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, the Company made pre-delivery payments 
("PDPS") and purchased rotatable spare parts. 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the net carrying amount of leased property and equipment 
under financial leases was $3,038,592 and $3,113,189 respectively, which have been pledged to 
secure long–term debt. 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company capitalized borrowing costs amounting to 
$10,443 at an average interest rate of 7.30% and $20,840 at an average interest rate of 8.81%, 
respectively. 

The Avianca’s MRO Hangar, in the Jose Maria Cordova International Airport of the municipality 
of Rionegro, which began operations in August 2016, ended with a total cost of $ 43,443, which 
consists of hangars and specialized workshops for the repair of aircraft components, as well as 
infrastructure for taxiing aircraft, spare parts warehouses and training classrooms. 

As of December 31, 2017, a total amount of $9,539 corresponds to the purchase of an Airbus A320 
SN 2605 flight simulator installed in the CEO. The cost includes installation, tariffs and taxes. The 
same is used for training of personnel incorporated with the operation 

As of December 31, 2017 a total amount of $561 has been recognized as property and equipment 
in the course of construction, which corresponds to the Hangar project for online maintenance at 
El Dorado Airport in Bogotá, with an estimated cost of $24,807 with end date of April 30, 2018. 
The cost includes studies, architectural designs, technical designs, building construction and the 
Hangar platform, as well as the transfer of equipment from the current facilities to the new one. 

As of December 31, 2017, the Operational Excellence Center - CEO building was acquired on July 
26, 2017 by Avianca S.A., through assignment of rights to Tampa Cargo S.A.S. for a cost of $ 
35,156, asset that was sold on August 10, 2017 to the company Patrimonios Autónomos Fiduciaria 
- Corficolombiana for a value of $ 46,494. The sale value of this property was $ 4,845. 

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized a net gain of $ 
2,928 and $ 4,275, respectively, related to sale and leaseback transactions, which are recognized 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. All sale and leaseback transactions 
resulted in operating leases. 

In 2017, engine maintenance was carried out and capitalized for $143,786; Likewise, an 
accelerated depreciation expense of $21,448 corresponding to previous maintenance costs was 
recognized. 
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In the area of administrative properties, there are land and buildings valued at $ 15,229 (net), which 
are located in Venezuela, on which it has not been technically possible to make appraisals taking 
into account the instability of the market in that country. These assets are measured under the cost 
model. 

Administrative property 
The Company uses the revaluation model to measure its land and buildings which are composed 
of administrative properties. Management determined that this constitutes one class of asset under 
IAS 16, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the property. The fair values of the 
properties were determined by using market comparable methods. This means that valuations 
performed by the appraisals are based on active market prices, adjusted for difference in the nature, 
location or condition of the specific property. The Company engaged accredited independent 
appraisals, to determine the fair value of its land and buildings. Land and buildings were revaluated 
at December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

In order to establish the fair value of real estate as of December 31, 2017, the revaluation of land 
of $ 11,495 and buildings of $ 19,522 originated from the figures determined in the technical 
studies (valuation) was recognized as a result a final balance of Land is recorded for $ 61,339 
and $ 96,878 for buildings. 

If land and buildings were measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as 
follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Cost    $          128,791  $ 107,854 
Accumulated depreciation     (11,230)  (6,150) 
Net carrying amount    $          117,561  $ 101,704 

(14) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        
Routes    $            36,503  $     38,707 
Trademarks    3,938  3,938 
Software and webpages    70,927  61,804 
Other intangible rights    3,937  435 
Subtotal     115,305  104,884 
Goodwill    311,274  308,034 

Total Intangible Assets    $          426,579  $    412,918 

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In USD thousands) 
  
  

72 
 

The following is the detail of intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016: 

 

 
Goodwill Routes 

Trade-
Marks 

Software & 
Webpages Others Total 

Cost:       
December 31, 2015 $ 311.181 $   52.481  $    3.938 $    99.034 $   5.025    $  471.659 
Other Acquisitions – Internally 
developed    21.660  21.660 
Disposals     (221) (221) 
December 31, 2016 $  311.181 $   52.481 $    3.938 $  120.694 $   4.804 $  493.098 
Other Acquisitions – Internally 
developed 3.240   26.818 3.916 33.974 
December 31, 2017 $  314.421  $  52.481 $3.938 $147.512 $   8.720 $  527.072 
       
 
Accumulated Amortization 
and Impairment Losses:       
December 31, 2015 (3.147) (11.570)  (39.554) (3.622) (57.893) 
Amortization for the year  (2.204)  (19.336) (747) (22.287) 
December 31, 2016 $   (3.147) $ (13.774) $             $  (58.890) $  (4.369) $  (80.180) 
Amortization for the year  (2.204)  (17.695) (414) (20.313) 
December 31, 2017 $   (3.147) $ (15.978) $             $   (76.585) $  (4.783) $(100.493)        
Carrying Amounts:       
December 31, 2015 $  308.034 $   40.911 $       3.938 $     59.480 $     1.403 $  413.766 
December 31, 2016 $ 308.034 $   38.707 $       3.938 $     61.804 $        435 $  412.918 
December 31, 2017 $ 311.274 $   36.503 $       3.938 $     70.927 $     3.937 $  426.579 

 

14.1 Acquisitions during the period 

 
  SAI S.A.S 
   
Consideration Transfered  $                 5.044 
Plus: Non-Controlling Interests  504 
Less: Fair Value of identificable net assets 

acquired 
  

2.308 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 
 

 $                 3.240 
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Servicios Aeroportuarios Integrados SAI S.A.S is a company dedicated to ground handling services for 
aircraft and passengers. Goodwill originated from the acquisition of SAI S.A.S., because the cost of the 
combination includes a control premium. The consideration paid for the combination effectively 
includes amounts in relation to the expected benefit of the synergies, revenue growth, future market 
development and integration of the workforce; these benefits are not recognized separately from 
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria of identifiable intangible assets. 

It is not expected that the goodwill generated from this acquisition will be deductible for tax purposes. 

14.2 Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life 
In order to verify the impairment of goodwill acquired through business combinations and other 
intangibles with indefinite useful life, these have been assigned to the following Cash Generating 
Units (CGU): 

-   Aerolíneas Galápagos Aerogal, S.A. (“Aerogal”) 
-   Grupo Taca Holdings Limited 
-   Tampa Cargo S.A.S.  

The carrying amount of goodwill and intangibles allocated to each of the CGUs: 

  Aerogal  Grupo Taca 
Holdings Limited 

 Tampa Cargo  
S.A.S. 

  2017  2016  2017  2016  2017  2016 
Goodwill  $32,979   $ 32,979  $234,779  $234,779  $40,276   $ 40,276 
Routes  —  15,244  —  —  23,463  23,463 
Trademarks  —  —  —  —  3,938  3,938 

 

The Company performed its annual impairment test in December 2017 and 2016. The Company 
considers the relationship between the value in use of the CGU and its book value, among other 
factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment on the goodwill or any of its intangible assets. 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not identify potential impairment of 
goodwill or intangible assets. 

(1) In 2014, following the acquisition of the voting rights and economic rights of Aerounion and 
consolidation of cargo operations, the Company reassessed its CGU structure. As a result, the 
Tampa and Aerounion CGUs that were previously evaluated separately were merged into a 
single CGU. 

Aerogal CGU 
The recoverable amount of Aerogal CGU, $231,008 as of December 31, 2017, has been 
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets 
approved by senior management covering a five–year period. The projected cash flows have been 
updated to reflect the estimated demand for services and costs to operate. The pre–tax discount 
rate applied to cash flow projections is 14.84% and cash flows beyond the five–year period are 
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extrapolated using a 2.10% growth rate that is the same as the long–term average growth rate for 
Ecuador, where the Company has its base of operation.  It was concluded that no impairment 
charge is necessary as the value in use exceeds book value. 

Grupo Taca Holdings Limited CGU 
The recoverable amount of Grupo Taca Holdings Limited CGU, $1,886,880 as of December 31, 
2017, has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from 
financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five–year period. The projected cash 
flows have been updated to reflect the estimated demand for services and costs to operate. The 
pre–tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 14.61% and cash flows beyond the five–
year period are extrapolated using a 2.70% growth rate that is the same as the long–term average 
growth rate for Latin America. It was concluded that no impairment charge is necessary as the 
value in use exceeds book value. 

Tampa Cargo S.A.S. CGU 
The recoverable amount of Tampa Cargo S.A.S. CGU, $772,027 as of December 31, 2017, has 
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from financial 
budgets approved by senior management covering a five–year period. The projected cash flows 
have been updated to reflect the estimated demand for services and costs to operate. The pre–tax 
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 10.36% and cash flows beyond the five–year 
period are extrapolated using a 3.20% growth rate that is the same as the long–term average growth 
rate for Colombia, where the Company has its base of operation. It was concluded that no 
impairment charge is necessary as the value in use exceeds book value. 

Assumptions 

The calculation of value in use for the CGUs is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

-   Jet fuel price per gallon 
-   Discount rates 
-   Revenue growth  
-   CAPEX expenditure 
-   Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period 
-   Working capital 

Jet fuel price per gallon – Estimates are obtained from published data relating to the specific 
commodity. Forecast figures are used if data is publicly available, otherwise past actual price 
movements are used as an indicator of future price movements. 

Discount rates – Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks of the holding 
Company of each CGU, taking into consideration the time value of money and individual risks of 
the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate 
calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Company and is derived from its weighted 
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average cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The beta 
factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data. 

Revenue growth – Management evaluates its estimates on passenger growth or cargo growth. 
Management expects the Company to have a stable growth over the forecast period.  

CAPEX expenditure – Management estimates investment in CAPEX including aircraft, 
maintenance, and sale of assets, among others to estimate debt free cash flows. 

Growth rate estimates – Rates are based on published forecasts for the regions or countries where 
the CGUs operate. 

Working capital – Management evaluates the working capital needs of each CGU in accordance 
with its needs for investments to continue operations. 

(15) Earnings per Share 
The calculation of basic (loss) earnings per share at December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

  December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
 2016  

Net profit (loss) attributable to Avianca 
Holdings S.A. 

 
$                  48,237  $ 44,186  

      
Weighted average number of shares      
(in thousands of shares)      
Common stock  660,800  660,800  
Preferred stock  336,187  336,187  
      
Earnings per share      
Common stock  $                      0,05  $ 0.04  
Preferred stock  $                      0,05  $ 0.04  

There are no dilutive shares as the Company has no convertible preferred shares, convertible 
debentures. 

(16) Long–term debt 
Loans and borrowings, measured at amortized cost, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are 
summarized as follows: 
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Notes  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Current:       
Short–term borrowings and current portion 

of long–term debt 
   

 $         542,614   $ 377,149 
Bonds    29,458  29,590 

  29       $     572,072       $     406,739 
Non–current:       

Long–term debt    $  2,600,450  $      2,259,459 
Bonds    579,591  608,037 

  29   $  3,180,041   $      2,867,496 

Terms and conditions of the Company’s outstanding obligations for years ended December 31, 
2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

   December 31, 2017 
 

Due 
through  

Weighted 
average 

interest rate  Face Value  
Carrying 
Amount 

        
Short–term 
borrowings 2018  3.96% 

 
$         85,387  $           79,263 

Long–term debt  2029  4.14%  4,699,338  3,063,801 
Bonds–Colombia 2019  10.58%  89,266  59,808 
Bonds– Luxembourg 2020  8.38%  550,000  549,241 

Total 
  

$    5,423,991  
   

$      3,752,113 
 

   December 31, 2016 
 

Due 
through  

Weighted 
average 

interest rate  Face Value  
Carrying 
Amount 

        
Short–term 
borrowings 2017  4.20% 

 
$ 64,060  $        62,302 

Long–term debt  2028  3.41%  3,938,372  2,574,306 
Bonds–Colombia 2019  12.96%  88,769  88,770 
Bonds– Luxembourg 2020  7.95%  550,000  548,857 
Total  $  4,641,201  $ 3,274,235 
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The majority of interests bearing liabilities are denominated in US dollars except for bonds 
and certain financing liabilities for working capital which are denominated in Colombian 
Pesos, and some aircraft debts are denominated in Euros. 

The outstanding long term debt balance of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 
were $2,288,605 and $2,218,509, respectively. These outstanding balances of long-term debt 
include borrowings from various financial institutions to finance aircraft acquisitions. Most of 
these are loans guaranteed by Export Credit Agencies. Additionally, the Company had an 
outstanding balance of short-term borrowings and long-term debt with various financial 
institutions for working capital purposes amounting to $854,459 and $482,432, respectively. 

During 2017, the Company obtained $ 338,448 in loans to finance the purchase of ten A318 
aircraft, one B787, one A320, two A320neo, and refinance one A319 and two A320. The 
Company also obtained $ 512,705 for general purposes of working capital, within these loans 
stands out the acquired by the subsidiary LifeMiles Ltd, worth $ 300,000 at a rate LIBOR + 
5.5%, for a term of 5 years, this loan is guaranteed with all tangible and intangible assets, 
except for some exclusions of LifeMiles Ltd and its subsidiaries, likewise this debt has 
financial commitments. In addition to this, the Company made a transaction of US $ 150,000 
(less transaction costs) in connection with the transfer of future cash flows from certain sales 
of credit card tickets in the United States (related only to sales of travel agencies). ), which 
were sold by Avianca to USAVFlow for a period of five years. 

During 2016, the Company obtained $154,049 through a private placement vehicle issuing 
guaranteed notes and loans in order to finance the purchase of one B787 and two A319 aircraft, 
financed two CESSNA aircraft totalling $3,649 and issued in Euro a USD equivalent of 
$57,308 to refinance five ATR-72 aircraft trought an ECA guaranteed bond take out loan. The 
Company also obtained $19,527 for general working capital purposes. 

On May 10, 2013, the Company issued $300,000 of Senior Notes in an offering exempt from 
registration under Rule 144A and Regulation S under theU.S. Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended. The senior Notes are due in 2020 and bear interest at the rate of 8.375% per year, 
payable semi-annually in arrears on May 10 and November 10, beginning on November 10, 
2013 

On Apr 8, 2014, the Company completed a second issuance of $250,000 of Senior Notes in an 
offering exempt from registration under Rule 144A and Regulation S under the U.S. Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended. The Senior Notes are due in 2020 and bear interest at the rate of 
8.375% per year, payable semi–annually in arrears on May 10 and November 10, beginning 
on May 10, 2014. The placement price for the second issuance was 104.50%. 
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As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 the subsidiaries Grupo Taca Holdings Limited, and 
Avianca Leasing, LLC are jointly and severally liable under the Notes as co–issuers on 
$550,000 in aggregate principal amount.  

The Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by three of our subsidiaries: Taca 
International Airlines S.A., Líneas Aéreas Costarricenses, S.A., and Trans american Airlines 
S.A. Avianca Leasing LLC’s obligations as a co–issuer of the Notes will be unconditionally 
guaranteed by our subsidiary Aerovías del Continente Americano S.A.–Avianca, in an amount 
equal to $366,667. The Notes and guarantees are senior unsecured obligations of the co–issuers 
and the guarantors, respectively, and rank equally in right of payments with all of their other 
respective present and future unsecured obligations that are not expressly subordinated in right 
of payment to the Senior Notes or the guarantees. 

The Company, Avianca Leasing, LLC and Grupo Taca Holdings, Limited as co–issuers, listed 
the Senior Notes on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and for trading on 
the Euro MTF market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. As of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, the Senior Notes outstanding and the corresponding balances are as follows: 

Issuing entities  
Original 
currency  

Total placed in 
original currency  

Balance as of 
December 31, 

2017  2016 
Avianca Holdings S.A., 
Avianca Leasing, LLC 
and Grupo Taca Holdings 
Limited 

 

USD  550,000  $       549,241  $ 548,857 
 

Issuers: Avianca Holdings S.A., Avianca Leasing, LLC, and Grupo Taca 
Holdings Limited 

Guarantors: Líneas Aéreas Costarricenses, S.A., Trans American Airlines S.A., and 
Taca International Airlines, S.A. fully and unconditionally guarantee 
the total Notes. Aerovías del Continente Americano – Avianca, S.A. 
unconditionally guarantee the obligations of Avianca Leasing, LLC 
under the Senior Notes in an amount equal to $375 million. 

Notes offered: $550,000 aggregate principal amount of 8.375% Senior Notes due 
2020. 

Initial Issue Price: 98.706% 
Initial Issue Date:  May 10, 2013 

Issue Amount: $300 million 
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Interest: The Senior Notes will bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.375% per year. 
The first issuance is payable semiannually in arrears on May 10 and 
November 10 of each year, commencing on November 10, 2013. 
Interest will accrue from May 10, 2013. The second issuance is payable 
semiannually in arrears on May 10 and November 10 of each year, 
commencing on May 10, 2014. 

Second Issue Price: 104.50% 

Second Issue Date: April 8, 2014 

Maturity Date: The Senior Notes will mature on May 10, 2020. 

 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, bonds issued and the corresponding balances are as follows: 

Issuing 
entity 

 

Issue  

Total 
placed in 
original 
currency 

(1)  

Balance as of 
December 31, 

2017  2016 
Original 

currency (1)  
In US 

Dollars  
Original 

currency (1)  
In US 

Dollars 
Avianca  Series A  75,000   $    $  

Avianca  Series B  158,630         

Avianca  Series C  266,370  178,468  59,808  266,370  88,770 

Total       $ 59,808   $ 88,770 

(1) Presentation of original currency in millions of Colombian pesos 

On August 25, 2009 a bond issue was completed on the Colombian stock exchange, which is 
collateralized by Credibanco and Visa credit cards ticket sales in Colombia. 

The specific conditions of the 2009 bond issue in Colombia are as follows: 

Representative of 
bondholders: Helm Trust, S.A. 
Amount of issue: $500,000 million Colombian Pesos 
Managing agent: Fiduciaria Bogota, S.A. 
Series: 
 
 

Series A: Authorized issue $100,000 million Colombian Pesos  
Series B: Authorized issue $200,000 million Colombian Pesos 
Series C: Authorized issue $300,000 million Colombian Pesos 
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Coupon: 
 
 

Series A: Indexed to Colombian consumer price index 
Series B: Indexed to Colombian consumer price index 
Series C: Indexed to Colombian consumer price index 
Interest is payable at quarter–end 

Term: 
 

Series A: 5 years  
Series B: 7 years 
Series C: 10 years 

Repayment of 
capital: 
 
 

Series A: At the end of 5 years 
Series B: 50% after 6 years and 50% after 7 years 
Series C: 33% after 8 years, 33% after 9 years and  34% after 10 years 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had unsecured revolving lines of credit with 
different financial institutions in the aggregate amounts of $115,742, and $84,422, respectively. 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were $14,123, and $22,840 unused credit line balances, 
respectively, under these facilities. These revolving lines of credit are preapproved by the financial 
institutions and the Company may withdraw funds if it has working capital requirements. 

Future payments on long–term debt for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as 
follows: 

  Years 
  

One 
 

Two 
 

Three 
 

Four 
 Five and 

thereafter 
 

Total 
December 31, 2017  $    463,351   $   381,288   $412,839        $    392,810  $1,413,513       $  3,063,801 
             December 31, 2016  $    314,848     $   354,709       $    331,633        $    319,895        $1,253,221       $  2,574,306 

Future payments on bonds for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

  Years 
  

One  Two  Three  Four  
Five and 

thereafter  Total 
December 31, 2017  $     29,458  $    29,676  $   549,915  $             $             $   609,049 
              December 31, 2016  $     29,590  $    28,815  $     29,202  $   550,020  $             $   637,627 

During 2017 and 2016, the Company did not comply with certain debt covenants. However these 
breaches did not accelerate the due date for the repayment of the debt. As of December 31, 2017. 
The most significant commitments related to financial ratios assumed by the Company and its 
subsidiaries are as follows: 
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Avianca Holdings S.A. and Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements of Avianca Holdings and Subsidiaries must comply with the 
following financial covenants: 

(1) EBITDAR Coverage Ratio: Should be not less than 1.50 to 1.00 and 1.70 to 1.00 for other 
obligations at the end of December 31, 2017. 

(2) Capitalization Ratio: Should not be greater than 0.86 to 1.00 at the end of each reporting 
period. 

(3) Cash reserves held or controlled or otherwise available to the guarantor or its subsidiaries 
should be at least $350 million at all times and $50 million for other obligations at all times.  

Relevant Testing Date means the date on which the Avianca Holdings S.A. and Subsidiaries 
audited financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS are delivered to the Security 
Trustee, no later than 180 days of the end of the financial period. 
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  1 January 

2017 
 Payments  Foreign 

exchange 
movement 

 New 
adquisitions 

 New 
Leases 

 

 Other 
 

 31 December 
2017 

 
Current interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings 
(excluding itmes listed 
below) 

 $        62,179  $   (22,408)  $              $         $             $             $           

Current portion of long-
term credits (excluding 
items listed below) 

 314,970  (57,197)        (1,988)   

Bonds  29,590          (132)                       
Non-current obligations 
under financial lease 
agreements and purchase 
agreements 

 2,259,459  (284,581)  13,174    340,568  4,990                       

Other financial liabilities        148,536                           
Bonds  608,037  (28,910)                               
Dividends    (155,674)        155,674                       
Total liabilities from 
financig activities  $   3,274,235  $ (548,770)  $     13,642  $     513,894  $  340,568  $  158,544  $   3,752,113                     
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 1 January 
2016 

 Payments  Foreign 
exchange 

movement 

 New 
adquisitions 

 New 
Leases 

 

 Other 
 

 31 December 
2016 

 
Current interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings 
(excluding itmes listed 
below) 

 $        89,367  $   (62,374)  $            $         $             $             $           

Current portion of long-
term credits (excluding 
items listed below) 

 298,461  (37,315)        122   

Bonds  25,056                                 
Non-current obligations 
under financial lease 
agreements and purchase 
agreements 

 2,426,929  (268,637)  (5,924)    105,933  1,158                       

Bonds  633,180  (26,613)                               
Dividends            31,823                       
Total liabilities from 
financig activities  $   3,472,993  $ (426,762)  $     232  $     35,034  $  159,635  $  33,103  $   3,274,235                     
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(17) Accounts payable 

Accounts payable as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Trade accounts payable    $          168,795  $ 319,858 
Non–income taxes collected in advance    261,783  104,165 
Payroll taxes (1)    58,235  53,210 
Other payables (2)    38,151  15,873 
Current    $          526,964  $ 493,106 

 

Trade accounts payable    $              2,970           $          8 
Payroll taxes (1)    2,114  2,726 
Non–current    $              5,084  $     2,734 

(1) Represent payroll taxes and contributions based on salaries and compensation paid to 
employees of the Company in the various jurisdictions in which it operates. 

(2) Other accounts payable include mainly provisions for travel expenses, provisions for fees 
and accrued interest. 

(18) Accrued expenses 
Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Operating expenses    $          112,844  $    84,981 
Vacation and other employee accruals    36,144  20,625 
Other accrued expenses (1)    37,669  33,191 
Total    $          186,657  $    138,797 

(1) Other accrued expenses include deferred leasing income, interest payable, provision 
severance payment and deferred interest income. 

(19) Provisions for return conditions 
For certain operating leases, the Company is contractually obligated to return the aircraft in a 
predefined condition. The Company accrues for restitution costs related to aircraft held under 
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operating leases at the time the asset does not meet the return conditions criteria and throughout 
the remaining duration of the lease. 

Provisions for return conditions as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Current    $            19,093  $ 53,116 
Non – current    144,099  120,822 
Total    $          163,192  $ 173,938 

Changes in provisions for return conditions as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Balances at beginning of year     $          173,938  $ 161,867 
Provisions made     811  28,354 
Provisions used                 (11,557)  (16,283) 

Balances at end of year    $          163,192  $ 173,938 

(20) Employee benefits 
The Company has a defined benefit plan which requires contributions to be made to separately 
administered funds. The Company has also agreed to provide post–employment benefits to its 
retirees that consist primarily of medical benefit plans as well as certain other benefits, including 
scholarships, tickets, seniority and retirement. These other benefits are unfunded. 

Accounting for pensions and other post–employment benefits involves estimating the benefit cost 
to be provided well into the future and attributing that cost over the time period in which each 
employee works for the Company. This requires the use of extensive estimates and assumptions 
about inflation, investment returns, mortality rates, turnover rates, medical cost trends and discount 
rates, among other information. The Company has two distinct pension plans, one for pilots and 
the other for ground personnel. Both plans have been closed to new participants, and therefore 
there are a fixed number of beneficiaries covered under these plans as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016. 

   
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Fair value of plan assets    $         (189,697)  $      (165,740) 
Present value of the obligation    364,043  320,890 

Total employee benefit liability    $          174,346  $ 155,150 
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The following table summarizes the components of net benefit expense recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and the funded status and amounts recognized 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the respective plans: 

Net benefit expense – year ended December 31, 2017 
(recognized in Salaries, wages and benefits) 

 Defined benefit 
plan  Other benefits 

      Current service cost  $              1,207  $               
Interest cost on net benefit obligation  18,490  3,984 

Total employee benefit liability  $            19,697  $            5,966 
 

Net benefit expense – year ended December 31, 2016  
(recognized in Salaries, wages and benefits) 

 Defined benefit 
plan  Other benefits 

      Current service cost  $      566  $         2,241 
Interest cost on net benefit obligation  17,484  5,275 

Total employee benefit liability  $ 18,050  $         7,516 
 

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2017 are as follows: 

  Defined benefit 
Obligation  Other benefits 

 
Total 

       
Benefit obligation as of December 31, 
2016 

 $           265,928  $            54,962  $          320,890 

Period cost   19,697  5,966  25,663 
Benefits paid by employer  (20,058)  (2,398)  (22,456) 
Actuarial (gains) losses recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

 
34,848  4,572  39,420 

Exchange differences  (1,215)    (1,215) 
Others  1,573  168  1,741 
Benefit obligation as of December 31, 
2017 

 300,773  63,270  364,043 

Fair value of plan assets  (189,697)    (189,697) 
Total employee benefit liability  $           111,076  $            63,270  $          174,346 
       
Current  $             34,141  $              4,565  $            38,706 
Non–current  76,935  58,705  135,640 

Total  $           111,076  $            63,270  $          174,346 
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

  
Defined 

benefit plan 
   
Fair value of assets at December 31, 2016  $           165,740 
Interest income on plan assets  12,615 
Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount  6,568 
Employer contributions  23,522 
Benefits paid  (17,460) 
Investment expenses paid  (1,896) 
Exchange differences  608 
Fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2017  $           189,697 

 

 

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2016 are as follows: 

  Defined benefit 
Obligation  Other benefits 

 
Total 

       
Benefit obligation as of December 31, 
2015 

 $ 232,749  $ 68,364  $ 301,113 

Period cost   18,050  7,516  25,566 
Benefits paid by employer  (16,884)  (2,546)  (19,430) 
Actuarial (gains) losses recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

 
17,918  (20,301)  (2,383) 

Exchange differences  14,095  1,929  16,024 
Benefit obligation as of December 31, 
2016 

 265,928  54,962  320,890 

Fair value of plan assets  (165,740)    (165,740) 
Total employee benefit liability  $ 100,188  $ 54,962  $ 155,150 
       
Current  $  35,272  $  4,309  $        39,581 
Non–current  64,916  50,653  115,569 

Total  $ 100,188  $ 54,962  $      155,150 
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

  
Defined 

benefit plan 
   
Fair value of assets at December 31, 2015  $ 140,517 
Interest income on plan assets  11,268 
Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount  2,657 
Employer contributions  21,597 
Benefits paid  (16,069) 
Adjustment in plan asset performance  (946) 
Exchange differences  6,716 
Fair value of assets at December 31, 2016  $     165,740 

For the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, actuarial gains of $33,385 and  $4,094 
respectively were recognized in other comprehensive income. 

  December 
31, 2017  

December 
31, 2016  

 December 
31, 2015 

Actuarial gains recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

 
$    (38,205)  $ 2,383 

 
$ 5,019 

Return on plan assets adjustment  4,672  1,711  (4,478) 
Adjustments for translation  148     
Amount recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

 
$    (33,385)  $ 4,094 

 
$   541 

The Company expects to contribute $33,385 to its defined benefit plan and other benefits in 2018. 

Plan assets correspond to net funds transferred to Caxdac, which is responsible for the 
administration of the pilots’ pension plan. The assets held by Caxdac are segregated into separate 
accounts corresponding to each contributing Company. Additionally the plan assets included a 
portion relating to pension plan of ground personnel. 

The principal assumptions (inflation–adjusted) that are used in determining pension and post–
employment medical benefit obligations for the Company’s plans are shown below: 
 

  December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

Discount rate on all plans  6.75%  7.50% 
Price inflation  3.09%  3.00% 
Future salary increase      

Pilots  4.00%  4.00% 
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Cabin crew  4.00%  4.00% 
Other employees  4.00%  4.00% 

Future pension increase  3.18%  3.00% 
Healthcare cost increase  4.50%  4.50% 
Ticket cost increase   3.00%  3.00% 
Education cost increase  3.00%  3.00% 

 

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of the total plan assets are as 
follows: 

  December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

Equity securities  22.04%  24.82% 
Debt securities  33.73%  15.95% 
Domestic Corporate bonds  35.30%  28.31% 
Foreign goverment/corporate bonds  6.61%  18.54% 
Other  2.30%  12.37% 

Equity securities comprise investments in Colombian entities with a credit rating between AAA 
and BBB. The debt securities include investments in bonds of the Colombian government, in banks 
and in Colombian public and private entities. Domestic corporate bonds include bonds issued by 
private companies and Foreign Government Corporate Bonds include Yankes bonds and bonds 
issued by financial and private entities abroad. 

Pension plans for ground personnel 
In 2008, the Company entered into a commutation agreement with Compañía Aseguradora de Vida 
Colseguros S.A. (Insurance Company) in connection with the pension liability of two of the 
Company’s pension plans. 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, there are 12 and 18 beneficiaries, respectively, which have 
not been commuted. Consequently, the Company estimates through an actuarial calculation the 
pension liability of these beneficiaries. 

Pension plans for flight personnel 
Due to local regulations for two of the Company’s pension plans, the Company has to make 
contributions to a fund which is externally administrated. The amount of the annual contribution 
is based on the following: 

–  Basic contribution for the year: equal to the expected annual pension payments. 

–  Additional contribution for the year (if necessary): equal to the necessary amount to match the 
actuarial liability under local accounting rules and the plan assets as of year 2023 (determined with 
an actuarial calculation). 
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Sensitivity Analysis 
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the aforementioned assumptions. 
The following table summarizes how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the 
reporting period would have increased (decreased) as a result of a change in the respective 
assumptions: 

  0.5% increase  0.5% decrease 
Discount rate  (41,091)  45,309 
Pension increase  8,743  5,180 
Mortality table  5,903  — 

(21) Air traffic liability 

The Air traffic liability, comprises the proceeds from the unused air ticket or the revenues 
corresponding to the unused portion of a ticket sold. This income also includes the deferred income 
from the loyalty programs. The Company periodically evaluates this liability and any significant 
adjustment is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. These 
adjustments are mainly due to differences between actual events and circumstances such as 
historical sales rates and customer travel patterns that may result in refunds, changes or expiration 
of tickets that change substantially from the estimates (see note 3 (g)). The balance as of December 
31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

Air traffic liability as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Advance ticket sales    $          452,854  $ 447,430 
Miles deferred revenue    86,371  73,760 
Current     $         539,225  $ 521,190 

 

Miles deferred revenue    $          104,786  $   98,088 
Non–current    $          104,786  $   98,088 
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(22) Other liabilities 
Other liabilities as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

  
Notes  

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

        Derivative instruments   26, 27  $                 137  $            528 
Deferred income (1)    24,471  24,606 
Other    —  762 
Total    $            24,608  $ 25,896 
       
Current    $              9,415  $ 11,085 
Non–current    15,193  14,811 
Total    $            24,608  $ 25,896 

(1) Deferred income include prepayment for services and supplemental payment. 

(23) Share based payments 
The Company authorized the implementation of an incentive plan (the “Share Based Plan”) on 
January 27, 2012 whereby eligible recipients, including directors, officers, certain employees, 
receive a special cash payout if certain redemption conditions are met. 

The Share Based Plan participants have the option to redeem the vested portion of their respective 
rights for cash, with the payment being equal to the difference between the trading share price of 
the preferred shares of Avianca Holdings S.A., as reported by the Colombian Stock Exchange 
during the 30 calendar days immediately preceding redemption, and COP$5,000. 

18,026,158 awards were issued on March 15, 2012, and will vest in equal tranches over a 4 year 
period, with the first tranche vesting on March 15, 2013, and subsequent tranches vesting on each 
subsequent anniversary date. Upon vesting, each tranche must be redeemed within 5 years and no 
later than March 2021.  

On November 5, 2013, the Company listed its American Depositary Shares (“ADS”) in the New 
York Stock Exchange. As a consequence, the terms of the Share Based Plan were modified as 
follows: Starting on the effective date of the sale of ADSs in the market, the value of each award, 
as long as the result is positive, will result from: i) calculating the difference between the average 
quote of the ADSs representative of preferred shares of Avianca Holdings S.A., as reported by the 
New York Stock Exchange during the 30 calendar days immediately prior to each vesting date of 
the Share Based Plan and the price of $15, and ii) dividing the latter calculation by eight, 
considering that each ADS represents eight preferred shares and applying the resulting amount by 
the exchange rate of COP$1,901.22 per $1, (the exchange rate as of November 5, 2013 or the 
effective date of listing of the ADSs in the New York Stock Exchange). However, this modification 
does not affect Tranche 1. 

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In USD thousands) 
  
  

92 
 

Additionally, the Company issued 2,000,000 new awards (“New Awards”) for the Board of 
Directors and C Levels on November 6, 2013. These New Awards vest in four equal tranches and 
expire five year after the vesting date. The value of each New Award is determined in the same 
way as the modified terms of the Share Based Plan. On March 11, 2014, the Company revised the 
New Awards and reduced them to 1,840,000 units. 

As of December 31, 2017, active beneficiaries have been awarded with 13,307,451 units out of 
18,026,158 initially approved and issued, and have redeemed 480,025 units, corresponding to the 
vesting periods March 15, 2012–2013 and March 15, 2013–2014. Total awards to be redeemed as 
of December 31, 2017 are equal to 12,827,426. 

 

A summary of the terms of the awards excluding the 1,840,000 New Awards is as follows:  

Vesting dates  Percentage 
vesting  Redemption period 

March 15, 2013  25%  From March 16, 2013 through March 15, 2018 

March 15, 2014  25%  From March 16, 2014 through March 15, 2019 

March 15, 2015  25%  From March 16, 2015 through March 15, 2020 

March 15, 2016  25%  From March 16, 2016 through March 15, 2021 

A summary of the terms of the 1,840,000 New Awards is as follows: 

Vesting dates  Percentage 
vesting  Redemption  period 

November 6, 2014  25%  From November 7, 2014 through November 6, 2019 

November 6, 2015  25%  From November 7, 2015 through November 6, 2020 

November 6, 2016  25%  From November 7, 2016 through November 6, 2021 

November 6, 2017  25%  From November 7, 2017 through November 6, 2022 

Participants who are terminated, or resigned, cease to be part of the Share Based Plan. The awards 
were only issued to board members and key management. 

The Company has determined the fair value of the outstanding awards as of December 31, 2017 
and 2016 using the Turnbull–Wakeman model, which is a variation of the Black–Scholes model 
and was deemed to be an appropriate valuation model given the requirement that the share price 
be above a certain threshold for 30 days prior to redemption. 

For the valuation as of December 31, 2017, the Turnbull–Wakeman model uses several inputs 
including: 
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-   Expected term of 0.10 to 2.42 years 
-   Time in averaging period of 0.08 years 
-   Stock price of COP$2,950 in the Colombian Stock Exchange and $8.03 in the New York 

Stock Exchange 
-   Strike price of COP$5,000 for tranche 1 and $15 for tranches 2, 3, 4, and for the New 

Awards in all tranches 
-   Risk free rate of 1.80% to 4.43% 
-   Dividend yield of 1.69% 
-   Volatility of 19.58% to 48.87% 

 

For the valuation as of December 31, 2016, the Turnbull–Wakeman model uses several inputs 
including: 

-   Expected term of 0.60 to 3.35 years 
-   Time in averaging period of 0.08 years 
-   Stock price of COP$3,600 in the Colombian Stock Exchange and $9.64 in the New York 

Stock Exchange 
-   Strike price of COP$5,000 for tranche 1 and $15 for tranches 2, 3, 4, and for the New 

Awards in all tranches 
-   Risk free rate of 0.96% to 5.61% 
-   Dividend yield of 1.39% 
-   Volatility of 44.20% to 56.57% 
 
Since Avianca Holdings S.A. has a public traded history of approximately four and a half years 
for the preferred shares, which is shorter than all the expected terms except for Tranche 1–3 of 
the original Share Based Plan and Tranche 1 and 2 of the New Awards, the Company used data 
for guideline public companies similar to Avianca Holdings S.A. to estimate its equity volatility. 

Based on the aforementioned assumptions, the Company determined that the loss (income) of the 
Share Based Plan Awards for the period ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $(1,002) and 
$1,111 respectively which has been recognized within operating profit. As of December 31, 2017 
and 2016, $140 and $1,115, respectively, is reflected as a current liability on the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position. 

(24) Equity 
Common and preferred stock 
On November 5, 2013, the Company issued 12,500,000 American Depository Shares, or ADSs, 
each representing 8 preferred shares. Net proceeds from this offering amounted to approximately 
$183,553 million (net of issuance costs amounting to $3,956). Preferred stock has no voting rights 
and cannot be converted to common stock. Holders of the preferred shares and ADSs are entitled 
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to receive a minimum dividend to be paid preferentially over holders of common shares, so long 
as dividends have been declared by our shareholders at their annual meeting. If no dividends are 
declared, none of the Company’s shareholders will be entitled to any dividends. If dividends are 
declared and the Company’s annual distributable profits are sufficient to pay a dividend per share 
of at least COP 50 per share to all the Company’s holders of preferred and common shares, such 
profits will be paid equally with respect to the Company’s preferred and common shares. However, 
if the Company’s annual distributable profits are insufficient to pay a dividend of at least COP 50 
per share to all our holders of preferred and common shares, a minimum preferred dividend of 
COP 50 per share will be distributed pro rata to the holders of the Company’s preferred shares, 
and any excess above such minimum preferred dividend will be distributed solely to holders of 
our common shares. 

In connection with that offering, the common shareholders (“selling shareholders”) converted 
75,599,997 common shares to preferred shares, representing 14,734,910 ADSs. As a consequence, 
the number of common shares was reduced to 665,800,003; the number of preferred shares 
increased in 75,599,997 to 331,187,285 preferred shares. The Company did not receive any of the 
net proceeds from the sale of ADS by the selling shareholders. 

As of December 31, 2013, the Company purchased 197,141 of its outstanding preferred shares, 
for this reason, outstanding preferred stock was decreased by $25 and additional paid–in capital 
on preferred stock was decreased by $452. 

On November 28, 2014, the common shareholders (“selling shareholders”) converted 5,000,000 
common shares to preferred shares. As a consequence, the number of common shares was reduced 
to 660,800,003 and the number of preferred shares increased in 5,000,000 to 336,187,285 preferred 
shares. 

The following is a summary of authorized, issued and paid shares: 

  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016 
Authorized shares  4,000,000,000  4,000,000,000 
Issued and paid common stock  660,800,003  660,800,003 
Issued and paid preferred stock  336,187,285  336,187,285 

Sale of minority shareholding  
In August 2015 Avianca Holdings S.A. and Advent International (“Advent”), one of the largest 
and most experienced global private equity investors, signed a definitive agreement pursuant to 
which Advent acquired 3,000 common shares of LifeMiles B.V., representing a 30% minority 
shareholding interest in LifeMiles Corp. In connection with this transaction the Company 
recognized a total amount of $301,389 recorded directly to equity, net of related transaction costs. 
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Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) Reserves  
The movement of the other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as 
follows: 

        
Reservas de impuesto sobre la renta 

(4)     

  

Reservas de 
cobertura 

(1)  

Reservas 
de valor 

razonable 
(2)  

Reservas 
relacionadas 

con ganancias 
o pérdidas 
actuariales 

(3)  

Reservas 
de 

Cobertur
a  

Reservas 
de valor 

razonable  

Reserva 
relacionada 

con 
ganancias y 

pérdidas 
actuariales  

Revaluación 
y otras 

reservas 
(5)  

Total 
reservas 
de ORI 

Al 31 de diciembre 
de 2016  $      122  $    (245)  $   (31,753)  $   (3,558)  $          3       $      15,143     $     27,365      $    7,077 

Otros resultados 
integrales del periodo  

6,385  19  (33,385)  3,558  -  (15,018)  31,017  (7,424) 
Al 30 de septiembre 
de 2017  

$        6,507           $      (226)                $      (65,138)                      $            -    $         3               $             125              $    58,382           $      (347)  

 

 

        
Reservas de impuesto sobre la renta 

(4)     

  

Reservas de 
cobertura 

(1)  

Reservas 
de valor 

razonable 
(2)  

Reservas 
relacionadas 

con ganancias 
o pérdidas 
actuariales 

(3)  

Reservas 
de 

Cobertur
a  

Reservas 
de valor 

razonable  

Reserva 
relacionada 

con 
ganancias y 

pérdidas 
actuariales  

Revaluación 
y otras 

reservas 
(5)  

Total 
reservas 
de ORI 

Al 31 de diciembre 
de 2015  

$ (21,590)  $        —  $      (35,847)  $        —  $          3       $         10,854        $18.394         $ (28,186) 

Otros resultados 
integrales del periodo  21,712  (245)  4,094  (3,558)  — 

 
4,289 

 
8,971  35,263 

Al 31 de diciembre 
de 2016  $      122  $    (245)  $     (31,753)  $  (3,558)  $          3      

 
$        15,143    

 
$      27,365      $     7,077 
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(1) Hedging Reserves 

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair 
value of hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition of the 
hedged cash flows (See Note 26). 

(2) Fair value reserves 

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available–for–
sale financial assets until the assets are derecognized or impaired. 

(3) Reserve relating to actuarial gains and losses  

It comprises actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit plans and post–retirement medical 
benefits recognized in other comprehensive income.  

(4) Income tax on other comprehensive income 
Whenever an item of other comprehensive income gives rise to a temporary difference, a 
deferred income tax asset or liability is recognized directly in other comprehensive income 

(5) Revaluation of administrative property 

Revaluation of administrative property is related to the revaluation of administrative 
buildings and property in Colombia, Costa Rica, and El Salvador. The revaluation 
reserve is adjusted for increases or decreases in fair values of such property. 

The following provides an analysis of items presented net in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income which have been subject to reclassification, without 
considering items remaining in OCI which are never reclassified to profit of loss: 

  2017  2016  
Cash flow hedges:      
Reclassification during the year to profit or loss  $        10,309  $ 34,882  
Effective valuation of cash flow hedged  (3,924)  (13,170)  
  $         6,385  $ 21,712  
Fair value reserves:      
Valuations of available–for–sale investments   $               19  $ (245)  
   $               19  $ (245)  
Income tax on other comprehensive income:      
Reclassification during the year to profit or loss (1)   $                —  $ (12,801)  
Temporary differences within OCI    9,243  
   $                —  $     (3,558)  

 

(1) Deferred income tax assets resulting from temporary differences affecting the ORI were 
valued according to paragraph 34 and 35 of IAS 12, taking into account that future losses are 
presented that do not allow the recoverability of the deferred tax. 
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Dividends 
The following dividends were paid by the Company during the years ended December 31, 
2017 y 2016:  

  
December 
31, 2017  

December 
31, 2016 

Dividend - Ordinary shared  $       16,942  $ — 
Dividend - Preferred shared  8,730  5,723 
Total  $       25,672  $ 5,723 

The Board of Directors of Avianca Holdings S.A. At the ordinary meeting of the General 
Shareholders' Meeting on March 31, 2017, he agreed on the profit distribution project for 
2016 as a dividend; the shareholders holding shares of the Company were paid COP $ 77 
per share. Dividends decreed were paid in two equal installments of COP $ 38.5 per share, 
July 31 and September 30, 2017. 

The preferred dividends of $ 5,723 (COP $ 50 per share) were declared in March 2016, and 
were paid in four equal installments of COP $ 12.5 per preferred share. The installments 
were paid on April 1, July 1, October 7, and December 16, 2016, based on the retained 
earnings as of December 2015. 

During 2017, dividends related to the minority participation of Lifemiles Ltd were declared 
and paid in the amount of $ 127,001. According to the availability of cash and based on the 
liquidity and dividend distribution policy, a total of $ 39,750 was paid during the months of 
March, May, August and October of 2017 and on August 22, 2017 extraordinary dividends 
were paid for an amount of $ 87,251. Additionally, it was declared and paid to the minority 
stake of Aerotaxis La Costeña S.A $ 3,000 in the month of December. 

During 2016, dividends related to the minority interest of Lifemiles Ltd were declared and 
paid in the amount of $ 26,100. These dividends were distributed as follows: $ 6,600 based 
on 2015 earnings and $ 19,500 of anticipated dividends related to the current period. 
Additionally, as of December 16, 2015 dividends were paid corresponding to the minority 
interest of LifeMiles Ltd for an amount of $ 3,750. 
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(25) Operating revenue 
The Company had no major customers which represented more than 10% of revenues in 
2017 and 2016. The Company tracks its segmented gross revenue information by type of 
service rendered and by region, as follows: 

By type of service rendered 

  
Year ended 

December 31, 
2017  Percentage  

Year ended 
December 31,  

2016  Percentage  

Year on 
Year 

Variation 
Domestic           
Passenger  $      1,873,790  42%  $      1,752,001  42%  $121,789    
Cargo and mail  279,666  6%  264,432  6%  15,234 
  2,153,456  48%  2,016,433  48%  137,023 
International           
Passenger  1,676,370  38%  1,533,216  37%  143,154 
Cargo and mail  271,305  6%  291,442  7%  (20,137) 
  1,947,675   44%  1,824,658  44%  123,017 
           

Other (1)  340,553  8%  297,247  8%  43,306 
Total operating 
revenues 

 

$       4,441,684  100%  $      4,138,338  100%  $       303,346 
 
 

  
Year ended 

December 31, 
2016  Percentage  

Year ended 
December 31,  

2015  Percentage  

Year on 
Year 

Variation 
Domestic           
Passenger  $      1,752,001  42%  $    1,363,285  31%  $   388,716 
Cargo and mail  264,432  6%  234,362  5%  30,070 
  2,016,433  48%  1,597,647  36%  418,786 
International           
Passenger  1,533,216  37%  2,094,732  48%  (561,516) 
Cargo and mail  291,442  7%  390,163  9%  (98,721) 
  1,824,658  44%  2,484,895  57%  (660,237) 
           

Other (1)  297,247  8%  278,799  7%  18,448 
Total operating 
revenues 

 

$      4,138,338  100%  $ 4,361,341  100%  $  (223,003)  
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(1) Other operating revenue 
Other operating revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is as follows: 

  December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

 December 31, 
2016  

        Frequent flyer program  $                 178,841  $            154,245  $                 139,524  
Ground operations (a)  20,172  21,053  19,545  
Leases  22,232  28,295  30,144  
Maintenance  11,639  7,696  8,963  
Interline  1,900  3,859  1,831  
Other (b)  105,769  82,099  78,792  
  $                 340,553  $            297,247  $                 278,799  

(a) Company provides services to other airlines at main hub airports. 

(b) Corresponds mainly to income from penalties, access to VIP rooms and additional 
services. 

(26) Derivatives recognized as hedging instruments 
Financial instruments recognized as hedging instruments at fair value though other 
comprehensive income as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are the following: 

 
Notes 

December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

Cash flow hedges – Assets      
Fuel price hedges  $            20,549  $    25,540 
Interest rate  2,990  797 
Total 12 $            23,539  $    26,337 

Cash flow hedges – Liabilities     
Interest Rate 22 $                   —  $     20 
Total  $                   —  $ 20 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income reflect the 
change in fair value of fuel price derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedges. Hedged 
items are designated future purchases deemed as highly probable forecast transactions. 

Cash flow hedges liabilities are recognized within Other Liabilities in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position. 

The Company purchases jet fuel on an ongoing basis as its operating activities require a 
continuous supply of this commodity. The increased volatility in jet fuel prices has led the 
Company to the decision to enter into commodity contracts. These contracts are expected to 
reduce the volatility attributable to fluctuations in jet fuel prices for highly probable forecast 
jet fuel purchases, in accordance with the risk management strategy outlined by the Board of 
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Directors. The contracts are intended to hedge the volatility of the jet fuel prices for a period 
between three and twelve months based on existing purchase agreements. 

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with cash flow 
hedges are expected to occur, and the fair values of the related hedging instruments. 

 Fair Value  1–12 months 12–24 months 
Fuel price     
Assets $     20,549  $      20,549 $                 — 
Interest rate     
Assets $ 2,990  $    — $  2,990 

 

 
The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with the cash 
flow hedges are expected to be presented, and the fair value of the hedging instruments 
related to December 31, 2016: 

  
Fair Value 

 1-12 
months 

Fuel price     
Assets  $    25.540  $     25.540 
Interest rate     
Assets  $         797  $          797 
Liabilities  $           20  $            20 
     

The terms of the cash flos hedging contracts have been negotiated for the expected highly 
probable forecast transactions to which hedge accounting has been applied. As of December 
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, a net gain relating to the hedging instruments of $6,385, $21,712 
and $77,308 respectively is included in other comprehensive income (see Note 24). 

(27) Derivative financial instruments 
Derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss as of December 31, 2017 
and 2016 are the following: 

 
Notes 

 December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

      
Derivatives not designated as hedges – Liabilities      

Derivative contracts of interest rate 22  $                 137              $             
Total   $                 137              $             
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Financial instruments through profit or loss are derivative contracts not designated as hedges 
for accounting purposes that are intended to reduce the levels of risk of foreign currency and 
interest rates. 

Liabilities on derivatives not designated as hedges are recognized within Other Liabilities in 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  
Foreign currency risk 
Certain foreign currency forward contracts are measured at fair value through profit or loss 
and are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. The foreign currency 
forward contract balances vary with the level of expected foreign currency sales and 
purchases and changes in foreign currency forward rates. 

Interest rate risk 
The Company incurs interest rate risk primarily on financial obligations to banks and aircraft 
lessors. Certain financial derivative instruments are recognized at fair value through profit or 
loss and are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. The interest rate 
contracts vary according to the level of expected interest payable and changes in interest rates 
of financial obligations. Interest rate risk is managed through a mix of fixed and floating rates 
on loans and lease agreements, combined with interest rate swaps and options. Under these 
agreements, the Company pays a fixed rate and receives a variable rate. 

(28) Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
The Company has derivative instruments that could meet the offsetting criteria in paragraph 
42 of IAS 32 given that the Company has signed with its counterparties enforceable master 
netting arrangements. Consequently, when derivatives signed with the same counterparty 
and for the same type of notional result in gross assets and liabilities, the positions are set off 
resulting in the presentation of a net derivative. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
Company has not set off derivative instruments because it has not had gross assets and 
liabilities with the same counterparty for the same type of notional. 

(29) Fair value measurements 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2017 are as follows: 

  December 31, 2017 

 Notes 
Carrying 
amount 

 
Fair value 

Financial assets     
Available–for–sale securities  6 $                   55  $                   55 
Derivative instruments 26, 27 23,539  23,539 
 
  $            23,594  $           23,594 
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Financial liabilities     
Short term borrowings and long–term debt 16 $      3,752,113  $      3,587,841 
Derivative instruments 22 137  137 
  $      3,752,250   $      3,587,978 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2016 are as follows: 

  December 31, 2016 

 Notes 
Carrying 
amount 

 
Fair value 

Financial assets     
Available–for–sale securities  6 $ 76  $ 76 
Derivative instruments 26, 27 26,337  26,337 
  $ 26,413  $ 26,413 
Financial liabilities     
Short term borrowings and long–term 
debt 16 $ 3,274,235  $ 3,241,240 

Derivative instruments 22 528  528 
  $ 3,274,763   $ 3,241,768 

 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities corresponds the amount at which the 
instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in 
a forced or liquidation sale. 

Management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, account receivable, account payable 
and other current liabilities approximate their carrying amount largely due to the short–term 
maturities of these instruments.  

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the 
following methods. 
(a) The fair value of available–for–sale financial assets is determined by reference to the 

present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at a market based 
interest rate at the reporting date. 

(b) The Company enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, 
principally financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. Derivatives valued 
using valuation techniques with market observable inputs are mainly interest rate 
contracts, foreign currency forward contracts and commodity contracts. The most 
frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using 
present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including the credit 
quality of counterparties, foreign currency spot and forward rates, interest rate curves and 
forward rate curves of the underlying commodity. 
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(c) The fair value of short–term borrowings and long–term debt, which is determined for 
disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at a market based interest rate at the reporting date. For 
finance leases, the market rate is determined by reference to similar lease agreements. 

(d) The Company uses the revaluation model to measure its land and buildings which are 
composed of administrative properties. Management determined that this constitutes one 
class of asset under IAS 16, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the property. 
The fair values of the properties were determined by using market comparable methods. 
This means that valuations performed by the appraisals are based on active market prices, 
adjusted for difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific property. The 
Company engaged accredited independent appraisals, to determine the fair value of its 
land and buildings. 

(e) The Frequent flyer liability is included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
within Air traffic liability. The Company estimates the fair value of miles awarded under 
the LifeMiles program by applying statistical techniques. Inputs to the models include 
making assumptions about expected redemption rates, the mix of products that will be 
available for redemption in the future and customer preferences. 

 
Fair values hierarchy 
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method. The 
different levels have been defined as follows: 

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; or 

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy 
by re–assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company’s assets 
and liabilities as of December 31, 2017: 
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Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets: 
  Fair value measurement using 

Assets measured at fair value  

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets 
(Level 1)  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)  Total 

Derivative financial assets 
(Note 26) 

 
       

Aircraft fuel hedges  —  20,549  —  20,549 
Interest rate derivatives  —  2,990  —  2,990 

Available–for–sale securities 
(Note 6) 

  
—  55  

 
—  55 

Revalued administrative 
property (Note 13) 

  
—  147,663  

 
—  147,663 

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities: 
  Fair value measurement using 

Liabilities measured at fair 
value  

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 
 (Level 1)  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
 (Level 2)  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
 (Level 3)  Total 

Derivative financial liabilities 
(Note 26) 

 
       

Foreing currency  
derivatives 

 
—  137  —  137 

Frequent flyer 
liability (Note 21) 

 
—  191,157  —  191,157 

Liabilities for which fair 
values are disclosed 

 
       

Short–term borrowings and 
long–term debt (Note 16) 

 
—  3,587,841  —  3,587,841 

 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company’s assets 
and liabilities as of December 31, 2016: 

 

 

 



106 107Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In USD thousands) 
  
  

105 
 

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets: 
  Fair value measurement using 

Assets measured at fair value  

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets 
(Level 1)  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)  Total 

Derivative financial assets 
(Note 26) 

 
       

Aircraft fuel hedges         
Interest rate derivatives  —  25,540  —  25,540 

Available–for–sale securities 
(Note 6) 

 
—  797  —  797 

Assets held for sale  —  76  —  76 
Revalued administrative 
property (Note 13) 

 
—  149,371  —  149,371 

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities: 
  Fair value measurement using 

Liabilities measured at fair 
value  

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

 (Level 1)  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
 (Level 2)  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
 (Level 3)  Total 

Derivative financial liabilities 
(Note 26) 

 
       

Interest rate derivatives  —  528  —  528 
Frequent flyer 
liability (Note 21) 

 
—  171,848  —  171,848 

Liabilities for which fair 
values are disclosed 

 
       

Short–term borrowings and 
long–term debt (Note 16) 

 
—  3,241,240  —  3,241,240 

(30) Income tax expense 
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 
and 2015 are: 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
 December 31, 

2017 
 December 31, 

2016 
 December 31, 

2015 
Current income tax:      
Current income tax charge  $              32,934           $              28,114  $       19,491 
Adjustment in respect of current 
income tax of previous year 2,225  (666) 

 (2,211) 

Deferred tax expense:      
Relating to origination and reversal 
of temporary differences (15,050)  6,642 

 
13,748 

Income tax expense reported in 
the income statement $             20,109  $             34,090  $      31,028 

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income  

 December 31, 
2017 

 December 31, 
2016 

 December 31, 
2015 

      
Hedging reserves 3,558  (3,558)   $    (12,678) 
Fair value reserves —  —  (680) 
Reserves relating to actuarial gains 
and losses (15,018)  4,289 

 
3,410 

Income tax charged directly to 
other comprehensive income $               (11,460)  $         731 

 
$       (9,948) 

 

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by 
domestic tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is as follows: 

 December 31, 
2017 

 December 31, 
2016 

 December 31, 
2015 

Accounting profit (loss) after 
income tax    $   82,032    $ 44,186  

 
 $(139,506) 

Total income tax expense  20,109     34,090   31,028  
Profit (loss) before income 

tax    $ 102,141    $ 78,276  
 

 $(108,478) 
         

Income tax at Colombian 
statutory rate 40.00% 40,856  40.00% 31,311  39.00% 

 
(42,306) 

Tax credit (1) 0.00% —  (5.74%) (4,493)  2.60% (2,816) 
Productive fixed assets special 

deduction (16.35)% (16,702)  (22.10%) (17,299)   47.00% 
 

(51,003) 
Permanent differences (2) 53.08% 54,221  (346.48%) (271,209)   47.70% (51,769) 
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 December 31, 
2017 

 December 31, 
2016 

 December 31, 
2015 

Non–deductible taxes 4.55% 4,651  15.01% 11,749  (2.7%) 2,893 
Effect of tax exemptions and 

tax rates in foreign 
jurisdictions (148.50)% (151,676)  71.56% 56,014  (24.90%) 

 
 

27,030 
Non recognized deferred tax 

assets 7.04% 7,192  248.77% 194,732  (94.5%) 
 

102,553 
Exchange rate differences 77.04% 78,690  107.20% 83,916  37.30% (40,483) 
Other  0.35% 360  (13.10%) (10,254)  (0.80%) 878 
Changes in tax rates  2.46% 2.517  (51.58%) (40,377)  (79.30%) 86,051 

 19.69% $      20,109  43.55% $    34,090  28.60% $ 31,028 

(1) Airline companies in Colombia are entitled to a tax credit or discount for income tax 
purposes based on the proportion between the international flights income and total 
income of the Company during the year. The legislative purpose of this tax provision 
is to limit the Company’s exposure to double taxation on their worldwide income in 
Colombia, therefore limiting the tax expense to local Colombian source income. 

The tax reform contained in the Law 1819 of 2016 eliminates the tax credit for air or 
marine international transportation above noted, such tax credit will only be applicable 
until tax year 2016. 

(2) This item includes several permanent differences that are non-deductible expenses for 
the purposes of Corporate Income Tax in Colombia. Consequently, they are necessary 
for the reconciliation between nominal and effective tax rates. These other permanent 
differences include various items such as the consolidation of special purpose entities, 
and losses of property, plant and equipment. 

Below we show an analysis of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities: 
 

 Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position 

  

    Variation 
 
 

December 
31 de 2017, 

December 
31 de 2016, 

December 
31 de 2015, 

December 31 
de 2017, 

December 
31 de 2016, 

Assets (liabilities)      
Accounts payable $             —            $           446 $    4,470 $          (446)   $   (4,024) 
Inflation adjustments — — (23) — 23 
Deposits and other assets (24,379) (12,183) (157) (20,538) (12,026) 
Aircraft maintenance (43,973) (3,448) 787 (5,429) (4,235) 
Pension liabilities (525) 25,842 (19,541) (25,842) 45,383 
Provisions 103,830 66,947 48,561 14,000 18,386 
Loss carry forwards 8,670 16,641 31,035 23,649     (14,394) 
Non-monetary items (29,231) (92,832) (57,913)        24,882 (34,919) 
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 Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position 

  

    Variation 
 
 

December 
31 de 2017, 

December 
31 de 2016, 

December 
31 de 2015, 

December 31 
de 2017, 

December 
31 de 2016, 

Intangible assets (11,534) (12,031) (12,582) 497 551 
Other (2,703) (3,889) (2,265) 3,889 (1,624) 
Net deferred tax assets / 
(liabilities) $           155 $    (14,507) $     (7,628)  $        14,662 $    (6,879) 
      
Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:   
      
Deferred tax assets $     25,969        $       5,845 $      5,847   
Deferred tax liabilities (25,814) (20,352) (13,475)   
Deferred tax assets 
(liabilities) net 

 
$           155           

 
$    (14,507) 

 
$     (7,628)   

      
 

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets net December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

Opening balance as of January 1, $        (14,507)  $         (7,628) 
Tax income during the period recognized in profit or loss 15,050  (6,642) 
Tax income during the period recognized in other 
comprehensive income  (155)      731  

Exchange differences (233)  (968)  
Closing balance as of December 31 $               155   $       (14,507)  

Income Tax 
Tax Credits 
As of December 31 2017, the Company’s subsidiaries have tax loss carryforwards of 
approximately US$552 million and excess of presumptive income tax of approximately 
US$12 million, which are available to offset in future taxable income in the relevant 
jurisdictions, if any, where appropriate. 

The Company has deferred tax asset corresponding to the aforementioned tax losses for 
US$208. However, according to the Company’s financial projections no tax income will be 
generated for the next 5 years to allow the compensation of the deferred tax assets. Therefore, 
said deferred tax assets has only been recognized by an amount up to the concurrence of 
deferred tax liabilities, according to IAS12 paragraph 35. 

Subsidiaries Investments 
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Because Avianca S.A. and Tampa Cargo S.A. are the dominant companies in their 
subsidiaries and are able to control the future moment in which the temporary difference 
related to their investments in such subsidiaries can be reversed. Consequently, due to this 
temporary difference, which amount to US$164 million, will not be reversed in a foreseeable 
future, the Companies have decided not to recognize deferred tax related with such 
investments according to the exception to IAS12 paragraphs 39 and 44.  

Tax Reform – Law 1819, 2016 
Modifies the Tax Law to reconcile the income, tax treatments, tax costs and deductions with 
the application of Regulatory Frameworks. 

• Eliminates the Income Tax for Equity (CREE), and stablishes a general tax rate for 
income and complementary tax of 34% for tax year 2017 and 33% for 2018 and 
beyond. 

• Stablishes an income and complementary tax surcharge for tax bases over US$260 
approximately, of 6% for 2017 and 4% for 2018. 

• The tax losses incurred before 2017 on income and complementary tax and/or income 
tax on equity, will be limited to the result of applying the formula mentioned in Article 
290, subsection 5 of the Tax Law. 

• The applicable rate to determine presumptive income increases from 3% to 3.5%, 
according to the Company's net worth as of December 31 of the previous year. 

(31) Provisions for legal claims 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company is involved in different lawsuits and legal 
actions that arise in the development of commercial activities. 

The changes in provisions for litigation as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 

 

 December 31, 
2017  

December 31, 
2016 

Balances at the beginning of the period $           18,516  $         13,386 
Provisions constituted 14,490  11,116 
Provisions used (21,287)      (5,985)  

Balances at the end of the period $          11,720   $        18,516  

 

Certain processes are considered possible obligations. Based on the plaintiffs' claims as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, these contingencies total $ 156,423 and $ 95,363, respectively. 
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Certain losses that may arise from such litigation will be covered by the insurance companies 
or with funds provided by third parties. Judicial proceedings not resolved with the 
aforementioned forms of payment are estimated at $ 99,833 as of December 31, 2017 and $ 
63,972 as of December 31, 2016. 

In accordance with IAS 37, the processes that the Company considers to represent a remote 
risk are not contemplated in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(32) Future aircraft leases payments 
 

The Company has 122 aircraft that are under financial leasing. The following is the summary 
of future financial lease commitments: 

  Aircraft 
       
Less than one year  $ 368,820        
Between one and five years  1,035,213 
More than five years  884,572 

  $ 2,288,605     

Of the 55 aircraft under operating lease, one Boeing 767 and two A-330 aircraft are under 
Wet Lease. The Company has 52 aircraft that are under operating leases with an average 
lease term of 44 months. Operating leases can be renewed, in accordance with the 
Administration's business plan. The following is the summary of the future commitments of 
operating leases: 

  Aircraft 
       
Less than one year  $ 242,675        
Between one and five years  599,191 
More than five years  159,833 

  $ 1,001,699     

The Company has eight engines under an operating lease contract for its aircraft fleet of the 
E190 and A320 families. The following is the summary of the future commitments of 
operating leases: 

  Engines 
   
Less than one year  $   5,636 
Between one and five years  12,962 
More than five years  2,380 
  $ 20,978  
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As of December 31, 2017, the Company had two Airbus A319, one Airbus A330F, under 
operating lease to OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, S.A. and two E-190 to Aerolitoral, S.A. de C.V. 
Future minimum income from these lease agreements is as follows: 

  Aircraft 
   
Less than one year  $   22,885        
Between one and five years  68,457 
More than five years  35,442 
  $ 126,784 

The amount of recognized payments has expenses during the period is as follows: 

  
December 

2017 
 December 

2016 
 December 

2015 
Leases minimun payments  $      278,772  $ 314,493  $ 317,505 

(33) Acquisition of aircraft 
In accordance with the agreements in effect, future commitments related to the acquisition of 
aircraft and engines are as follows: 

Airbus – The Company has 137 firm orders for the acquisition of A320 family aircraft with 
deliveries scheduled between 2019 and 2025. 

In December 2017, the Company signed two Aircraft Assignment Agreements, one assigning 
5 aircraft of the A-320 family to Muisca Aviation Limited and another assigning 4 aircraft of 
the A-320 family to Tejo Aviation Limited. 

Under the terms of these agreements to acquire Airbus aircraft, the Company must make 
pre-delivery payments to Airbus on predetermined dates. 

Boeing – The Company has 4 firm orders for the acquisition of B787 aircraft with deliveries 
scheduled between 2018 and 2019 as well as 9 purchase options.  

In September 2017, the Company signed an amendment to convert three 787-8 to 787-9 with 
scheduled deliveries in 2019. Additionally, in July 2017 the Company exercised the purchase 
option for a 787-8 with scheduled delivery in 2018. 
Other – The Company has 5 firm orders for the acquisition of spare engines with deliveries 
between 2018 and 2020. 

On November 2017, the Company also signed two  Aircraft Sale and Purchase Agreement 
between Transasia Airways Corporation y Avianca. Each agreement for  1 A330-300 that were 
delivered in January 2018. 

 

AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(In USD thousands) 
  
  

112 
 

The value of the final purchase orders is based on the aircraft price list (excluding discounts 
and contractual credits granted by the manufacturers) and including estimated incremental 
costs. As of December 31, 2017, commitments acquired with manufacturers for the purchase 
of aircraft and advance payments are summarized below.  

 Year one Year two Year three Year four  Thereafter Total 
       
Advance payments  $  108,957 $  209,243 $    236,708 $    205,594 $      591,293 $  1,351,795 
Aircraft acquisition 
commitments $  290,481 $  971,515 $ 2,123,151 $ 2,405,017 $ 8,981,499 $14,771,663 
       

(34) Subsequent events 
There is no knowledge of important subsequent events to be disclosed at the date of issuance 
of the report.  

 
**** 
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Confirmation that the 2017 Annual Report of AVIANCA HOLDINGS has been prepared in 
accordance with GRI Standards: Core option "in accordance". 
 
General aspects: 
It was confirmed that the report meets the requirements of the Essential option "in accordance" of the general 
aspects of the GRI Standards. 
 
Specific aspects: 
We reviewed the management approach, GRI disclosures and AVIANCA HOLDINGS internal indicators of the 
material issues below:  
 

Material Issue GRI Disclosures or AVIANCA HOLDINGS internal indicator*  

Safe and healthy 
environment for our  
employees 

403-2. Types of injury and rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and 
absenteeism, and number of work-related fatalities 

Compliance with laws and 
regulations  Own indicator. Environmental non-compliance  

Economic performance 201-1. Direct economic value generated and distributed 

Sustainable employment 405-2. Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to men 
401-1. New employee hires and employee turnover 

405-1. Diversity of governance bodies and employees 
407-1. Operations and suppliers in which the right to freedom of association and 
collective bargaining may be at risk 

Training and development 
of employees 

 Own indicator. Hours of Avianca Academy training programs  

404-3. Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career 
development reviews 

Corporate Citizenship Own indicator. Link to and participation in fundamental corporate government 
scenarios.  

Management of the  

existing fleet 

Own indicator. 15 minute delays in long and short reach flights  

Environmental management  302-1. Energy consumption within the organization 

302-3. Energy intensity 

303-1. Water withdrawal by source 

305-1. Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 

305-2. Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 

305-4. GHG emissions intensity 
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Memorandum of independent review on the 
2017 Annual Report of Avianca Holdings 
issued by the external assurer 
 

Scope of our work 

We have reviewed the adaptation of the contents of the 2017 Annual Report of 
AVIANCA HOLDINGS to the Consolidated set of GRI Sustainability Reporting 
Standards, hereinafter "GRI Standards". 
 

Verification process 
We conducted our work in accordance with ISAE 3000 - International Standard on 
Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standard Board 
(IAASB) of the International Federation of Accounts (IFAC), with the Standard 
AA1000 Stakeholder Engagement Standard AA1000SES (2015) and the 
International framework of the International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC). 

Our review work consisted in formulating questions to the management, as well 
as to the various areas of AVIANCA HOLDINGS who participated in the preparation 
of the 2017 Annual Report and the application of certain analytical procedures and 
review testing sample described below: 

 Interviews with AVIANCA HOLDINGS employees to know about the principles, 
management approaches and data consolidation systems applied to prepare 
the Report. 

 
 Analysis of how the content, structure and indicators were defined, based on 

the materiality exercise according to the GRI Standards. 
 

 Analysis of the processes to collect and validate the data presented in the 
report. 
 

 Checking, by sample testing and review of quantitative and qualitative 
evidence corresponding to the GRI contents and AVIANCA HOLDINGS internal 
indicators included in the 2017 Annual Report, and proper compilation from 
the data supplied by AVIANCA HOLDINGS’ the sources of information.  

 
 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 

Responsibilities of the 
Management of AVIANCA 
HOLDINGS and Deloitte 
 

 The preparation of the 2017 
Annual Report of Avianca 
Holdings and its content are 
the responsibility of the 
organization which is also 
responsible for defining, 
adapting and maintaining 
management systems and 
internal control which 
information is obtained. 

 
 Our responsibility is to issue an 

independent report based on 
our review procedures applied. 
 

 This Report has been prepared 
exclusively in the interest of 
the organization in accordance 
with the terms of our proposed 
services. We do not assume 
any liability to third parties 
other than the Management of 
the company. 

 

• We have performed our work 
in accordance with the 
Independence regulations 
required by the etic code of the 
International Federation of 
Accountants (IFAC). 

• The scope of a limited review 
is substantially less than an 
audit. Therefore, we do not 
provide an audit about the 
Annual Report. 

 

 

 

 

 

Deloitte & Touche Ltda.  
Jorge Enrique Múnera D. 
Partner 

Bogotá, April 2018 
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Deloitte is one of the largest companies of professional services in audit, tax, consulting and financial advisory 
and sustainability to public and private clients in multiple industries. With a globally connected network of 
member firms in more than 185 countries, Deloitte brings world-class capabilities and high quality service to 
its customers. Approximately 250,000 professionals are committed to becoming the standard of excellence. 

We confirm our independence from AVIANCA HOLDINGS. All our employees perform annual updates to the 
Ethics Policy which promptly declare that we have no conflicts of interest with AVIANCA HOLDINGS, its 
subsidiaries and its stakeholders. 

 

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL”), its network of 

member firms, and their related entities. DTTL and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL (also 

referred to as “Deloitte Global”) does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about for a more detailed description of 

DTTL and its member firms. 

This communication is for internal distribution and use only among personnel of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, its member firms, and 

their related entities (collectively, the “Deloitte network”). None of the Deloitte network shall be responsible for any loss whatsoever sustained 

by any person who relies on this communication. 

Deloitte provides audit, consulting, financial advisory, risk management, tax, legal, and related services to public and private organizations 

in various industries. Deloitte serves four out of five of the companies listed in the Fortune Global 500® ranking, through a global network 

of member firms in more than 150 countries, providing world-class capabilities and high-quality services to clients, providing the necessary 

knowledge so that they can face their most complex business challenges. To learn more about how the more than 244,000 professionals 

generate an impact that transcends, connect with us through Facebook, LinkedIn or Twitter. 

©2018 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 
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305-6. Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) 

305-7. Nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulfur oxides (SOX), and other significant air 
emissions 

306-2. Waste by type and disposal method 

Satisfaction and  
relationship with customers 

Own indicator. Complain rate  

Safety and protection on  
land and air 

Own indicator. Security risk cases and situations of identified danger  

 
Conclusion 
As a result of our review, we did not encounter any revelation that leads us to believe that the 2017 Annual 
Report of AVIANCA HOLDINGS contains significant errors or has not been prepared in accordance with the 
GRI Standards, Core option "in accordance". 

Recommendations according to GRI principles1 
Context of sustainability / Materiality 
General remarks 
The appropriation and integration of sustainability issues as a strategic part of the company's management. 
We also highlight these issues analysis in the international, national and local context in economic, social 
and environmental terms, which allows stakeholders to have a holistic view of the management and the 
reality of the company.  
 
Recommendations 
Continue strengthening this good practice by consolidating the indicators identified as part of the materiality 
update made during 2017. In this sense, it is suggested to establish short, medium and long term goals 
around its material matters management. This will allow to measure Avianca Holdings’ performance and 
progress with regards to sustainability management and thus make an annual balance on goals exceeded or 
not reached in order to define action plans that allow a continuous improvement of the processes. 
 
Collection process of management information 
General remarks 
For the great majority of the indicators, a robust information collection process was found, as well as the 
appropriation of those responsible for the information, which allows traceability of the different data and 
evidence delivered during the auditing process. For some indicators, the information consolidation sources 
come from several responsible, for which a difficulty is evidenced at the time of the information gathering 
and its aggregation. 
 
Recommendations 
For those indicators that have a process of gathering information that comes from various sources, it is 
suggested to strengthen the communication between the different teams, as well as the appropriation of the 
whole process, allowing those responsible for the management of economic, social indicators and 
environmental to empower, thus achieving a simpler collection and traceability. 
 
ANNEX 1 Declaration of Independence 
                                                
1 GRI principles of quality and content: Inclusion of stakeholders, context of sustainability, materiality, completeness, 
precision, balance, clarity, comparability, reliability, punctuality. 




